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Cover
Rationale
GEM OF A PROPERTY
The cover of I-Berhad’s Annual Report 2014 features a
striking eagle’s view of i-City, with its latest development,
The Jewel, standing out prominently. Taken as a whole,
the visual showcases the myriad of developments
undertaken by the Group to make i-City a vibrant,
dynamic and sought-after township. Moreover, the
curvature effect conveys the element of world-class and
the lush green facet on The Jewel mirrors I-Berhad’s
commitment towards sustainability and environment
conservation.
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3UR½OHRI
Directors

TAN SRI LIM KIM HONG
Executive Chairman

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, aged 64,
Malaysian, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999. He is currently the
Group Executive Chairman responsible
for setting the policies and direction of
the entire Group. He has vast
experience in business, marketing and
corporate matters as well as has a keen
sense of business acumen.
Tan Sri Lim was responsible for the
successful listing of Sumurwang Sdn
Bhd’s (“Sumurwang”) manufacturing
arm, Dreamland Holdings Berhad on
The Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange
(now known as Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad) in 1987 while he was
the Chief Executive Officer of
Dreamland Holdings Berhad.

In 1991, he diversified Dreamland
Holdings Berhad into the steel industry
and subsequently changed its name to
Kanzen Berhad (“Kanzen”). In late 1993,
he divested Sumurwang’s interest in
Kanzen to reorganise Sumurwang’s
corporate structure to focus on three
business
areas
–
property
development, manufacturing and
financial services. In 1999, Tan Sri Lim
acquired I-Berhad through Sumurwang
and steered the Group into property
development
and
ICT-solutions
businesses through “i-City”, an
ICT-based
integrated
township
development with MSC Malaysia
Cybercentre Status with a gross
development value of RM9.0 billion.
i-City has been endorsed as an
International Park by the Selangor State
Government and a unique Tourism
Destination by Tourism Malaysia.

DATO’ EU HONG CHEW
Deputy Chairman/Non-Executive
Director

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew, aged 62,
Malaysian, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999 and is currently the
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman of the
Company. Dato’ Eu was educated at the
Royal Military College and possesses a
first class honours degree in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of
Glasgow, United Kingdom. He holds a
Masters in Business Administration
from the University of Bradford, United
Kingdom.

Dato’ Eu has been associated with
Sumurwang and its Group of
companies (“Sumurwang Group”) as
its Chief Executive with many years of
experience including charting the path
for Sumurwang’s manufacturing arm,
firstly under Dreamland Holdings
Berhad and its subsequent venture into
the steel business and the acquisition of
I-Berhad. Prior to joining the
Sumurwang Group, he was with PA
Management
Consulting
as
a
Consultant for 10 years where he was
also appointed as the Director of
Studies for the Cranfield PA MBA
Programme in Malaysia.
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3UR½OHRI
Directors
cont’d

PUAN SRI TEY SIEW THUAN
Executive Director

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan, aged 61,
Malaysian, was appointed to the Board
on 15 July 1999 and to the position of
Chief Executive Officer on 27 February
2008. Subsequently, Puan Sri Tey
retired as the Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 10 February 2009 but
remained as Executive Director of the
Company.

Puan Sri Tey was formerly the
Executive Director of Kanzen and
whilst with Kanzen, she was
responsible for the Company’s
investments into China. These
investments cover the bedding, steel
and air-conditioner industries. She was
also responsible for the development
of Kanzen’s steel exports business.

Puan Sri Tey is currently in charge of
the Group’s property development
activities as well as its financial aspects.
Puan Sri Tey also sits on the Board of
several private companies.

OOI CHIN GUAN
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ooi Chin Guan, aged 48, Malaysian,
was appointed to the Board on 31 March
2015 and is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee as well as the Nominating
and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
He is a Chartered Accountant by
profession and member of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants. He holds an
honours degree in Accounting from
University of Malaya.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

Mr Ooi has over 22 years of experience
covering finance, audit, accounts,
taxation and other management
functions. He started as an Audit
Assistant in Deloitte Kassim Chan and
Co. in 1992 after his graduation and rose
to the position of Executive Director in
Freevox Communications Sdn Bhd in
2008. He had previously held the
position of Head of Finance and
Operations in AMC Allied Metalcraft Corp
Sdn Bhd in charge of both Malaysia and
Singapore operations and as General
Manager, Finance of Wawasan TKH
Holdings Berhad.
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3UR½OHRI
Directors
cont’d

ONG POH LING
Non-Executive Director
Madam Ong Poh Ling, aged 51,
Malaysian, was appointed to the
Board on 15 July 1999 and to her
current position on 31 March 2008.
She is currently a member of the
Audit,
Nominating
and
Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
Madam Ong is a graduate of
University of Wolverhampton,
United Kingdom with a law degree.
She joined Dreamland Holdings
Berhad in 1987 and later moved to
the Sumurwang Group as its Senior
Manager, Corporate Affairs.

She was responsible for setting-up and
heading their respective Corporate
Communications Departments. Under
the Group, she was responsible for
staging the RM10.0 million Sumurcity
Aerospace Adventure which was the
largest
aerospace
exhibition
undertaken by the Sumurwang Group
in 1995 and the conceptualization of
the “i” logo in 1999.

GOH YEANG KHENG
Independent Non-Executive Director
Madam Goh Yeang Kheng, aged 50,
Malaysian, was appointed to the Board
on 1 July 2013 and is currently a
member of the Audit, Nominating and
Remuneration Committees of the
Company.

Madam Goh is a member of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators
(ICSA),
United
Kingdom. She has more than 20 years
of experience in finance and
operations in the retail industry.

NONE OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY HAS:t

"OZGBNJMZSFMBUJPOTIJQTXJUIPUIFS%JSFDUPSTPSTVCTUBOUJBMTIBSFIPMEFSTPGUIF$PNQBOZTBWFGPS5BO4SJ-JN,JN)POHXIPJTUIFTQPVTFPG
1VBO4SJ5FZ4JFX5IVBO5BO4SJ-JNJTUIF&YFDVUJWF$IBJSNBOBOENBKPSTIBSFIPMEFSPGUIF$PNQBOZ

t

"OZDPOøJDUPGJOUFSFTUXJUIUIF$PNQBOZ

t

"OZDPOWJDUJPOGPSPòFODFTXJUIJOUIFQBTUZFBSTPUIFSUIBOUSBóDPòFODFT JGBOZ
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TAN SRI LIM KIM HONG
Executive Chairman

Letter to
Shareholders

In 2014, we reached a major turning
point

when

the

Property

Development segment became the
biggest contributor to the Group.
For

the

next

step

in

the

development of I-Berhad, we are
aiming to be a billion ringgit Group
both

in

terms

of

market

capitalization as well as net assets.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)
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cont’d

i-Residence, homes at
the highest point.
Handover in May 2015

In 2014, we continued with the various business
strategies and action plans that have been put
in place over the past few years to maintain
growth on its route to become a billion dollar
full-fledged property based Group.
The Group’s business direction is to be both
a Property Developer as well as a Property
Investor while also being in those segments of
the Leisure industry where property linkages
provide a competitive advantage.
Our goal is that although Property Development
would be the main contributor, the Group would
also build up its recurring income businesses Leisure and Property Investments - so that when
i-City is fully developed, the Group will have a
strong recurring income base.
Thus in 2014, we continue to enhance our
Property Development pipeline firstly with
the acquisition of the 1.05 acres land in the
vicinity of the Kuala Lumpur City Centre for the
development of a luxurious apartments’ project
with a GDV of RM820 million. At the same time,
the development concept of i-City has also been
re-designed so that i-City GDV is boosted to RM9
billion.
As for the Property Investment segment, 2014
marked the completion of the 214 rooms 3 star
Best Western i-City Hotel. We have also entered
into an agreement with Hilton Worldwide
Manage Limited to operate the second hotel in
i-City, the 300 rooms 4 star Doubletree by Hilton
i-City that is targeted to be opened in 2019.

As for the Leisure segment, the Group continued
with its investments in new rides and attractions
for the Leisure Park@i-City. The new attractions
that were opened in the financial year included
the out-door based Itsy-Bitsy attraction targeted
at the younger children and a number of indoor
attractions such as Typhoon, Submarine, Jungle
Adventure and Fun Drive.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014
(“FY 2014”), the Group recorded revenue of
RM261.1 million (2013: RM152.1 million) and
profit before tax of RM69.4 million (2013: RM53.0
million) representing an increase of 71.7% and
30.9% respectively as compared to the previous
financial year ended 31 December 2013.
Excluding the gain from revaluation of
investment properties, the profit before tax
for FY 2014 was RM68.0 million (2013: RM40.0
million) representing a growth of 70.01%.
The significant increase in profit is principally
due to the growth in the Property Development
segment which contributed RM58.7 million
(2013: RM30.1 million) to the Group’s pre-tax
profit of FY 2014. This growth more than offset
the decline in the pre-tax profit for the Leisure
and Investment Property segments which
declined to RM12.9 million (2013: RM14.8
million) and RM1.4 million (2013: RM9.0 million)
respectively for FY 2014.
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cont’d

Best Western i-City
opened for business
in January 2015

In view of the remarkable performance and
in line with the Group’s dividend policy,
the Board of Directors has recommended,
pending shareholders’ approval, a final single
tier dividend totaling RM16.0 million which
represents 30% of the Group’s post tax profits in
respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2014. In respect of the forthcoming financial
year ending 2015, a higher dividend payment
can be expected.

t

(Source: Ho Chin Soon and Henry Butcher Star
Property Roundtable 2014)

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
The Group operates within the Property and
Tourism industry. At the same time, the demand
for office space in i-City is driven by i-City status
as a MSC Malaysia Cybercentre and thus affected
by the developments in the Knowledge-based
industry.

PROPERTY
In 2013/2014, the Government instituted
some pre-emptive measures to cool down the
property market to prevent it from overheating
and this will pose some challenges to the
industry. The impact of the challenges will be felt
throughout the industry but intensity will vary
according to the property type and location,
especially the latter.
In the Klang Valley the hiccup will be temporary
due to the following:

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

5IFSF JT HSPXJOH QPUFOUJBM GPS QSPQFSUZ
development in the western portion of
the Klang Valley caused partly by the
depletion of land for development in the
existing urban centres of Kuala Lumpur
and Petaling Jaya and partly by the
development of public infrastructure such
as the various road and rail links including
the proposed LRT 3 line connecting
Bandar Utama to Klang.

t

5IF EFWFMPQNFOU PG (SFBUFS ,-,MBOH
Valley into one of the top-20 most
livable metropolis globally is one of the
National Key Economic Area (NKEA) under
the country Economic Transformation
Programme. The various Entry Point
Projects under this NKEA such as attracting
100 of the world’s most dynamic firms and
talent and the development of efficient
solid waste management system would
directly impact on the property sector.
(Source: Pemandu website)

The impact of the cooling measures on the
Group is envisaged to be minimal as the
development concept adopted by the Group
are in many instances the first and pioneering
in nature, like the first to gain MSC Malaysia
(Multimedia Super Corridor status) in Shah Alam.

9

/HWWHUWR
6KDUHKROGHUV

cont’d

Dancing Waters, a new
attraction at the Leisure
Park @i-City

TOURISM

KNOWLEDGE BASED

The Malaysian Tourism industry over the past
5 years has been characterized not only by the
growth in tourist arrivals but also in the increase
in the number of theme parks.

The Multimedia Development Corporation
(MDeC) is the agency responsible for leading
Malaysia towards a K-economy. Specifically
MDeC is responsible for the implementation of
MSC Malaysia involving the development of MSC
Malaysia status companies and MSC Cybercity/
Cybercentres.

t

0WFS UIF QFSJPE GSPN  UP   UIF
number of tourist arrivals to Malaysia
increased by a compound average of
1.5% per annum with value of receipts
increasing by a compound average of 5%
per annum. The growth has continued in
2014 as the tourist arrivals from January
to October for 2014 were 9.6% higher
compared to that for the same period
in 2013. To boost the number of foreign
tourist to the country to 29.4 million in
2015, RM316 million has been allocated
under the 2015 Government Budget for
various programmes under the Ministry of
Tourism and Culture.
(Source: Tourism Malaysia website)

t

"QBSU GSPN -FJTVSF 1BSL!J$JUZ  B OVNCFS
of new theme parks such as Legoland
and Kidzania have opened over the past
few years. There are also new theme
parks under development including the
20th Century Fox Theme Park in Genting
Highlands. Collectively all these theme
parks as well as the growing number of
shopping malls will provide critical mass
for Malaysia as a leisure destination.

The developments in the Tourism Industry will
have positive impact on the Group.

t

MSC Malaysia status is recognition by the
Malaysian government for businesses that
develop or use multimedia technologies
to produce and enhance their products
and services. Since the opening of i-City as
a MSC Malaysia Cybercentre, the number
of MSC status companies in Malaysia has
increased from 2,236 in 2008 to 3,403 in
2013.
(Source: MSC Malaysia Annual Report 2013)

t

5IF .4$ .BMBZTJB TUBUVT DPNQBOJFT
are required to locate their company
headquarter and/or principal work
activities in a MSC Malaysia Cybercity/
Cybercentre. The number of MSC Malaysia
Cybercities/Cybercentres in the Klang
Valley has grown from 8 in 2008 to 31
at the end of 2014. Last year itself the
number of MSC Malaysia Cybercentres has
increased by 8. Currently there are two MSC
Malaysia Centres in Shah Alam - i-City with
its 72 acres and Linde ROC with its 0.7 acre.

These MSC programmes will continue to provide
the Group with a product differentiation for its
office development in i-City.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014
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CentralPlaza Mall
adjoining Central Tower,
Central Offices, Hilton
Hotel and Performing Arts
& Convention Centre

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

t

In December 2014, the Company completed
its corporate rationalization exercise involving
shares split, rights issues with warrants, bonus
issues, irredeemable convertible unsecured
loan stocks (“ICULS”), redeemable convertible
unsecured loan stocks (“RCULS”) as well as a
long term incentive plan (“LTIP”). There was also
an offer for sale of half the ICULS to the minority
shareholders. The rights was oversubscribed
by 8.0% and the ICULS by 12.8%. As at 16 April
2015, almost RM481 million of the ICULS have
been converted to I-Berhad shares.

4FDPOEMZ  TPNF PG UIF JOGSBTUSVDUVSF BOE
transport projects announced under
the 2015 Budget such as the RM9 billion
LRT3 project linking Bandar Utama to
Shah Alam and Klang, the West Coast
Expressway and the discounted fare
for the KL Klang Intercity bus will have
positive impact on the demand for
properties in the western part of the Klang
Valley. At the same time, we are confident
that Leisure Park@i-City and shopping mall
will also benefit from these projects.

t

J$JUZ IBT CFFO QPTJUJPOFE BT B QMBDF GPS
the young and the investment location for
the multinationals. Some of the Budget
initiatives such as the establishment
of Principal Hubs for multinational
companies’ global operations and the
Youth Housing Scheme dovetail into
i-City’s development goals.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
Although there are two major challenges in
2015 resulting from the implementation of the
GST and the fall in the oil price, the Malaysian
Government’s budget for 2015 augers well for
the Group.
t

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

5IFEFWFMPQNFOUPGJ$JUZBT.4$.BMBZTJB
Cybercentre and Tourism Destination is
in line with the country’ move towards
a services-based and knowledgebased economy and we expect i-City to
benefit from the various Government
programmes to boost tourism and spur
the creative industries.

The Group has reached a stage where Property
Development will continue to be the major
contributor to the Group. The Property
Development division kicks off the year with
RM546.3 million of unbilled sales as at the end
of 2014 compared to RM385.6 million at the
beginning of 2014. In 2015, the Group expects
to launch the RM1.2 billion GDV Central Towers
development comprising an office tower, two
residential towers, the Doubletree by Hilton
Hotel, a serviced apartment, a convention centre
and a performing arts centre.
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cont’d

A world class theme
park inside the dome in
the making. Cultivate
connection, Encourage
activities, Promote
tourism.

The hotel, convention centre, performing arts
centre as well as the 3,000 associated car parks
in the Central Towers development will add to
the Group’s Property Investment portfolio.

With all these initiatives and programme, we
are confident that the Group will continue on
its growth trajectory and we expect the annual
turnover to reach a steady level of around RM500
million within the next two to three years.

As for Leisure Park@i-City, we have as at the
end of 2014 invested about RM68.8 million in
the various rides and attractions. We plan to
continue to upgrade as well as add new rides
and attractions in 2015.

APPRECIATION

Finally in terms of the public infrastructure
serving i-City, we see the following impact:
t

t

t

5IF J$JUZ *OUFSDIBOHF DPOOFDUJOH J$JUZ
and Section 7 of Shah Alam directly to the
Federal Highway will be completed and
opened to the public in 2015. This will
help to provide better traffic flow to i-City.
*O WJFX PG 4VSVIBOKBZB 1FOHBOHLVUBO
Awam Darat (SPAD) announcements on
the LRT3 and the Bus Rapid Transit (BRT),
we are looking to enhancing i-City into a
Transit Oriented Development.
+BCBUBO 1FOHBJSBO EBO 4BMJSBO 4FMBOHPS
is currently upgrading that portion of
Sungai Rasau flowing on the eastern and
southern boundary of i-City. We expect
that when this works is completed in 2015,
there would be a aesthetic riverfront view
for i-City.

On behalf of the Board, I wish to extend my
sincere thanks to our customers, business
associates and shareholders for their support
and confidence.
I also wish to thank the entire management
team and all employees for their efforts and
contribution.
On behalf of the Board, I wish to express my
appreciation to Mr Liang Yew Ming who left
the Board in March 2015 for his invaluable
contribution during his tenure with the Company
and also would like to take this opportunity to
welcome Mr Ooi Chin Guan to the Board.
Finally, I would like to record my gratitude to
my fellow colleagues on the Board for their
continuous contribution and support.
TAN SRI LIM KIM HONG
Executive Chairman
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Management
'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLV
The main drivers of the Group’s performance are the Property Development and Leisure operations which contributed 77.1%
and 18.3% respectively to the Group’s revenue in the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
The Group’s activities are currently centred on i-City, a 72-acre freehold Ultrapolis located along the Federal Highway with direct
flyover access. i-City is an international business hub by day and lifestyle haven by night, with commercial, residential, and
leisure components.
i-City is also an MSC Malaysia Cybercentre certified development, a world reference site for Cisco’s Smart+Connected
Community (CSCC) platform, a Ministry of Tourism and Culture endorsed Tourism Destination, and an International Park as
declared by the Selangor State Government.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
The Group currently has two major development projects
t
5IF3.CJMMJPO(%7J$JUZJO4IBI"MBN
t
5IF3.NJMMJPO(%7,JB1FOHJOUIF,VBMB-VNQVS$JUZ$FOUSF ,-$$ WJDJOJUZ

I-CITY
The 72 acres of land in i-City has been sub-divided into 7 parcels. i-City was initially a joint venture (Master JVA) between the
Company as developer and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd as landowner for the whole 72 acres. However, pursuant to the 2013/14
Corporate Exercise, two parcels of the land have been acquired by the Group while the mall parcel has been acquired by the
CPN I-Berhad JV resulting in the following land status:
Item

Land area
(acres)

Projects

Land status

Plot 1

11.1

CentralPlaza i-City shopping mall

Owned by CPN I-Berhad JV (a)

Plot 2

12.1

Home Office - i-SOHO/i-Suites/Liberty/
Parisien/Hyde

Owned by I-Berhad Group

Plot 3

7.5

Central Tower

Owned by I-Berhad Group

Plot 4

4.3

Vacant land (c)

Under Master JVA

Plot 5

21.5

Blocks A-F (c), JKL, The Jewel vacant land (d) Under Master JVA

Plot 6

2.4

i-Residence

Under Master JVA

Plot 7

0.2

Vacant land

Under Master JVA

Common areas

12.3

Persiaran Multimedia, Jalan Siber,
Retention Pond

Surrendered to authorities but managed by i-City (b)

Total

71.40

Notes
a)
b)
c)
d)

This parcel was sold to Central Plaza i-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd, a joint venture between Central Pattana Public Company Limited of Thailand
(with 60% ownership) and I-Berhad (with 40% ownership).
Under the Management Development Agreement entered into between I-City (Selangor) Sdn Bhd, Selangor State Government and Majlis
Bandaraya Shah Alam, i-City has a 21 years concession to manage these areas.
Fully sold.
The vacant land portion is currently used as part of Leisure Park operations.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)
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Management
'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLV
cont’d

i-City has an approved gross floor area (GFA) of 13 million sq ft. Part of the 13 million GFA is allocated to the development of
properties for sale while the balance would be developed under the Investment Property portfolio.
As at the end of 2014, only about 0.8 million sq ft of the approved GFA has been completed. Under construction is another 3.2
million sq ft (i-Residence and the Plot 2 Home Office developments) while another 3.2 million sq ft is at the Development Oder/
Building Plan stage (CentralPlaza i-City shopping mall and Central Tower project) leaving the balance of 5.8 million sq ft as a
strong development pipeline for the next 10 years.
The status of the development in i-City is summarized in the figure below:

i-Residence
Completed

CentralPlaza@i-City
Design Stage

ANNUAL REPORT 2014
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Management
'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLV
cont’d

Over the years, the Group has managed to enhance the development value of i-City by a combination of increases in the plot
ratio as well as new development concepts so that the GDV of i-City has grown from about RM2 billion when the project was
first mooted to RM9 billion today comprising the following properties:
Projects

Description

GDV (RM m)

Status end 2014 (%)
Sales

Construction

Plot 1
Shopping mall

1 m sq net leasable area CentralPlaza i-City mall

Plot 2
Home Office Suites

I-SOHO 956 units
I-Suites 825 units
Liberty 350 units
Parisien 350 units
Hyde 521 units
364 retail units

405
437
178
187
270
470

76%
37%
58%
2015 launch
2015 launch
2015 launch

Plot 3
Central Tower

204 Serviced suites
280k sq ft office
Tower 1 - 272 units
Tower 2 - 312 units
90k sq ft retail
Doubletree by Hilton Hotel
Convention Centre

100
230
250
260
140
200
40

2016 launch
Not started
2017 launch
Not started
Not started
2015 launch
2016 launch
Not started
Not started
2016 launch
Long term investment at
design development stage

Plot 4
Twins

Office cum residential towers with 0.9 m sq ft GFA

1,000

Concept stage

Block A-F
Block JKL
i-SOVO 220 units
Best Western Hotel
Data Centre
Office, residential, hotel, retail with 3.8 m sq ft GFA

115
75
65
50
30
3,900

100%
Completed
Inventory
Completed
100%
Completed
Long Term Investment
Long Term Investment
2017 launch
Design stage

Plot 5
MSC Offices

The Jewel
Plot 6
i-Residence

366 units

750 GDC

235

Total GDV

9,390

t GDV Sold todate

(1,015)

t GDV from Investment Property

(1,070)

Balance available for future sales/launches

7,305

Long term investment at
design development stage

100%

21%
11%
6%
0%
0%
10%

86%

Completed/under construction

The above pipeline shows that i-City has the potential to continue to deliver substantial contribution to the Property
Development segment for many years to come. To ensure that we have a steady pipeline of project launches in the coming
years, we are now working on the design of the Jewel as well as on the concept for the Plot 4 parcel in i-City.
At the same time, the Group is still exploring the prospects of further enhancing the gross development value of i-City as
follows:
t

t
t

5IF QMPU SBUJP PG UIF 1MPU  TIPQQJOH NBMM QBSDFM IBT OPU CFFO GVMMZ VUJMJ[FE BOE XF BSF FYQMPSJOH UIF QPTTJCJMJUZ PG
transferring the unutilized GFA to other parcels in i-City. With about 1 million sq ft of unutilized GFA, there is potential to
generate another RM1 billion of GDV.
8JUIUIFBOOPVODFNFOUTCZ41"%UIBUJ$JUZIBTCFFOJEFOUJöFEBTTUPQPWFSQPJOUTGPSUIF#35BOE-35 XFBSFMPPLJOH
at transforming i-City into a Transit Oriented Development (TOD).
8FIBWFZFUUPJODPSQPSBUFUIFSJWFSGSPOU$MBSLF2VBZDPODFQUJOUPUIFEFWFMPQNFOU
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'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLV
cont’d

In 2014, we sold about 750 units of properties in i-City. Our marketing and sales activities were focused on i-Suites and the
Liberty Tower.
t

t

-BVODIFEUPXBSETUIFFOEPG J4VJUFTJTUIFöSTUCSBOEFEIPUFMSFTJEFODFJO4IBI"MBN8JUIVOJUTSBOHJOHGSPN
sq ft to 826 sq ft, purchasers of these fully furnished units can avail themselves to hotel level of laundry, housekeeping
and dining services to be provided by Best Western@i-City Hotel.
-BVODIFEJOUIFMBTURVBSUFSPG FBDIVOJUPG-JCFSUZ5PXFSXIJDISBOHFEGSPNTRGUUPTRGUJTGVMMZGVSOJTIFE
and designed with a distinct modern New York lifestyle theme. Priced from RM360,000 and designed to appeal to the
young urban individuals and couples, Liberty Tower is poised to revolutionize living and shopping in the Capital City of
Selangor.

8 KIA PENG
Located at 8 Jalan Changkat Kia Peng, within walking distance to the KLCC Twin Towers, 8 Kia Peng is intended to build the
Company’s track record in the high end luxury residential development.
Construction works for 8 Kia Peng commenced in the last quarter of 2014 and is targeted to be fully completed by 2019.
8 Kia Peng is made up of 442 fully-furnished luxurious residential units with an average selling price of RM 2,200 per sq ft. Of its
442 units, 315 are serviced apartments while the remaining 127 units consist of small office home offices (SOHO). The serviced
apartments will range from 660 sq ft to 1,140 sq ft while the SOHO units will range from 660 sq ft to 940 sq ft.

LEISURE
Leisure Park i-City boasts 4 notable precincts – City of Digital Lights (with over 1.0 million LED lightscape and outdoor park
rides); SnoWalk (a 50,000 sq ft Arctic environment below 5 degrees Celsius); WaterWorld (featuring the 1st tornado ride in
Southeast Asia) and FunWorld (for family-oriented activities and games).
Our business plan is to invest a total of RM100 million in the various rides and attractions so as to provide a comprehensive
experience for the visitors. As at end 2014, we have invested RM68.8 million in the new rides and attractions with RM14.8 million
added in 2014.
The new rides and attractions that opened in 2014 included the Typhoon experience, Submarine ride, Under-The-Sea ride,
Jungle Adventure, Fun Drive and the Itsy-Bitsy outdoor children activity zone.
From the operations perspective, the financial year started off with having to overcome the challenges brought about by the
arson to the Red Carpet Interactive Wax Musuem. This attraction was effectively closed for about 2.5 months for repair and
refurbishment works. The impact of this incident was a substantial decline in the first quarter profit which cumulatively resulted
in a lower financial year segment profit of RM12.9 million as compared to RM14.8 million in 2013.
At the same time, the Leisure segment’s fourth quarter performance was also affected by the last minute postponement of
the year-end “Jom Heboh” programme in i-City in accordance with the Selangor State Government’s directive to cancel all
entertainment activities in order to empathize with the flood victims in the East Coast.
Thus overall the revenue for the Leisure segment grew by only 1.9% to RM47.8 million from RM46.9 million in 2013.
Notwithstanding this low growth, our success in diversifying our revenue base augurs well for the future.
t
t

*O UIFSFWFOVFGPSUIFUPVSBHFOUTBOEJOTUJUVUJPOBMTVCTFHNFOUBDDPVOUFEGPSBCPVUPGUIF-FJTVSFTFHNFOU
revenue up from almost zero in 2013.
*OUFSNTPGWJTJUPSTQSPöMF UIFNBKPSJUZPGWJTJUPSTBSFTUJMM.BMBZTJBOTBMUIPVHIXFIBWFNBOBHFEUPJODSFBTFUIFOVNCFS
of foreign visitors from almost negligible two years ago to slightly more than 5% in 2014.

The marginal revenue growth from 2013 to 2014 is reflected in almost the same number of ticket sales for both years with
corresponding negligible growth in the ticket sales per visitor.
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8 Kia Peng
- a landmark in KLCC
vicinity
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Management
'LVFXVVLRQDQG$QDO\VLV
cont’d

From 2011 to 2014, the Leisure segment revenue has grown at an average compounded rate of 45% per annum and we see the
1.9% growth in 2014 as a “force majeure” situation. We thus expect to resume the double digit growth in 2015. In this context:t
t
t

t
t

*O XFQMBOUPNBLFGVSUIFSJOSPBETJOUPUPVSBHFOUTBOEJOTUJUVUJPOBMTFHNFOUTXIJMFBUUIFTBNFUJNFHSPXJOHUIF
“walk-in” segment with new attractions and “combo pricing”.
"U UIF TBNF UJNF XF DPOUJOVF UP NBSLFU J$JUZ BT B MPDBUJPO GPS FWFOUT BOE GVODUJPOT LJDLJOH Pò  XJUI UIF 3BEJP
Station 988 Chinese New Year Count Down.
5IFPQFOJOHPGUIFVQHSBEFE5IFNF1BSL"XJUIUIFEJHJUBMMJHIUFEGPVOUBJO OFXSJEFTBOEMBOETDBQFJO'FCSVBSZ
would not only drive visitors to Leisure Park but also enhances the value of the i-Residence properties as they overlook
Theme Park A.
5IF DPNQMFUJPO PG UIF SPBE XPSLT BOE PUIFS NBTUFS JOGSBTUSVDUVSF XPSLT JO 2  XPVME QSPWJEF B CFUUFS FOUSZFYJU
experience for visitors as compared to that in 2014.
5IF PQFOJOH PG B QPSUJPO PG UIF   DBS QBSLT JO UIF 1MPU  )PNF 0óDF EFWFMPQNFOU XPVME IFMQ UP CPPTU UIF DBS
parking experience.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT
The contribution for this segment is currently mainly from the leasing and management of the 0.5 million sq ft of completed
properties in i-City. About half of these properties belong to Al Rajhi Banking and Investment Corporation (Malaysia) Bhd where
i-City has taken a master lease. As at the end of 2014, we have about 77.1% occupancy for these properties.
In the mid to longer term, the contribution from this segment would be from the investments in the 3 Hotels in i-City, the
CentralPlaza i-City Shopping Mall, the Data Centres and Car Parks.
t



t

t
t




5IFSFBSFUISFF)PUFMTXJUIBUPUBMPG SPPNTQMBOOFEGPSJ$JUZ
Ƈ
The 216 rooms 3 star Best Western i-City that is already in operations and we expect to see some contribution from
this property in 2015.
Ƈ
The 300 rooms 4 star Doubletree by Hilton i-City is under development and is targeted to open in 2019.
Ƈ
On the drawing board is a 5 star Hotel. We have yet to firm up on the hotel operator.
5IF$FOUSBM1MB[BJ$JUZ4IPQQJOH.BMMJTBUUIFEFTJHOEFWFMPQNFOUTUBHFBOEXFFYQFDUUPDPNNFODFGPVOEBUJPOXPSLT
towards the end of 2015 with the mall opening in the last quarter of 2017. Based on the current design and market
situation, we would expect the mall gross development cost to be around RM750 million when fully completed.
5IF   TR GU #MPDL . EBUB DFOUSF JT DVSSFOUMZ GVMMZ UFOBOUFE BOE UIF FYJTUJOH UFOBOUT BSF LFFO UP FYQBOE UIFJS
operations in i-City. A half acre site beside Block M is being reviewed for this expansion.
8FDVSSFOUMZIBWF DBSQBSLJOHCBZTBUUIF#MPDL+,-CBTFNFOUBTXFMMBTJOUIFNVMUJTUPSFZ$BS1BSLCMPDL
Ƈ
Under construction is another 6,500 car parking bays as part of the Plot 2 Home Office development. Construction
of the Plot 2 car parks is 15.8% completed as at the end of 2014 and we expect half of these to be available for use
by the end of 2015 with full completion by end 2016.
Ƈ
It is envisaged that the Central Tower development will add another 3,000 car parks to our Investment Property
portfolio.

Our business plan for the Investment Property segment is to be a property investor rather than be an operator in the various
businesses utilizing the properties. In this context:t
t
t
t

8FXPVMECFXPSLJOHXJUIJOUFSOBUJPOBMMZSFDPHOJ[FEIPUFMPQFSBUPSTUPNBOBHFUIF)PUFMTJOJ$JUZSBUIFSUIBOWFOUVSF
into hotel operations.
8FXPVMECFSFMZJOHPO$FOUSBM1BUUBOBUPCFUIFNBMMPQFSBUPS
0VS%BUB$FOUSFCVTJOFTTNPEFMJTUPMFBTFUIFQSPQFSUJFTUPSFOPXOFEEBUBDFOUSFPQFSBUPSTXIPXJMMJOWFTUJOUIFEBUB
centre facilities/equipment as well as manage the data centre business.
"MUIPVHIXFBSFDVSSFOUMZNBOBHJOHUIFDBSQBSLT UIFZGPSNQBSUPGUIF-FJTVSFTFHNFOUPQFSBUJPOT

Although we do not expect significant contribution from the Property Investment segment in the coming one or two years,
considerable management time and effort have been spent for this segment as it represents an important building block for the
future. It is envisaged that when the various investment properties come on stream over the next few years, it would represent
another transition point for the Group as the property business would then be driven by property development and property
ownership.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

18

Parisien

(Completion by 2018)
A piece of Paris on Malaysian shores for the young and
romantic urbanites. Parisien Tower offers both standard
and duplex units designed with a Paris-style interior. The
34-storey building will be one of three residential towers
inspired by the world-renowned cities of Paris, London
and New York.

Liberty

(Completion by 2018)
Liberty derives its name from an iconic structure in the
Land of the Free – the Statue of Liberty. The 46-storey
residential building will feature 350 stylishly furnished
apartments of 466 sq ft onwards that would make anyone
living in them feel like they were true-blue New Yorkers. Its
proximity to the CentralPlaza mall will also act as a suitable
substitute for Manhattan’s Fifth Avenue.

i-City, a trendy and upcoming development in the capital city of Selangor - Shah
Alam, is redefining what a metropolis should be. In fact, the Company is calling the
72-acre freehold project an ultrapolis. The idea of i-City was conceived to reflect
the nation's aspiration to be a developed and high-income economy by 2020, and it
is set to become the pulse of Selangor.
Currently, the DNA of i-City is its position as an MSC Malaysia Cybercentre
certified development and a world reference site for Cisco's Smart+Connected
Community (CSCC). It has also obtained an endorsement as a Tourism Destination
from the Ministry of Tourism & Culture Malaysia and is considered an International
Park by the Selangor State Government.
At the moment, i-City sees an average of 90,000 visitors a week. With all this in
place, i-City is set to become a MICE (meetings, incentives, conferences, and
exhibitions) hub for business and leisure travellers.
i-City is spearheaded by the Company founder Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, who has
a vision to turn it into an international business centre by day and a lifestyle
haven by night, using a three-pronged motto: "Live, Work and Play".
The aim is to build a self-sustaining ecosystem that would allow people to
reside, work and enjoy life in the ultrapolis by 2020. The development is
master-planned by award-winning architect Jon A Jerde to include a shopping
mall, MSC Cyberoffices, hotels, office towers, serviced apartments and data centres.
These projects will be developed in stages, according to the "3-3-2-2"
branding blueprint, and some of them have already got off the ground. The first
phase, with the i-SOVO, Best Western and i-Residence towers, has been
completed. The second phase will focus on three components – the i-SOHO,
i-Suites and Icona developments. The last phase will spotlight the CentralPlaza
Mall and the adjacent Central Tower parcels.

i-Suite

(Completion by 2017)
If you have always envisioned
yourself working out of an
office that has a built-in
five-star kitchen or an
expansive lounge area,
i-Suites is the place for you.
Fully furnished with sizes
from 566 sq ft onwards.

Central Tower

i-Soho/i-Retail

Hyde

(Completion by 2018)
Transporting its residents into a modern-day London,
the English-inspired residential building – named
after one of the largest parks in London – will also
have elements of royalty, living up to its moniker.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

(Completion by 2016)
i-Soho is deeply rooted in i-City’s
motto of “Live, Work and Play”,
offering an integrated space of sky,
water and plenty of lush greenery to
fit the theme. i-Soho comprises 10 to
43-storey high towers with units
that range from 464 sq ft in size and
boast additional furnishing.

(Completion by 2019)
For hardcore shoppers and busy urbanites,
Central Tower is the best bet. Its name tells you
exactly where it is located – at the centre and
close to CentralPlaza Mall. Central Tower at
i-City is within walking distance of the mall. The
tower will have a multitude of access points to
the mall. There will be two towers of residential
serviced suites as well as office spaces. The mall
can expect to have regular residential
customers as well as the hungry office crowd
during the lunch and dinner hours.

19
i-Residence

(Completed by 2015)
i-Residence comprises two
33-storey towers with 346 units
and 20 exclusive low-density
duplex villas. The villas have two
built-ups – 2,400 sq ft and 3,700
sq ft – while the condos are 750
sq ft onwards. Features include a
50m Olympic-size infinity pool.

The Jewel

(Completion by 2020)
i-City’s prized possession is aptly named. Spanning over
10 acres in an impressive architectural design, The Jewel
showcases multiple, multi-level buildings that are from
45-70 Storeys. Connected at the top by a skybridge it will
test even the bravest. The Jewel@i-City is said to be in a
class of its own.

MSC Cyber Oﬃces
/Data Centres

Best Western Hotel

(Completed in 2014)
This modern business hotel with 216 rooms
will be the first to open in i-City and will
feature 18 storeys of comfortable and
contemporary rooms for both business and
leisure travellers. It is expected to house
visitors to i-City’s theme park as well and fit
into the vision of turning i-City into a MICE hub
with three versatile function rooms, the latest
in technology for presentation and high-speed
wireless internet connectivity. Those who wish
to visit i-City as a short weekend getaway from
neighbouring towns will have no problem
finding parking bays because Best Western
boasts five levels of covered parking space.

i-Sovo

(Completed in 2010)
The Cyber Offices provides MSC companies a
conducive environment with integrated high-speed
broadband, dual power source and multi-telco
environment with fibre optic connectivity making
i-City an ideal address for the knowledge-based
community. i-City's Tier-4 Data Centre is currently
home to Maxis, Strateq etc.

(Completed in 2014)
i-Sovo (small office/versatile office) is an 18-storey tower that will
offer owners the flexibility to choose how their units will be
furnished. Business users can easily conduct their meetings there
while homeowners will be able to decide whether to set up a
separate work space or a spot to chill. The size of the standard
units ranges from 476 sq ft while that of the duplex units is from
731 sq ft. Thus, choosing a space to suit one’s needs will be
effortless. The tower is located next to Best Western i-City hotel.

DoubleTree by Hilton/Performing
Arts & Convention Centre

(Completion by 2018)
The world-famous hotel chain will be making an
appearance in i-City to complement the ultrapolis’s
development, theme park and other attractions.
The four-star hotel is expected to start accepting
visitors from 2018 to fill its 300 rooms.

Designed as a venue to host international events and functions, the
performing arts & convention centre is part of i-City tourism programme for
M.I.C.E., further strengthening the vision of i-City as a hub for business
events.

Central Oﬃces

(Completion by 2019)
Central Offices will take its position centre stage - between
CentralPlaza and The Jewel. The grade-A offices with MSC
Malaysia status, translates into seamless connectivity to become
a gateway to the rest of the world. If there is anywhere the world’s
best tech people will gather in i-City, it will be at Central Offices.

CentralPlaza Mall/Clarke Quay

Leisure Park@i-City

(Completed in 2009)
Leisure Park@i-City has been bringing joy and fun to families from all over
Malaysia and the world. There is something for everyone in this promised
land of fun. There is the City of Digital Lights, SnoWalk, WaterWorld and
FunWorld which houses Malaysia’s 1st homegrown interactive Wax Muzeum
for visitors to enjoy. Its proximity to the city also makes it accessible for
weekend family trips. If you are in the mood for snow one day and sun the
next, i-City’s Leisure Park is the place to go.

(Completion by 2017)
No Ultrapolis is complete without a driving pulse that attracts people. The CentralPlaza
super regional mall is a collaborative effort between i-Berhad and Central Pattana, the
largest developer and operator of retail malls in Thailand. CentralPlaza Mall will be very
exciting for Malaysians as well as regional shoppers who frequent
Bangkok's many shopping malls. CentralPlaza is expected to break
away from the typical retail experience. It is expected to become a 1.0
million sq ft paradise for shoppers.
Clarke Quay running in front of CentralPlaza Mall complements the
shopping haven providing a riverfront leisure destination with
cosmopolitan lifestyle outlets and riverfront recreational activities.
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FIVE-YEARS GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS (RM’000)

REVENUE (RM’000)
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX (RM’000)

2011 2012 2013 2014

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (RM’000)

80,000

800,000
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600,000

40,000
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0

0

2010
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2011 2012 2013 2014

Financial Year Ended

2011 2012 2013

2014

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

RM’000

RM’000

RM’000

RM’000

RM’000

Revenue

9,938

27,229

66,656

152,148

261,114

Profit Before Tax

3,830

1,812

18,237

52,983

69,443

Profit After Tax

3,464

1,060

16,659

43,969

53,438

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

2,515

1,338

16,818

43,968

53,411

Net Assets

218,275

213,306

262,319

324,985

1,115,400

Shareholders’ Equity

161,181

161,523

177,231

216,760

762,842

8,659

5,911

24,892

80,825

80,825

Earnings Per Share (Sen)*

0.52

0.28

3.50

9.15

8.78

Net Assets Per Share (Sen)*

0.34

0.34

0.37

0.45

1.04

Return on Equity (%)

1.56

0.83

9.49

20.28

7.00

31 December

EBITDA

Note:*

The preceding year’s earning per share and net assets per share have been restated to reflect the enlarged share capital pursuant to the share
split, rights and bonus issues.
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SEGMENTAL REVENUE

0.8%

0.8%

18.3%
30.8%
62.4%

3.8%

2014

2013
77.1%

6%

Property Development
Leisure
Property Investment
FY 2014 (RM261.1 Million)

Revenue (RM’000)

FY 2013 (RM152.1 Million)

Revenue (RM’000)
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The Board of Directors of the Company recognises the importance of adopting high standards of corporate governance as a
fundamental part of its responsibility, in protecting and enhancing shareholders’ value and financial performance of the Group.
The Board is pleased to report to the shareholders on the manner in which the Group has applied the principles, and the extent
of compliance with the best practices in corporate governance as prescribed in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance
2012 throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(i)

(ii)

Role and Responsibilities of the Board
(a)

An effective Board leads and controls the Group whereby all Directors participate fully in decision making
process on keys issues faced by the Group. The Executive Directors are responsible for implementing the
policies and decisions of the Board, overseeing the operations as well as coordinating the development and
implementation of business and corporate strategies while the Independent Non-Executive Directors play
a key role in providing unbiased and independent views, advice and contributing their knowledge and
experience towards the formulation of policies and in the decision making process.

(b)

The Board composition is listed in the Corporate Information section and the profiles of the members of
the Board are provided in the Profile of Directors section of this Annual Report. The Board’s composition
represents a mix of knowledge, skills and expertise from varied business backgrounds which are vital to the
effective stewardship of the Group. At the current stage of growth, the Group still requires the executive
inputs of the Chairman who is instrumental in driving the Group’s Leisure segment.

(c)

The Executive Chairman is responsible for implementing the Group’s policies, business plans and executive
decision making and leads the discussion at Board level. The Executive Chairman is assisted by the Executive
Director as well as the Senior Management of the Company.

(d)

The Board has adopted the Board Charter as well as the Code of Ethics and Conduct on 13 May 2013 which
are available for reference in the Group’s website at www.i-bhd.com. The Board Charter sets out the role,
functions, composition, operation and processes of the Board and is to ensure that all Board members acting
on behalf of the Company are aware of their duties and responsibilities as Board members, whilst the Code of
Ethics and Conduct is formulated to enhance the standard of corporate governance and corporate behavior
with the intention of establishing a standard of ethical behavior for Directors based on trustworthiness and
values that can be accepted or upheld by any one person and to uphold the spirit of social responsibility in
line with the legislation, regulations and guidelines for administrating the Company.

Board Balance
During the financial year, the Board had 6 members, comprising 2 Executive Directors and 4 Non-Executive Directors
out of which 2 are Independent Directors, thus fulfilling the one-third (1/3) independence requirement. At the end
of the financial year, the Board undertook an assessment of its Independent Directors. None of its Independent
Directors has exceeded a tenure of nine years. The Board will increase the size of its members on a gradual basis
based on the Group’s business needs from time to time.

(iii)

Board Committees
The Board is assisted by several Board Committees which operate within clearly defined terms of reference namely:









ͻ
ͻ
ͻ

Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Nominating Committee
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cont’d

A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS cont’d
(iv)

Board Meetings and Supply of Information to the Board
The Board met a total of 4 times during the year ended 31 December 2014. Details of attendance of each individual
Director in respect of the meetings held is disclosed under the “Statement accompanying notice of annual general
meeting” in this Annual Report. The Board will hold additional meetings as and when necessary to consider business
issues that require the urgent decision of the Board.
The Directors are required to disclose and update their directorships in other companies as and when necessary.
The Directors are also expected to comply with Paragraph 15.06 of the Main Market Listing Requirement (“MMLR”)
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) on the maximum number of five (5) directorships they can
hold in public listed companies to ensure that all Directors are able to commit sufficient time for the Company. For
the financial year under review, all Directors complied with the said requirement.
Board meetings are conducted with a structured pre-set Agenda. For all major financial, operational and
corporate matters which require the Board’s decision, all Directors are provided with sufficient and timely reports
and supporting documents which are circulated in advance of each meeting to ensure sufficient time is given to
understand the key issues and contents. Senior Management is invited to present and provide explanation on the
Board reports.
Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary
organises and attends all Board Meetings thus ensuring that Board meeting procedures are followed and that
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. All matters arising therefrom and conclusions of the Board
meetings are recorded in the minutes of Meetings by the Company Secretary which are thereafter confirmed and
signed as correct records of the proceedings thereat by the Chairman.
External independent professional advisers are also made available to render their independent views and advice to
the Board, whenever deemed necessary and in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

(v)

Appointment of Board Members
The Nominating Committee which was set-up on 13 May 2002 is entrusted with the task of reviewing and
recommending the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and the appropriate balance of Executive and NonExecutive Directors (including Independent Non-Executives).
The Board does not have a formal policy on gender diversity, however the Board supports the diversity in its Board
composition.
The Committee is responsible for:(a) Recommending to the Board, candidates for Directorships to be filled by the shareholders or the Board;
(b) Considering candidates for Directorships proposed by the Chief Executive Officer and/or by any other senior
executive or any Director or shareholder;
(c)
Recommending to the Board, Directors to seat on Board Committees;
(d) Assessing the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees (including size and composition) and
contributions of each individual Director; and
(e) Reviewing and recommending to the Board the required mix of skills, independence and experience, and
other qualities, including core competencies which Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board.
During the financial year, no Nominating Committee meeting was held as there were no new appointments to the
Board.
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A.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS cont’d
(vi)

Directors’ Training
The Directors will be regularly updated on the latest regulatory requirements as well as accounting standards to
enable them to keep abreast with new statutory and regulatory requirements. During the year, five of the Board
members namely, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew, Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan,
Madam Ong Poh Ling and Madam Goh Yeang Kheng attended a training programme in relation to “mediation as
an effective dispute resolution mechanism” and “the effects of bankruptcy” whilst Mr. Liang Yew Ming attended a
workshop entitled “Practical GST Implementation for Property Developers”. The Group had also organised an inhouse training on Goods and Services Tax (GST) which was attended by Y. Bhg Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan, Madam Ong
Poh Ling as well as Madam Goh Yeang Kheng.

(vii) Re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to
re-election by the shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting held following their appointments. The Articles
also provides that one-third (1/3) of the Directors shall retire from office at each Annual General Meeting provided
always that all the Directors including the Chairman shall retire from office at least once every three years but shall
be eligible for re-election.

B.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(i)

The level and make-up of Remuneration
The primary objective of the Remuneration Committee is to act as a Committee of the full Board to assist in
assessing the remuneration of the Executive Directors to reflect the responsibility and commitment of Board
membership so that the Company attracts and retains the Directors needed to run the Group successfully.
The component parts of their remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance in the case of Executive Directors. In the case of Non-Executive Directors, the level of remuneration
reflects the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the individual Non-Executive Director concerned.

(ii)

Procedure
The Remuneration Committee formed on 23 July 2001 is responsible for:(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)

Determining and developing the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors;
Recommending to the Board, the remuneration of the Executive Directors in all its forms, drawing from
outside advice where necessary;
Assisting the Board in ensuring that the remuneration of the Directors reflects the responsibility and
commitment of the Directors concerned; determining the policy for and scope of service agreements for the
Executive Directors, termination payments and compensation commitments; and
Recommending to the Board, the appointment of the services of such advisers or consultants as it deems
necessary to fulfill its responsibilities.

During the financial year, a Remuneration Committee meeting was held to discuss the increase in the remuneration
of Executive Directors.
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B.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION cont’d
(iii)

Disclosure
The details of the aggregate remuneration of Directors of the Company on Group basis for the financial year ended
31 December 2014 are as follows:-

Directors’ Remuneration

Salaries and other emoluments

Executive

NonExecutive

Total

RM

RM

RM

1,373,188

Fees
Allowances

70,000

-

1,373,188

698,500

768,500

-

The number of Directors whose remuneration falls within the following bands is as follows:Number of Directors
Range of Remuneration (RM)

C.

Executive

NonExecutive

Total

Below 50,000

-

1

1

150,001 - 200,000

-

1

1

200,001 - 250,000

-

1

1

250,001 - 300,000

-

1

1

650,001 - 750,000

1

-

1

750,001 - 800,000

1

-

1

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(i)

Company’s Annual Publication
The Company recognises the importance of communication with its shareholders through its distribution of the
Annual Report.

(ii)

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Announcements
The various announcements on the corporate developments made during the year coupled with the Group’s timely
release of financial results on a quarterly basis, as well as other periodic announcements, provide shareholders with
an overview of the Group’s performance and operations.

(iii)

Website of the Company
The Company has also established its website (www.i-bhd.com) in which shareholders can access for updated
information on the Group.
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C.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS cont’d
(iv)

The General Meetings
The Annual General Meeting remains the pivotal means of direct interaction between the Board of Directors and
shareholders of the Company.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s general meetings and to participate in its proceedings
through the ‘questions and answers’ session where shareholders are accorded both the opportunity and the time
to raise questions on the agenda items of the general meetings. The Directors and Senior Management present are
available to provide explanations to all shareholders’ queries. Shareholders who are unable to attend are allowed to
appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf. Poll voting would be implemented at general meetings for all
related party transactions.
Shareholders’ proposals and comments are reviewed and considered for implementation wherever possible.
Shareholders and the public can convey their concerns and queries to the Company’s Senior Independent Director,
Mr. Ooi Chin Guan or the Public Relations Department.

(v)

Investor Relations
In addition to the dialogue with invaluable shareholders of the Company, the Board values dialogue with investors.
The Company aims to communicate fully with fund managers, institutional investors and analysts upon request.
The Company’s Public Relations Department has been designated for investors’ relations and attending to
communication and meeting with investors and analysts. Information is also disseminated in strict adherence to the
disclosure requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. During the financial year, the Company held several
briefings to analysts.

D.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(i)

Financial Reporting and Disclosure
The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and meaningful assessment of the Company and Group’s financial
performance and prospects via the Company’s Annual Report and quarterly announcements of results and the
press releases.

(ii)

Internal Control
Information on the Group’s internal control is set out in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control
contained in this Annual Report.

(iii)

Relationship with External Auditors
The Board has established a formal and transparent relationship with the external Auditors. The external Auditors
attend the Audit Committee meetings where the Group’s annual financial statements are considered as well as
meetings to review and discuss the Group’s accounting policies, audit findings and improvements to be made on
existing internal control measures and accounting policies and procedures.
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D.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT cont’d
(iv)

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility for preparing the Annual Financial Statements for the Financial Year
Ended 31 December 2014
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements of the Group are drawn up in accordance
with applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2014 and of the
results and cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended on that date.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:-











ͻ
ͻ
ͻ
ͻ

adopted appropriate accounting policies and have applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
ensured adherence to all applicable approved accounting standards; and
used the going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements.

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Company and Group maintain accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Company and Group, and which enables them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act.
Furthermore, the Directors have the general responsibility of taking such steps necessary to safeguard the assets of
the Company and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 16 April 2015.
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During the financial year, the members of the Audit Committee of the Board consisted of:Chairman:

Mr. Liang Yew Ming
Independent Non-Executive Director

Members:

Madam Ong Poh Ling
Non-Executive Director
Madam Goh Yeang Kheng
Independent Non-Executive Director

COMPOSITION AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
(a)

The Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst the Directors of the Company and shall
comprise not less than three members, all of whom shall be Non-Executive Directors. The majority of the Committee
members shall be Independent Directors.

(b)

At least one of the member of the Committee:-




(i)

must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

(ii)

if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three (3) years’ working
experience and
t
IFNVTUIBWFQBTTFEUIFFYBNJOBUJPOTTQFDJöFEJO1BSUPGUIF'JSTU4DIFEVMFPGUIF"DDPVOUBOUT"DUPS
t
IFNVTUCFBNFNCFSPGPOFPGUIF"TTPDJBUJPOTPG"DDPVOUBOUTTQFDJöFEJO1BSU**PGUIF'JSTU4DIFEVMFPG
the Accountants Act 1967; or




(iii)

fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

(c)

The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from among their number who shall be an Independent Director.

(d)

The Board of Directors must review the term of office and performance of the Committee and each of its members at least
once every three years.

COMPOSITION COMPLIANCE
All members of Audit Committee are Non-Executive Directors, with majority of them being independent. No alternate Director
has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Liang Yew Ming who is a member of MIA and an Independent
Non-Executive Director chairs the Audit Committee.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
a.

To review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors of the Company:(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

with the external Auditor, the audit plan;
with the external Auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;
with the external Auditor, his audit report;
the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external Auditor;
the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit functions and that it has the
necessary authority to carry out its work;
(vi) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or investigation
undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;
(vii) any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
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DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES cont’d







(viii) the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board of Directors, focusing
particularly on:
ͻ
changes in accounting policies and practices;

ͻ
significant adjustments arising from the audit;

ͻ
significant and unusual events;

ͻ
the going concern assumption; and

ͻ
compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
(ix)

any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or Group
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity.

b.

To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matter the Auditor may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

c.

To consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response;

d.

To recommend and consider the nomination and appointment of a person or persons as external Auditors, the audit fees
and any question of resignation or dismissal; and

e.

To consider any other functions or duties as maybe agreed to by the Committee and the Board.

MEETING PROCEDURES
a.

Quorum
A quorum shall be two members, both being Independent Directors.

b.

Secretary
The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committee.

c.

Meetings
The General Manager of Finance and representatives of the external auditors (if required) shall normally attend meetings.
The senior management team may attend meetings upon the invitation of the Audit Committee to provide the
Committee with detailed explanations and clarification on matters that have been tabled.
Meetings shall be held not less than four times in a financial year. Additional meetings may be called at the discretion of
the Chairman of the Committee. The external Auditors may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary. The
minutes of the Audit Committee meetings and the Internal Audit Reports are formally tabled to the Board for noting and
also to provide the opportunity to other Non-Audit Committee members to seek clarification, raise queries or provide
their views on the matters discussed by the said Committee, where necessary. The Chairman of the Audit Committee
would report to the Directors at Board meetings, the Committee’s recommendations and actions taken on salient issues
which have been raised at the Audit Committee Meetings.
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ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Audit Committee held a total of four meetings and details of attendance
of each member at the said Committee meetings are as follows:Members of Audit Committee

Number of Meetings Attended

Madam Ong Poh Ling

4/4

Madam Goh Yeang Kheng

4/4

Mr. Liang Yew Ming
(resigned on 31.03.2015)

4/4

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR
t
t
t
t
t
t
t
t
t
t

t

t

%JTDVTTFEUIFFYUFSOBM"VEJUPSTBVEJUSFWJFXNFNPSBOEVNGPSUIFöOBODJBMZFBSFOEFE%FDFNCFS
%JTDVTTFE BOE SFDPNNFOEFE GPS #PBSE BQQSPWBMUIFBVEJUFEöOBODJBMTUBUFNFOUTUPHFUIFSXJUISFQPSUTUIFSFPOGPSUIF
financial year ended 31 December 2013.
"EPQUFEUIFWBMVBUJPOSFQPSUPOUIF(SPVQTJOWFTUNFOUQSPQFSUJFTBTBU%FDFNCFS
3FWJFXFEBOEBQQSPWFEUIFJOUFSOBMBVEJUQMBOGPSUIFZFBS
%JTDVTTFEUIFJOUFSOBMBVEJUSFQPSUPOUIFTQFDJBMSFWJFXPO*5TZTUFNT
%JTDVTTFE UIF FYUFSOBM "VEJUPST NBOBHFNFOU MFUUFS GPS UIF (SPVQ JO SFTQFDU PG UIF öOBODJBM ZFBS FOEFE  %FDFNCFS
2013.
%JTDVTTFEUIF*OUFSOBM"VEJUPST3FQPSUPODBSQBSLPQFSBUJPOT
%JTDVTTFEUIF*OUFSOBM"VEJUPST3FQPSUPOQSPHSFTTDMBJNTGPS J J4070BOE JJ J3FTJEFODF
3FWJFXFEUIFDBSQBSLPQFSBUJPOTGPMMPXVQSFQPSU
3FWJFXFEBOESFDPNNFOEFEGPS#PBSEBQQSPWBMUIFGPMMPXJOHSFQPSUTGPSJODMVTJPOJOUIF"OOVBM3FQPSU
(i)
statement on risk management and internal control together with the Auditors’ report on the Company’s internal
control statement.
(ii) audit committee report; and
(iii) corporate governance statement.
3FWJFXFEBOESFDPNNFOEFEGPS#PBSETBQQSPWBMJOSFMBUJPOUPUIFGPMMPXJOH1SPQPTBMT
(i)
Proposed Share Split;
(ii) Proposed Rights Issue with Warrants;
(iii) Proposed Bonus Issue;
(iv) Proposed Kia Peng Land Acquisition;
(v) Proposed SOHO Land Acquisition;
(vi) Proposed Tower Land Acquisition;
(vii) Proposed OFS;
(viii) Proposed Increase in Authorised Share Capital and Proposed Amendment;
(ix) Proposed LTIP;
(x) Proposed CPN Joint Venture, Proposed Mall Land Acquisition and Proposed Arrangement; and
(xi) Proposed Ratification.
(xii) Independent Advice Letters by RHB Investment Bank Berhad in relation to (a) The Proposed Acquisitions; (b) The
Proposed CPN Joint Venture, Proposed Mall Land Acquisition and Proposed Arrangement; and (c) The Proposed
Ratification.
3FWJFXFEBOESFDPNNFOEFEGPSTIBSFIPMEFSTBOE#PBSEBQQSPWBMPOUIFGPMMPXJOH
(i)
Proposed acquisition by Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd, a 40% owned associate of the Company, of a piece
of freehold land which forms part of the land held under Geran No. 311885, Lot 16965 (“Plot 1”) and part of Geran
No. 311886, Lot 16966 (“Plot 3”) of Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan
from The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd
(ii) (a) proposed ratification of the joint venture agreement dated 10 February 2009 between the Company and The
Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd (“JVA 2009”).
(b) proposed arrangement between the Company and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd in relation to the proposed
disposal by The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd the freehold land held under part of Geran No. 311885, Lot 16965 and
Geran No. 311886, Lot 16966 of Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul
Ehsan to Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR cont’d
t
t
t
t

%JTDVTTFE BOE BQQSPWFE UIF FYUFSOBM "VEJUPST BVEJU QMBOOJOH NFNPSBOEVN GPS UIF öOBODJBM ZFBS FOEJOH  %FDFNCFS
2014.
%JTDVTTFEBOEBQQSPWFEUIFBQQPJOUNFOUPGUIFOFX*OUFSOBM"VEJUPS
3FWJFXFEBOESFDPNNFOEFEGPS#PBSEBQQSPWBM UIF2VBSUFSMZ3FQPSUTQSFQBSFECZNBOBHFNFOUGPSTVCNJTTJPOUPUIF
relevant authorities.
%JTDVTTFE XJUI UIF FYUFSOBM "VEJUPST  UIF QSPCMFNT BOE SFTFSWBUJPOT BSJTJOH GSPN UIF BVEJU BOE BOZ PUIFS NBUUFST UIF
external Auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of management.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Group’s internal audit function is carried out by the Internal Audit Department which reports directly to the Audit
Committee on its activities and audit plans throughout the entire year. During the financial year, the Internal Audit Department
reviewed the Internal Auditor’s Reports on the special review on IT system, car park operations and the progress claim for (a)
i-SOVO and (b) i-Residence as well as reviewed the car park operations follow-up report. Its audit findings together with the
recommendation for improvement were tabled to the Audit Committee for deliberation.
The cost for the internal audit function incurred in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to
RM112,000.00.
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INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), the Board of
Directors is pleased to present its Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of I-Berhad Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board recognise the importance of the Group’s sound internal controls as well as risk management practices, and affirms
its overall responsibility of reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group. The Board has via the Audit Committee obtained the necessary assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems through ongoing and independent reviews carried out by the internal
audit function.
Due to inherent limitations in any system of internal control, such systems can only manage rather than eliminate all possible
risks resulting in Group’s inability to achieve its business objectives. Thus, the system can provide reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
The Board has established a risk management framework and communicated to the management on the risk appetite and
tolerance that the Group is willing to accept in pursuit of its objectives. Risk management in the Group involves an on-going
process for identifying, evaluating, managing and reviewing any changes in the significant risks faced by the business in the
Group in its achievement of objectives and strategies. Risks identified were assessed in terms of the possibility of occurrence
and the impact to the Group if the risk materialise. The Group’s key risk profile will be reviewed and updated, where necessary
by the Management.
The management of risks in the daily business operation is assigned to management team and significant risks are identified
and related mitigating responses as well as the corresponding internal controls are discussed at the audit committee and/or
board meetings.
The abovementioned practices serve as the ongoing process adopted by Management to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks faced by the Company in achieving the business objectives and strategies. The Group’s internal audit function
provides further independent assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system.
The Board is of the opinion that the risk management and internal control system of the Group is adequate and effective. The
Board endeavours to maintain a sound system of internal control and will periodically evaluate and take precautionary measures
to further improve and strengthen the control environment to ensure the achievement of the Group’s business objectives and it
has received assurance from the Executive Director on the material aspects for this purpose.

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The main features of the Group’s internal control system established are summarised as follows:t

Organisation Structure
The Group maintains a defined organisation structure with clear lines of reporting to the operating unit heads and Board,
including defined lines of accountability. Key responsibilities are properly segregated in order that no employee has total
control of a transaction.
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SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL cont’d
t

Authorisation Procedures
The Group maintains a defined authority chart with clear authority limits and approval procedures.

t

4UBOEBSE0QFSBUJOH1SPDFEVSFT
Documented standard operating policies and procedures are reviewed and updated, where applicable.

t

1FSJPEJD.BOBHFNFOU.FFUJOH
Regular meetings held at operational and management levels to identify and resolve operational and business matters.
Deviation in targeted goals and corrective actions implemented where necessary are reported by the Heads of
Department in the meetings.

t

"OOVBM#VEHFU
Budgetary control for every operation of the Group, where actual performance is closely monitored against budget to
identify and address significant variances so that corrective actions can be taken to improve the achievement towards the
budgeted results and eventually the Group’s business objectives as a whole.

t

'JOBODJBM3FQPSUJOH5JNFMJOF
Financial and operational reports are generated timely for Management review and action.

t

4JUF7JTJUT
Regular site visits by the senior management team members and external consultants are conducted to ensure activities
at the sites are run smoothly and comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations and directives.

t

)VNBO3FTPVSDF4USVDUVSF
The Group’s centralised human resource function that sets out the procedures for recruitment, training and appraisal of
the employees within the Group.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Group’s Internal Audit function evaluates the effectiveness of the governance, risk management and internal control
framework and recommends enhancement, where appropriate. The work of the internal audit function is focused on areas of
priority. The head of this function reports directly to Audit Committee. The Audit Committee receives reports on the internal
audit function’s work and findings and has been updated on issues that required further follow-up and rectification by
management.
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REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the external
auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. Their review was performed in accordance
with Malaysian Approved Standard on Assurance Engagements, ISAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information and RPG 5 (Revised) Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement
on Risk Management and Internal Control Included in the Annual Report. External Auditors are required to assess whether the
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control appropriately reflects the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42
of the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers. Based on their review,
the external auditors have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control intended to be included in the annual report is not prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers to be set out, nor is factually inaccurate. RPG 5 does not require
the external auditors to consider whether the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control covers all risks and controls,
or to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system including
the assessment and opinion by the Board of Directors and management thereon. RPG 5 also does not require the external
auditors to consider whether the processes described to deal with material internal control aspects of any significant issues
disclosed in the annual report would, in fact, remedy the issues.

CONCLUSION
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal controls and risk management which is an
ongoing process to support the Group’s business objective as well as safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets.
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STATUS OF UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

Details of Utilisation

Original Amount
as Approved

Utilisation as at
16/4/2015

Balanced
Unutilised

(RM’Mil)

(RM’Mil)

(RM’Mil)

160.00

(60.33)

99.67

Property development expenditure and/or activities
Repayment of amount owing to Sumurwang Sdn Bhd

16.83

General working capital of the Group

16.66

Estimated expenses in relation to the corporate proposals
TOTAL :

2.

(16.83)

-

-

16.66

4.00

(4.0)

197.49

(81.16)

116.33

SHARE BUYBACKS
There were no share buy-backs by the Company during the financial year under review. However, the balance of 971,890
ordinary shares of RM0.50 each bought back during the previous financial years which were held as treasury shares were
disposed in the open market during the financial year ended 31 December 2014 at a total cash consideration of RM1.983
million as follows:-

Month

August

3.

No. of
Shares Sold

971,890

Re-Sale Price Per Share

Total
Average Consideration

Highest

Lowest

(RM)

(RM)

(RM)

(RM’Mil)

2.09

1.98

2.035

1.983

OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
The Company issued the following convertible securities and warrants during the financial year ended 31 December 2014:Convertible Securities/Warrants

Date of Issue

264,000,000 five (5)-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of
RM132,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (“RCULS-A”).

27 August 2014

138,000,000 five (5)-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of
RM69,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (“RCULS-B”).

27 August 2014

602,600,000 five (5)-year 2% to 3% Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of
RM301,300,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (“ICULS”).

9 October 2014

68,691,813 free detachable warrants issued in conjunction with the Rights Issue

9 & 14 October 2014

As at 31 December 2014, a total of 152,027,889 ICULS has been converted at a conversion price of RM0.68 per share to
111,785,165 new ordinary shares.
Save as disclosed above, the Company did not issue any options during the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

4.

DEPOSITORY RECEIPT PROGRAMME
The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programme in the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

5.

SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES
The Company and its subsidiaries, Directors and management have not been imposed any sanctions and/or penalties by
the relevant regulatory bodies.
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6.

NON-AUDIT FEES PAID/PAYABLE
The amount of non-audit fees paid/payable to the external Auditors, Messrs. BDO in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2014 amounted to RM112,000.

7.

VARIATION IN RESULTS
There is no variance between the audited results for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and the unaudited
results announced on 25 February 2015.

8.

PROFIT GUARANTEES
There were no profit guarantees given by the Company during the financial year.

9.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Company and/or its subsidiaries had entered into the following
material contracts:(i)

The Termination and Payment Agreement dated 1 April 2014 to formalise an arrangement between the Company
and The Peak @ KLCC Sdn Bhd (“The Peak @ KLCC”) relating to the treatment of the purchase consideration payable
to The Peak @ KLCC pursuant to the proposed mall land acquisition by Central Plaza i-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd.

(ii)

The Supplemental Agreement dated 12 May 2014, entered into between The Peak @ KLCC, I-City Properties Sdn
Bhd, the Land Proprietors and the Company whereby the parties agree to execute the supplemental agreement in
respect of the SOHO Land SPA, for the waiver and deletion of the condition precedent requiring that the amount
owing to the Land Proprietors by The Peak @ KLCC be settled in full prior to the SOHO Land Acquisition becoming
unconditional but to be delivered on completion instead.

(iii)

The Supplemental Agreement dated 12 May 2014, entered into between The Peak @ KLCC, City Centrepoint Sdn
Bhd, the Land Proprietors and the Company whereby the parties agree to execute the supplemental agreement
in respect of Tower Land SPA, for the waiver and deletion of the condition precedent requiring that the amount
owing to the Land Proprietors by The Peak @ KLCC be settled in full prior to the Tower Land Acquisition becoming
unconditional but to be delivered on completion instead.

(iv)

The RCULS-A deed poll dated 18 August 2014 executed by the Company to, amongst others, create and issue the
RCULS-A at the applicable coupon rate for the RCULS-A, to the RCULS-A sole subscriber.

(v)

The RCULS-B deed poll dated 18 August 2014 executed by the Company to, amongst others, create and issue the
RCULS-B at the applicable coupon rate for the RCULS-B, to the RCULS-B sole subscriber.

(vi)

The Agency Agreement dated 18 August 2014 entered into between the Company as issuer, CIMB Investment
Bank Berhad (CIMB) as facility agent, Sumuracres Sdn Bhd as RCULS-A sole subscriber and Sumurwang Sdn Bhd
as RCULS-B sole subscriber, for the Company to appoint and irrevocably authorise CIMB to take such action on its
behalf and to perform such duties and obligations and to exercise such powers, rights, discretions and authorities as
are vested in it as the facility agent by the Agency Agreement.

(vii)

The ICULS Trust Deed, the document constituting the ICULS dated 27 August 2014 executed between the TMF
Trustees Malaysia Berhad, being the Trustee for the ICULS holders and the Company.

(viii) The ICULS Agency Agreement dated 27 August 2014 entered into between the Company as issuer, Tricor Investor
Services Sdn Bhd (Tricor) as paying agent and the Trustee, for the Company to appoint Tricor as the paying agent in
relation to the payment under the ICULS Trust Deed.
(ix)

The Letter Agreement dated 18 December 2014 entered into between The Peak @ KLCC (as the Vendor), Sumur
Heights Sdn Bhd, Sumurwang Industries Sdn Bhd, Top Capital Sdn Bhd, Sumur Marketing Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang
Development Sdn Bhd (collectively, the Land Proprietors), Central Plaza I-City Real Estate Sdn Bhd (as the Purchaser)
and the Company to mutually extend the Conditional Period to 30 June 2015 or such other periods as may be
mutually agreed in writing between the parties for the fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent in respect of the Mall
Land Sale and Purchase Agreement.
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In September 2014, the Company hosted 30 underprivileged
children in conjunction with Malaysia Day celebrations.
These children were from Philea Home, St Barnabas Home
and Happy Home.
The Children were given the opportunity to visit the Red
Carpet@i-City to see the wax figure of the country’s Father of
Independence, Tunku Abdul Rahman. They also experienced
some of the latest attractions and rides such as “Itsy Bitsy”,
“Jungle Adventure”, “Fun Drive”, “Dancing Water” and “Mist
Fountain”.
The Children enjoyed themselves thoroughly and had an
awesome time at i-City as they had the opportunity to
unwind with the new attractions besides having learnt some
history relating to the country’s independence.
In December 2014, the Company also sponsored 17 Children
from Victory Home as they spent a day out with announcers
from the Star Radio Group at i-City.
The Children had a fun-filled day as they were given the
opportunity to participate in a wide array of games and
activities such as the ride at the “Fun Drive” where they
were taught the rules of driving. They also had fun sliding
down a snowy edge, playing with ice sculptures and
slides at SnowWalk where they could experience sub-zero
temperatures. Prior to that, the children were also treated
to the bumper car rides at the forest environment of “Jungle
Adventure” in addition to watching a 6-D movie at the
“Adventure Studio”.
The eventful day sponsored by i-City ended with a hearty
meal and the Children happily posed for photographs with
the announcers from both Red FM and Capital FM.
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i-Card campaign
i-Card campaign gives public a chance to experience
attractions in i-City in conjunction with Visit Malaysia Year
2014.
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Central Pattana PCL, Thailand’s first venture in Malaysia CentralPlaza@i-City with total net lettable area of 860,000
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CentralPlaza@i-City

DPM visit i-Residence
YAB Tan Sri Muhyiddin
Yassin, Deputy Prime
Minister’s
site visit to i-Residence
@i-City. The 33-storey
residential
project is slated for vac
ant possession handov
er by May
2015.
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cont’d

Aug

Aug

Sharing Ideas
Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, Executive Chairman of I-Berhad,
Dato’ Eu Hong Chew, Deputy Chairman of i-Berhad and
Khun Preecha Ekkunagul, Central Pattana PCL President
and CEO sharing ideas in Thailand.

Merdeka C

elebration

in

i-City
Visitors get
up close with
Father of In
Abdul Rahm
dependence
an.
–

Sep

Tunku

Oct

IGP visit i-City
Star Property Fair at i-City

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Khalid Abu Bakar, Inspector-General of
Police Malaysia visited i-City to review the progress of
ultrapolis.

First Star Property Fair in i-City attracted 3,000 visitors.

Nov

Liberty Tower@i-City

Dec

sold out

Liberty Tower@i-City
attracted over 1,000 hom
ebuyers on
its pre-launch day.

New hotel in i-City

age Ltd to
Hilton Worldwide Man
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Tree
ble
manage a four-star Dou

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

Financial
Statements
41

Directors’ Report

48

Statement by Directors

48

Statutory Declaration

49

Independent Auditors’ Report

51

Statements of Financial Position

53

Statements of Comprehensive Income

54

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

56

Statement of Changes in Equity

58

Statements of Cash Flows

60

Notes to the Financial Statements

41

Directors’
Report
The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 9 to
the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

RESULTS
Group

Company

RM

RM

53,438,355

22,077,736

Owners of the Company

53,411,108

22,077,736

Non-controlling interests

27,247

Profit for the financial year
Attributable to:

53,438,355

22,077,736

DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid since the end of the previous financial year were as follows:
RM
In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013:
Final single tier dividend of 6 sen per ordinary share, paid on
29 September 2014 or 3 sen per ordinary share pursuant to the Share Split

6,869,182

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014, a final single tier dividend amounting to RM16,031,507 has been
proposed by the Directors for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The payment and entitlement
dates will be announced at a later date.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Authorised share capital
On 22 July 2014, the authorised Share Capital of the Company was increased from RM200,000,000 comprising 200,000,000
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each to RM1,000,000,000 comprising 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each by way of creation
of additional capital of 800,000,000 ordinary share of RM1.00 each.
On 11 August 2014, the Company subdivided every one authorised ordinary share of RM1.00 each in the Company into two
ordinary shares (‘Subdivided Shares’) of RM0.50 each in the Company (‘Share Split’). Pursuant to the Share Split, 1,000,000,000
authorised ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company were subdivided into 2,000,000,000 authorised ordinary shares of
RM0.50 each in the Company.
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES cont’d
Issued and paid up share capital
During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased from RM114,486,356 to
RM365,005,743 by way of:
(a)

Share Split of 114,486,356 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company into 228,972,712 ordinary shares of RM0.50
each in the Company;

(b)

issuance of 286,215,890 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each (‘Rights Shares’) at RM0.69 per ordinary share for cash on the
basis of five Rights Shares for every four existing ordinary shares and one Warrant for every five Rights Shares subscribed
for working capital purposes (‘Rights Issue with Warrants’);

(c)

issuance of 103,037,720 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at par on the basis of one bonus share for every five ordinary
shares held (‘Bonus Issue’); and

(d)

issuance of 111,785,165 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each pursuant to the conversion of RM76,013,944 nominal value
Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks converted at RM0.68 per ordinary share.

On 14 October 2014, the Company allotted 57,243,178 free detachable warrants on the basis of one warrant for every five Rights
Shares (‘Rights Issues with Warrants’) subscribed for by entitled shareholders at an issue price of RM0.69 per Rights Shares.
Pursuant to and as a consequence of the Bonus Issue, an additional 11,448,635 Warrants issued on a proportionate basis to
Warrant holders on 15 October 2014 (‘The Adjustment’) and The Adjustment has resulted the exercise price of all the Warrants
from RM1.69 to RM1.41 (‘Exercise Price Adjustment’).
The Warrants have tenure of five years from and inclusive of the date of the issuance of the Warrant (‘Exercise Period’). Each
Warrant carries the entitlement to subscribe for one new ordinary share at the exercise price of RM1.41 at any time of the
Exercise Period, any Warrant not exercised during the Exercise Period will thereafter lapse and become void.
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company. There were no
other issues of shares or debentures during the financial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who have held for office since the date of the last report are:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew
Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Liang Yew Ming
Ong Poh Ling
Goh Yeang Kheng
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in ordinary shares, warrants and loan
stocks of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year ended 31 December 2014 as recorded in the
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia were as
follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares of
RM1.00 each
Balance as at
1.1.2014

Number of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
Share
split

Bonus
issue

Rights
Issue**

Sold

Balance as at
31.12.2014

Shares in the Company
Direct interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

457,500

457,500

411,750

1,143,750

-

2,470,500

Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

332,142

332,142

298,927

830,355

-

1,793,566

15,356

15,356

85,283,307

84,783,307

Ong Poh Ling

-

-

(30,712)

-

211,958,266

(500,000)

457,830,348*

Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

76,305,468

Number of warrants 2014/2019
Balance as at
1.1.2014

Acquired***

Exercised

Balance as at
31.12.2014

Warrants in the Company
Direct interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

-

274,500

-

274,500

Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

-

199,285

-

199,285

-

50,870,257

-

50,870,257*

Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
*
**
***

By virtue of his interest in Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd., Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is deemed to have interests in the Company to the extent of
Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd.’s interest therein, in accordance with Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
Arising from acceptance of provisional allotment of the Company’s Rights Issue.
Acquired pursuant to the Company’s Rights Issue with Warrants.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS cont’d
Number of Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured
Loan Stocks (‘ICULS’) 2014/2019
Balance as at
1.1.2014

Issued

Conversion

Balance as at
31.12.2014

Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

-

313,467,130

-

313,467,130*

Number of Redeemable Convertible Unsecured
Loan Stocks-A (‘RCULS-A’) 2014/2019
Balance as at
1.1.2014

Issued

Conversion

Balance as at
31.12.2014

Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks-A
Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

-

264,000,000

-

264,000,000**

Number of Redeemable Convertible Unsecured
Loan Stocks-B (‘RCULS-B’) 2014/2019
Balance as at
1.1.2014

Issued

Conversion

Balance as at
31.12.2014

Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks-B
Indirect interests:
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong
*
**

-

138,000,000

-

138,000,000*

By virtue of his interest in Sumuwang Sdn. Bhd., Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is deemed to have interests in both the ICULS and RCULS-B.
Deemed interest in RCULS-A by virtue of his interest in Sumuracres Sdn. Bhd.

By virtue of his interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is also deemed to be interested in
the ordinary shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest.
Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is the spouse of Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan. By virtue of their relationship, they are also
deemed to have interests in shares held by each other, both direct and indirect.
Other than disclosed above, none of the other Directors holding office at the end of the financial year held any interest in
ordinary shares of the Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors have received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors as shown in
the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a
firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, except for
any benefit which may be deemed to have arisen by virtue of the remuneration received and receivable by the Directors from
certain related corporations in their capacity as Directors or full time employees of those corporations and by virtue of those
transactions as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.
Except as disclosed above, there were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is a
party, which had the object of enabling the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY
(I)

AS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

(b)

(II)

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the
Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of
provision for doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves that there are no known bad debts to be written
off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets other than debts, which were unlikely to realise their book values in the
ordinary course of business had been written down to their estimated realisable values.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial
year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

FROM THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
(c)

(d)

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
(i)

which would necessitate the writing off of bad debts or render the amount of the provision for doubtful debts
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any material extent;

(ii)

which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company misleading; and

(iii)

which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

In the opinion of the Directors:
(i)

there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect
substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this
report is made; and

(ii)

no contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period
of twelve months after the end of the financial year which would or may affect the ability of the Group or of
the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY cont’d
(III) AS AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT
(e)

There are no charges on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the
financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person.

(f )

There are no contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company which have arisen since the end of the financial
year.

(g)

The Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements
which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

On 11 August 2014, the Company subdivided every one existing ordinary share of RM1.00 each in the Company into
two ordinary shares (‘Subdivided Shares’) of RM0.50 each in the Company (‘Share Split’). Pursuant to the Share Split,
114,486,356 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company were subdivided into 228,972,712 ordinary shares of RM0.50
each in the Company.

(b)

On 27 August 2014 (‘RCULS Issue Date’), the Company issued 264,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible
Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM132,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-A’) to Sumuracres Sdn.
Bhd. as settlement for the acquisition of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 26180, Lot No. 242, Seksyen 63,
Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (‘Kia Peng Land’).
On the even date, the Company issued 138,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of
RM69,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-B’) to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. as part settlement for the
acquisitions of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District
of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘SOHO Land’) and a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311886, Lot
No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Tower Land’).

(c)

On 27 August 2014, 602,600,000 five-year 2% to 3% Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM301,300,000
at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘ICULS’) were provisionally allotted to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. of which
289,132,870 ICULS were offered for sale by Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. on the basis of five ICULS for every one ordinary share
held, at an offer price of RM0.50 per ICULS (‘OFS ICULS’) as part settlement for the acquisitions of a piece of freehold land
held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul
Ehsan (‘SOHO Land’) and a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311886, Lot No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah
Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Tower Land’).

(d)

On 12 September 2014, the Renounceable Rights Issue of 286,215,890 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the
Company (‘Rights Shares’) together with 57,243,178 free detachable warrants (‘Warrants’) on the basis of five Rights Shares
for every four existing ordinary shares held and one Warrant for every five Rights Shares (‘Rights Issues with Warrants’)
subscribed for by entitled shareholders at an issue price of RM0.69 per Rights Shares.
As at the close of acceptance, excess application and payment for the Rights Shares and the OFS ICULS on 30 September
2014 (‘Closing Date’), the Company had received valid acceptances and excess applications for a total of 309,039,755
Rights Shares and 326,002,870 OFS ICULS. This represents a subscription of 108% of the total number of available Rights
Shares and a subscription of 113% of the total number of available OFS ICULS.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR cont’d
(e)

On 14 October 2014 (‘ICULS Listing Date’), the Company completed the issuance of 602,600,000 five-year 2% to 3%
Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM301,300,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘ICULS’)
to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd.
On the even date, 286,215,890 Rights Shares, 57,243,178 Warrants and 602,600,000 ICULS was admitted, listed and quoted
on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’).
On the even date, the Company issued 103,037,720 new ordinary shares on the basis of one bonus share for every five
existing shares held (‘Bonus Issue’) to the entitled shareholders of the Company and 11,448,635 additional Warrants
arising from adjustments made in accordance of the Bonus Issue was listed and quoted on the Main Market of Bursa
Securities on 15 October 2014.

(f )

As at 31 December 2014, 152,027,889 ICULS has been converted at the value of RM0.68 per Share to 111,785,165 new
ordinary shares of RM0.50.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Best Western i-City Shah Alam, a 214 room 3-stars hotel owned by I-R & D Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and operated by Best Western International, Inc. was opened for business on 2 January 2015.

HOLDING COMPANIES
The Directors regard Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd., as the ultimate and immediate holding companies
respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Malaysia.

AUDITORS
The auditors, BDO, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Director

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew
Director

Kuala Lumpur
27 March 2015
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In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 51 to 135 have been drawn up in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows
for the financial year then ended.
In the opinion of the Directors, the information set out in Note 40 to the financial statements on page 136 has been compiled
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context
of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants,
and presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
On behalf of the Board,

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan
Director

Dato’ Eu Hong Chew
Director

Kuala Lumpur
27 March 2015

Statutory
Declaration
I, William Ong Eng San, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of I-Berhad, do solemnly
and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 51 to 135 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the
Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 27 March 2015.

William
mO
Ong
ng Eng San
S
Before me:
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of I-Berhad

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the financial statements of I-Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014
of the Group and of the Company, and statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements
of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 51 to 135.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors
are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as
of 31 December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:
(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its
subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b)

We have considered the financial statements of a subsidiary of which we have not acted as auditors, which is indicated in
Note 9 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements
of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those
purposes.

(d)

The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment
made under Section 174(3) of the Act.
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OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES
The supplementary information set out in Note 40 to the financial statements is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (‘MIA Guidance’) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the
supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act,
1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

BDO
AF : 0206
Chartered Accountants

Kuala Lumpur
27 March 2015

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

Ng Soe Kei
2982/08/15 (J)
Chartered Accountant
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Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2014

Group
Note

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

99,276,666

65,020,039

1,040

1,616

Investment properties

8

273,917,568

73,373,008

7,430,000

7,400,000

Investments in subsidiaries

9

-

408,022,155

168,560,223

Associates

10

578,185

573,477

-

-

Other investments

11

1

1

-

-

Goodwill

12

-

-

-

-

Deferred tax assets

22

202,157

-

182,494

-

-

373,974,577

138,966,525

410,802,687

61,672,594

415,635,689

175,961,839

Current assets
Property development costs

13

Inventories

14

55,122,126

54,471,527

Trade and other receivables

15

106,831,328

61,894,757

340,774,685

14,711,746

Other investments

11

38,556

38,556

38,556

38,556

603,797

834,227

230,445

726,309

16

163,474,153

7,106,744

154,112,155

2,103,602

736,872,647

186,018,405

495,155,841

17,580,213

1,110,847,224

324,984,930

910,791,530

193,542,052

Current tax assets
Cash and bank balances

TOTAL ASSETS

-

-

-

-
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Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2014
cont’d

Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

365,005,743

114,486,356

365,005,743

114,486,356

42,972,450

60,167,141

42,972,450

60,167,141

1,331,019

1,331,019

1,359,395

1,359,395

208,418

138,452

Note
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital

17

Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Exchange translation reserve

18

Warrants reserve

39,125,712

Contribution from members

19

Retained earnings

1,474,220
87,689,355

Treasury shares

19

-

-

-

39,125,712

-

1,474,220

41,147,429

26,155,057

(509,121)

-

10,946,503
(509,121)

ICULS - equity component

20

210,487,749

-

210,487,749

-

RCULS - equity component

21

14,547,329

-

14,547,329

-

Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

762,841,995

216,761,276

146,741

119,494

762,988,736

216,880,770

2,868,990

701,127,655
701,127,655

186,450,274
186,450,274

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

22

2,252,574

-

790,076

ICULS - liability component

20

19,727,863

-

19,727,863

-

RCULS - liability component

21

185,324,517

-

185,324,517

-

207,304,954

2,868,990

205,052,380

790,076

136,213,788

104,544,181

4,611,495

6,301,702

4,339,746

690,989

140,553,534

105,235,170

4,611,495

6,301,702

347,858,488

108,104,160

209,663,875

7,091,778

1,110,847,224

324,984,930

910,791,530

193,542,052

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

23

Current tax liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Comprehensive Income

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

Group
Note

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

25,000,000

9,000,000

Revenue

24

261,114,262

152,147,839

Cost of sales

25

(160,012,751)

(86,644,417)

101,101,511

65,503,422

25,000,000

9,000,000

1,428,787

12,995,635

30,000

490,000

Gross profit
Fair value gain on investment properties

8

Other income
Other expenses
Share of profit of an associate, net of tax

-

-

4,183,606

1,042,769

1,993,878

(37,307,254)

(26,617,240)

(5,685,607)

36,708

58,169

-

338,253
(1,261,560)
-

Profit before tax

26

69,443,358

52,982,755

Tax (expense)/income

28

(16,005,003)

(9,013,732)

53,438,355

43,969,023

Foreign currency translations

69,966

121,218

Total comprehensive income

53,508,321

44,090,241

22,077,736

8,437,483

53,411,108

43,968,494

22,077,736

8,437,483

27,247

529

53,438,355

43,969,023

22,077,736

8,437,483

53,481,074

44,089,712

22,077,736

8,437,483

27,247

529

53,508,321

44,090,241

Profit for the financial year

21,338,271
739,465
22,077,736

8,566,693
(129,210)
8,437,483

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
-

-

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

-

-

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

-

-

22,077,736

8,437,483

Earnings per ordinary share attributable to equity
holders of the parent (sen):
Basic (restated)

32

8.78

9.15

Diluted (restated)

32

8.09

9.15

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance as at 31 December 2013

Total transaction with owners

Dividends paid

114,486,356

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income

33

-

Foreign currency translations

Transaction with owners:

-

Profit for the financial year

RM
114,486,356

Note

Balance as at 1 January 2013

Group

Share
capital

(509,121)

-

-

-

-

-

(509,121)

RM

Treasury
shares

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

60,167,141

-

-

-

-

-

60,167,141

RM

Share
premium

1,331,019

-

-

-

-

-

1,331,019

RM

Revaluation
reserve

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

138,452

-

-

121,218

121,218

-

17,234

RM

Exchange
translation
reserve

41,147,429

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

43,968,494

-

43,968,494

1,738,951

RM

Retained
earnings

216,761,276

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

44,089,712

121,218

43,968,494

177,231,580

RM

Total
attributable
to owners of
the parent

529

529

119,494

-

-

-

118,965

RM

Noncontrolling
interests

216,880,770

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

44,090,241

121,218

43,969,023

177,350,545

RM

Total
equity

54

-

19

17

Disposal of treasury shares

Conversion of ICULS

365,005,743

Balance as at 31 December 2014

-

20,143,863

-

-

-

42,972,450

509,121 (17,194,691)

-

509,121

-

(51,518,860)

14,180,306

-

-

-

-

1,331,019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,331,019

RM

39,125,712

-

-

-

-

-

39,125,712

-

-

-

-

-

RM

208,418 39,125,712

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

69,966

69,966

-

138,452

RM

1,474,220

1,474,220

-

1,474,220

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

210,487,749

210,487,749

(71,020,836)

-

-

281,508,585

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

(6,869,182)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,869,182)

53,411,108

-

53,411,108

41,147,429

RM

762,841,995

492,599,645

5,015,609

1,983,341

14,547,329

281,508,585

-

196,413,963

(6,869,182)

53,481,074

69,966

53,411,108

216,761,276

RM

RM

Total
equity

492,599,645

5,015,609

1,983,341

14,547,329

281,508,585

-

196,413,963

(6,869,182)

53,508,321

69,966

53,438,355

146,741 762,988,736

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

27,247

-

27,247

119,494 216,880,770

RM

Total
attributable
NonRetained to owners of controlling
earnings
the parent
interests

14,547,329 87,689,355

14,547,329

-

-

14,547,329

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

Contribution
ICULS RCULS Warrants
from
equity
equity
reserve
members component component

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

250,519,387

Total transactions with owners

55,892,582

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Issuance of ICULS

RM

Exchange
Share Revaluation translation
premium
reserve
reserve

(509,121) 60,167,141

RM

Treasury
shares

51,518,860

143,107,945

Issuance of RCULS

17

17

- Rights Issue

- Bonus Issue

Ordinary shares issued pursuant to:

Dividends paid

-

-

Total comprehensive income

33

-

Foreign currency translations, net of tax

Transactions with owners:

-

Profit for the financial year

RM

114,486,356

Note

Share
capital

Balance as at 1 January 2014

Group

cont’d

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

55
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Statement of Changes in Equity

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

Company

Share
capital

Treasury
shares

RM

RM

RM

114,486,356

(509,121)

60,167,141

Note

Balance as at 1 January 2013

Share Revaluation
premium
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

RM

RM

RM

1,359,395

7,069,036

182,572,807

Profit for the financial year

-

-

-

-

8,437,483

8,437,483

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

8,437,483

8,437,483

-

-

-

-

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

-

-

-

-

(4,560,016)

(4,560,016)

10,946,503

186,450,274

Transaction with owners:
Dividends paid
Total transaction with
owners
Balance as at 31 December
2013

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

33

114,486,356

(509,121)

60,167,141

1,359,395

-

19

17

Disposal of treasury shares

Conversion of ICULS

365,005,743

Balance as at 31 December 2014

-

509,121

-

509,121

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(509,121)

RM

Treasury
shares

42,972,450

(17,194,691)

20,143,863

-

-

-

(51,518,860)

14,180,306

-

-

-

60,167,141

RM

Share
premium

1,359,395

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,359,395

RM

Revaluation
reserve

39,125,712

39,125,712

-

-

-

-

-

39,125,712

-

-

-

-

RM

Warrants
reserve

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

250,519,387

Total transactions with owners

55,892,582

-

Issuance of RCULS

51,518,860
-

17

- Bonus issue

143,107,945

-

Issuance of ICULS

17

- Rights issue

Ordinary shares issued pursuant to:

Dividend paid

33

-

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners:

-

Profit for the financial year

RM
114,486,356

Note

Share
capital

Balance as at 1 January 2014

Company

cont’d

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

Statement of Changes in Equity

1,474,220

1,474,220

-

1,474,220

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

Contribution
from
members

210,487,749

210,487,749

(71,020,836)

-

-

281,508,585

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

ICULS equity
component

14,547,329

14,547,329

-

-

14,547,329

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

RCULS
- equity
component

26,155,057

(6,869,182)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,869,182)

22,077,736

22,077,736

10,946,503

RM

Retained
earnings

701,127,655

492,599,645

5,015,609

1,983,341

14,547,329

281,508,585

-

196,413,963

(6,869,182)

22,077,736

22,077,736

186,450,274

RM

Total equity

57
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Statements of Cash Flows

IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU

Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

69,443,358

52,982,755

21,338,271

8,566,693

Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

7

13,106,742

12,977,017

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

7

339,130

1,929,839

Dividend income

24

-

Fair value adjustments on investment properties

8

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on trade and other receivables
Interest income
Share of profit of an associate, net of tax
Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working
capital

-

(1,428,787)
37,631

(12,995,635)

(9,000,000)

(30,000)

(490,000)

-

7,053

-

(296,855)

(36,708)

(58,169)

54,497,065

576
-

(25,000,000)

(48,940)

(1,725,485)

79,735,881

576
-

3,000

(1,682,568)
-

(72,146)
-

(5,373,721)

(991,877)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories

(650,599)

176,763

-

-

Property development costs

(38,556,814)

(5,044,436)

Trade and other receivables

(44,959,581)

(46,538,904)

Trade and other payables

32,353,905

15,458,285

(200,389)

27,922,792

18,548,773

(5,581,702)

586,899

641,381

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Tax refunded
Tax paid
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

(13,459,139)

(8,267,854)

15,050,552

10,922,300

-

(7,592)

462,618

(8,693)
180,471
(820,099)
-

(127,710)

(256,804)

(5,246,794)

(1,076,903)
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Statements of Cash Flows
IRUWKH½QDQFLDO\HDUHQGHG'HFHPEHU
cont’d

Group
Note

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:

-

- Additional interest in a subsidiary

-

- Associates

-

- Subsidiary

-

Repayment from an associate

-

(450,000)
(4)

32,000

-

-

(4)

-

(50,000)

-

160,000

-

-

Advances to related companies

(14,621)

(30,000)

Advances to subsidiaries

-

-

(42,965,525)

(9,750,772)

Dividends received

-

-

9,000,000

9,400,000

352,486

1,682,568

72,146

Interest received

1,725,485

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

-

Development of investment properties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

7(b)

Net cash used in investing activities

-

122,590

(30,000)

-

-

(13,054,919)

(2,298,008)

-

-

(33,969,150)

(18,795,427)

-

-

(45,281,205)

(20,488,363)

(32,782,957)

(5,000,000)

5,000,000

(5,000,000)

(308,630)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Repayments to)/Advances from immediate holding
company
Advances from subsidiaries

-

Dividends paid

33

Net (pledged)/released of fixed deposits
19

(39,000)
-

1,983,341

-

1,983,341

-

152,057,469

16,
16 (f)

196,413,963

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
financial year

84,000

909,221
(4,560,016)

-

182,288,122

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of financial year

(6,869,182)

196,413,963

Net cash from financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents

3,510,182

(4,560,016)

(4,240,000)

Proceeds from issuance of Rights Issue
Proceeds from disposal of treasury shares

-

(6,869,182)

5,000,000

523,984
(9,042,079)

190,038,304
152,008,553
-

1,310,205
(75,328)

69,940

121,203

-

7,067,744

15,988,620

2,064,602

2,139,930

159,195,153

7,067,744

154,073,155

2,064,602

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
I-Berhad (‘the Company’) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ, CityPark,
i-City, 40000 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan.
The Directors regard Sumur Ventures Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd., as the ultimate and immediate holding
companies respectively. Both companies are incorporated in Malaysia.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries and the interests of the Group in associates. These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia
(‘RM’), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the Board of Directors on 27 March
2015.

2.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note
9 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial
year.

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company set out on pages 51 to 135 have been prepared in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standards (‘FRSs’) and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. However, Note 40
to the financial statements set out on page 136 has been prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1,
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (‘MIA Guidance’) and the directive of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except as otherwise stated in the financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the Directors to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and contingent liabilities. In addition, the Directors are also required to exercise their judgement
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions
are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the
Directors’ best knowledge of events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.2

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Power over the investee;
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

If the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(a)
(b)
(c)

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
Rights arising from other contractual agreements; and
The voting rights of the Group and potential voting rights.

Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising
from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the interest of the Group in
the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there
is no impairment.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the other entities in the Group.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries that are not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
owners of the parent, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Statements of comprehensive income and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group up to the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate. Assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included in
the statements of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
Changes in the Company owner’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.
If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between:
(a)

The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and

(b)

The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any noncontrolling interests.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

62

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.2

Basis of consolidation cont’d
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for
(i.e. reclassified to statements of comprehensive income or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, where applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in associate or joint venture.

4.3

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the subsequent costs
would flow to the Group and the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are
replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised
in statements of comprehensive income as incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and
removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located for which the Group is obligated to incur when the
asset is acquired, if applicable.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of
the asset and which has a different useful life, is depreciated separately.
After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of the assets to their residual values on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, annually. The principal depreciation periods and rates are as follows:
Sales gallery

20%

Hotel properties
- Hotel building
- Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures and renovation
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

2%
10%
10% to 33%
20%
10% to 50%

Freehold land has unlimited useful life and is not depreciated.
Construction-in-progress and hotel properties under construction represent buildings under construction and are
stated at cost. Construction-in-progress and hotel properties under construction are not depreciated until such time
when the asset is available for use.
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable.
A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 4.10 to the financial
statements on impairment of non-financial assets).
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4.3

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation cont’d
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant
and equipment. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an
accounting estimate.
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any,
and the carrying amount is included in statements of comprehensive income and the revaluation surplus related to
those assets, if any, is transferred directly to retained earnings.

4.4

Leases
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of payments, the
right asset for an agreed period of time.
(a)

Operating leases
Accounting as lessee
Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to statements of
comprehensive income over the lease period.
Accounting as lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment or investment
properties, where applicable, in the statements of financial position. They are depreciated over their useful
lives on bases consistent with similar owned property, plant and equipment or investment properties, where
applicable. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight line basis over the
lease term.

4.5

Property development activities
(a)

Land held for property development
Land held for property development is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Such land is classified
as non-current asset when no significant development work has been carried out or where development
activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle.
Cost associated with the acquisition of land includes the purchase price of the land, professional fees, stamp
duties, commissions, conversion fees and other relevant levies.
Land held for property development is reclassified as property development costs at the point when
development activities have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities
can be completed within the normal operating cycle.
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4.5

Property development activities cont’d
(b)

Property development costs
Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to the development activities
or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. They comprise the cost of land under
development, construction costs and other related development costs common to the whole project
including professional fees, stamp duties, commissions, conversion fees and other relevant levies as well as
borrowing costs.
Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.
When revenue recognised in statements of comprehensive income exceeds progress billings to purchasers,
the balance is classified as accrued billings under current assets. When progress billings exceed revenue
recognised in statements of comprehensive income, the balance is classified as progress billings under current
liabilities.

4.6

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental yields or for capital appreciation or for both
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties also include properties that are being constructed or
developed for future use as investment properties. Investment properties are initially measured at cost, which
includes transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value.
If the Group determines that the fair value of an investment property under construction is not reliably
determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be reliably determinable when construction is complete,
the Group shall measure that investment property under construction at cost until either its fair value becomes
reliably determinable or construction is completed (whichever is earlier). Once the Group is able to measure reliably
the fair value of an investment property under construction that has previously been measured at cost, the Group
shall measure that property at its fair value.
The fair value of investment properties reflect among other things, rental income from current leases and other
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing investment properties under current market
conditions.
Fair values of investment properties are based on valuations by registered independent valuers with appropriate
recognised professional qualification and have recent experience in the location and category of the investment
properties being valued.
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment properties is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income for the period in which it arises.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The gains or losses arising
from the retirement or disposal of investment property is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in statements of comprehensive income in
the period of the retirement or disposal.
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4.7

Borrowings and borrowing costs
(a)

Classification
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between initial recognised amount and the redemption value are
recognised in the statements of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
yield method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are regarded as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is possible some or all of the facility will be drawdown. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs to the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all the facility will be
drawdown. The fee is capitalised as a prepayment for a liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility of which is relates.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(b)

Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Borrowing costs incurred to finance property development activities and construction contracts
are accounted for in a similar manner. All other borrowing costs are expensed to the statements of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

4.8

Investments
(a)

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group and the Company are exposed, or have rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the subsidiary and have the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the subsidiary.
An investment in subsidiary, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated in the separate financial
statements of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Put options written over
non-controlling interests on the acquisition of subsidiary shall be included as part of the cost of investment
in the separate financial statements of the Company. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the written
put options over non-controlling interests shall be recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
Investments accounted for at cost shall be accounted for in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations when they are classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale) in accordance with FRS 5.
When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, the Group would
derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their carrying amount and to recognise the
fair value of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its
fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss in statements of
comprehensive income.
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4.8

Investments cont’d
(b)

Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group and the Company have significant influence and that is neither
a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is neither control nor joint control over those
policies.
In the separate financial statements of the Company, an investment in associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses.
An investment in associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The investment in associate in the consolidated statement of financial position is initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the share of net assets of the
investments of the Group.
The interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate under the equity
method together with any long term interest that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the
associate of the Group.
The share of the profit or loss of the associate by the Group during the financial year is included in the
consolidated financial statements, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the
Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to
the carrying amount could also be necessary for changes in the proportionate interest of the Group in the
associate arising from changes in the associate’s equity that have not been recognised in the associate’s
statement of comprehensive income. Such changes include those arising from the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment and from foreign exchange translation differences. The share of those changes by the
Group is recognised directly in equity of the Group.
When the share of losses of the Group in the associate equals to or exceeds its interest in the associate, the
carrying amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on its behalf.
The most recent available financial statements of the associate are used by the Group in applying the equity
method. When the end of the reporting periods of the financial statements are not coterminous, the share
of results is arrived at using the latest audited financial statements for which the difference in end of the
reporting periods is no more than three months. Adjustments are made for the effects of any significant
transactions or events that occur between the intervening periods.
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the former
associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between the fair value of any retained interest
plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying amount of the investment at the date when
equity method is discontinued is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income.
When the interest of the Group in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant influence,
any retained interest is not re-measured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is recognised
in statements of comprehensive income. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are also reclassified proportionately to the statements of comprehensive income if that gain or loss
would be required to be reclassified to statements of comprehensive income on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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4.9

Goodwill
Goodwill recognised in a business combination is an asset at the acquisition date and is initially measured at cost
being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the
interest of the Group in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in statements of comprehensive
income as a bargain purchase gain.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is not
amortised but instead tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount could be impaired. Objective events that would trigger a more frequent
impairment review include adverse industry or economic trends, significant restructuring actions, significantly
lowered projections of profitability, or a sustained decline in the acquiree’s market capitalisation. Gains and losses
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of an associate is the excess of cost of investment over the share of the net fair value
of net assets of the associates’ identifiable assets and liabilities by the Group at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. The
excess of the share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities by the Group over the cost
of investment is included as income in the determination of the share of the associate’s statement of comprehensive
income by the Group in the period in which the investment is acquired.

4.10 Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amount of assets, except for financial assets (excluding investments in subsidiaries and associates),
inventories, deferred tax assets and investment properties measured at fair value, are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill that has an indefinite useful life is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the goodwill might be impaired.
The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated for an individual asset. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the cash generating unit (‘CGU’)
to which the asset belongs. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the CGU or groups of CGU of the Group that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination
giving rise to the goodwill irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination shall be tested for impairment as part of the impairment testing of
CGU to which it relates. The CGU to which goodwill is allocated shall represent the lowest level within the Group
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment
determined in accordance with FRS 8 Operating Segments.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.
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4.10 Impairment of non-financial assets cont’d
In estimating the value in use, the estimated future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing
use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. An impairment loss is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income when the carrying amount of the asset or the CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the
recoverable amount of the asset or the CGU. The total impairment loss is allocated, first, to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU on a pro-rata basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.
The impairment loss is recognised in statements of comprehensive income immediately except for the impairment
on a revalued asset where the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation reserve to the extent
of the surplus credited from the previous revaluation for the same asset with the excess of the impairment loss
charged to statements of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. An impairment loss for other assets is
reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognised.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
Such reversals are recognised as income immediately in statements of comprehensive income except for
the reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset where the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase and credited to the revaluation reserve account of the same asset. However, to the extent that
an impairment loss in the same revalued asset was previously recognised in statements of comprehensive income, a
reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
4.11 Inventories
(a)

Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost consists
of cost associated with the acquisition of land, direct costs and appropriate proportions of common costs
attributable to developing the properties to completion.

(b)

Consumables
Consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the first in, first out formula. The cost comprises all costs of purchase, cost of
conversion plus other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.12 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another enterprise.
A financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another enterprise, a contractual right to receive
cash or another financial asset from another enterprise, or a contractual right to exchange financial assets or
financial liabilities with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable to the Group.
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A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another
enterprise, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another enterprise
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group.
Financial instruments are recognised on the statements of financial position when the Group has become a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, a financial instrument is recognised at fair value
plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issuance of the financial instrument.
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the
economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative is not closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative meets the
definition of a derivative, and the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
(a)

Financial assets
A financial asset is classified into the following three categories after initial recognition for the purpose of
subsequent measurement:
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets that are held for trading
(i.e. financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of resale in the near term), derivatives
(both, freestanding and embedded) and financial assets that were specifically designated into this
classification upon initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
Net gains or losses on financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss exclude foreign
exchange gains and losses, interest and dividend income. Such income is recognised separately in
statements of comprehensive income as components of other income or other operating losses.
However, derivatives that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments
that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are recognised at cost.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables comprise non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on financial assets classified as loans
and receivables are recognised in statements of comprehensive income when the financial assets are
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(iii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale comprise non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as available for sale or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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4.12 Financial instruments cont’d
(a)

Financial assets cont’d
(iii)

Available-for-sale financial assets cont’d
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as
available-for-sale are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, except for impairment
losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised in
statements of comprehensive income. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in statements of comprehensive income whilst dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in statements of comprehensive income when the right of the Group to
receive payment is established.

Cash and bank balances include cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts, fixed deposits pledged to
financial institutions, deposits and other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial asset has
expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and
the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income shall be recognised
in statements of comprehensive income.
A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or marketplace convention.
A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using
trade date accounting.
(b)

Financial liabilities
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement. A financial liability is classified into the following category after initial recognition for the
purpose of subsequent measurement:
(i)

Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities comprise non-derivative financial liabilities that
are neither held for trading nor initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains or losses on other financial liabilities are recognised in statements of
comprehensive income when the financial liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation
process.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. An exchange between an existing borrower and lender
of debt instruments with substantially different terms are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the
terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability.
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(b)

Financial liabilities cont’d
Any difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or transferred to another
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

(c)

Equity
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.
Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal value and proceeds in excess of the nominal value of shares
issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are classified as
equity. Transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any
related income tax benefit. Otherwise, they are charged to statements of comprehensive income.
Warrants are classified as equity and are stated at cost.
Interim dividends to shareholders are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. Final
dividends are recognised upon the approval of shareholders in a general meeting.
The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company
at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured at the
end of each reporting period and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity as
adjustments to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognises the
difference, if any, between the carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the
liability in statements of comprehensive income.
When the Group repurchases its own shares, the shares repurchased would be accounted for using the
treasury stock method.
Where the treasury stock method is applied, the shares repurchased and held as treasury shares shall
be measured and carried at the cost of repurchase on initial recognition and subsequently. It shall not be
revalued for subsequent changes in the fair value or market price of the shares.
The carrying amount of the treasury shares shall be offset against equity in the statement of financial
position. To the extent that the carrying amount of the treasury shares exceeds the share premium account,
it shall be considered as a reduction of any other reserves as may be permitted by the Main Market Listing
Requirements.
No gain or loss is recognised in statements of comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the own equity instruments of the Company. If such shares are issued by resale, any difference
between the sales consideration and the carrying amount is shown as a movement in equity.
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(d)

Compound financial instruments
Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes that can be converted to
share capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in
their fair value.
The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of a similar
liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is recognised initially at the
difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of
the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the
compound instrument. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not re-measured
subsequent to initial recognition except when the compound instrument is redeemed or repurchased before
maturity.
Upon conversion of the convertible instrument into equity shares, the amount credited to share capital and
share premium is the aggregate of the carrying amounts of the liability components classified within liability
and equity at the time of conversion. No gain or loss is recognised.

4.13 Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at the end of each
reporting period.
(a)

Loans and receivables
The Group collectively considers factors such as the probability of bankruptcy or significant financial
difficulties of the receivable, and default or significant delay in payments by the receivable, to determine
whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has occurred. Other
objective evidence of impairment include historical collection rates determined on an individual basis and
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that are directly correlated with the historical
default rates of receivables.
If any such objective evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in statements of
comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and it objectively relates to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the
extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The
amount of impairment reversed is recognised in statements of comprehensive income.
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(b)

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group collectively considers factors such as significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost,
significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market as
objective evidence that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.
If any such objective evidence exists, an amount comprising the difference between the financial asset’s
cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in statements of comprehensive income, is transferred from equity to statements of
comprehensive income.
Impairment losses in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in statements
of comprehensive income and is measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in statements of comprehensive
income in the subsequent periods. Instead, any increase in the fair value subsequent to the impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale debt investments are subsequently reversed in statements of
comprehensive income if the increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in statements of comprehensive income.

4.14 Income taxes
Income taxes include all domestic and foreign taxes on taxable profit. Income taxes also include other taxes, such as
withholding taxes and real property gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.
Taxes in the statements of comprehensive income comprise current tax and deferred tax.
(a)

Current tax
Current tax expenses are determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group
operates and include all taxes based upon the taxable profits (including withholding taxes) and real property
gains taxes payable on disposal of properties, if any.

(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the
carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial position and its tax base.
Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time
of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits would be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can
be utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that
deferred tax asset to be utilised, the carrying amount of the deferred tax asset would be reduced accordingly.
When it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits would be available, such reductions would be
reversed to the extent of the taxable profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.14 Income taxes cont’d
(b)

Deferred tax cont’d
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority
on either:
(i)

the same taxable entity; or

(ii)

different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Deferred tax would be recognised as income or expense and included in the statements of comprehensive
income for the period unless the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different
period, directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax would be charged or credited directly to equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the announcement of tax rates and tax laws by the
Government in the annual budgets which have the substantive effect of actual enactment by the end of each
reporting period.
4.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, and
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision would be discounted to its present
value at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits would be required to settle the
obligation, the provision would be reversed.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present
obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.
4.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence would be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group or a
present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources would be required
to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot
be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but
discloses its existence in the financial statements.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence would be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group. The Group
does not recognise contingent assets but disclose its existence where inflows of economic benefits are probable,
but not virtually certain.
In the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group under business combinations, contingent liabilities assumed are
measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date.

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

75

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.17 Employee benefits
(a)

Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary
benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed when employees rendered their services
to the Group.
Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised as an expense
when employees render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur
and they lapse if the current period’s entitlement is not used in full and do not entitle employees to a cash
payment for unused entitlement on leaving the Group.
Bonuses are recognised as an expense when there is a present, legal or constructive obligation to make
such payments, as a result of past events and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

(b)

Defined contribution plans
The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in Malaysia make contributions to a statutory provident
fund. The contributions are recognised as a liability after deducting any contribution already paid and as an
expense in the period in which the employees render their services.

4.18 Foreign currencies
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the entities of the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (‘RM’), which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Company.

(b)

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at the end of each reporting period
are translated into the functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at that date. All exchange differences
arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are included in statements of comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise. Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at historical
cost are translated using the historical rate as of the date of acquisition, and non-monetary items, which are
carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined for
presentation currency purposes.

(c)

Foreign operations
Financial statements of foreign operations are translated at end of the reporting period exchange rates with
respect to their assets and liabilities, and at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions with respect to
the statements of comprehensive income. All resulting translation differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.18 Foreign currencies cont’d
(c)

Foreign operations cont’d
Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the net investment of the Company in
a foreign operation shall be recognised in statements of comprehensive income in the separate financial
statements of the Company or the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the consolidated financial statements,
such exchange differences shall be recognised initially as a separate component of equity and recognised in
statements of comprehensive income upon disposal of the net investment.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired entity and translated at the exchange rate ruling
at the end of each reporting period.

4.19 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivables, net of discounts and rebates.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
would flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be reliably measured and specific recognition criteria have been met, as follows:
(a)

Property development
Property development revenue is recognised in respect of all development units that have been
sold. Revenue recognition commences when the sale of the development unit is effected, upon the
commencement of development and construction activities and when the financial outcome can be reliably
estimated. The attributable portion of property development cost is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of such revenue and expenses recognised is determined
by reference to the stage of completion of development activity at the end of each reporting period. The
stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion that property development costs incurred for
work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development cost.
When the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, the property
development revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is
probable to be recoverable and the property development costs on the development units sold are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Any expected loss on a development project is recognised as an expense immediately, including costs to be
incurred over the defects liability period.

(b)

Rental income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term of an ongoing lease. The aggregate
cost of incentives provided to the lessee is recognised as reduction of rental income over the lease term on a
straight line basis.

(c)

Maintenance fee
Maintenance fee is accounted for on an accrual basis.

(d)

Income from leisure activities
Revenue from promotion, marketing and management of events, leisure and other tourism related activities is
recognised when services are rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.19 Revenue recognition cont’d
(e)

Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods have
been transferred to the customer and where the Group does not have continuing managerial involvement
over the goods, which coincides with the delivery of goods and acceptance by customers.

(f )

Services
Revenue from the provision of services in relation to management of network and telephony as well as
development of MSC Cybercentre and Technopreneur Campus is recognised when services are rendered.

(g)

Completed properties held for sale
Revenue from the sales of completed properties held for sale is recognised as and when the transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer upon signing of sale and purchase agreement has
been completed.

(h)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(i)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

4.20 Earnings per share
(a)

Basic
Basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year
attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

(b)

Diluted
Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year adjusted for the effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares.

4.21 Operating segments
Operating segments are defined as components of the Group that:
(a)

engages in business activities from which it could earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the Group);

(b)

whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers of the Group in making
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assessing its performance; and

(c)

for which discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn revenues.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES cont’d
4.21 Operating segments cont’d
The Group reports separately information about each operating segment that meets any of the following
quantitative thresholds:
(a)

Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales or transfers, is ten
percent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating segments.

(b)

The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is ten percent or more of the greater, in absolute amount of:

(c)

(i)

the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss; and

(ii)

the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss.

Its assets are ten percent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments.

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered reportable, and
separately disclosed, if the management believes that information about the segment would be useful to users of
the financial statements.
Total external revenue reported by operating segments shall constitute at least seventy-five percent of the revenue
of the Group. Operating segments identified as reportable segments in the current financial year in accordance with
the quantitative thresholds would result in a restatement of prior period segment data for comparative purposes.
4.22 Fair value measurements
The fair value of an asset or a liability is determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
The Group measures the fair value of an asset or a liability by taking into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take these characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability. The
Group has considered the following characteristics when determining fair value:
(a)

The condition and location of the asset; and

(b)

Restrictions, if any, on the sale or use of the asset.

The fair value measurement for a non-financial asset takes into account the ability of the market participant to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The fair value of a financial or non-financial liability or an entity’s own equity instrument assumes that:
(a)

A liability would remain outstanding and the market participant transferee would be required to fulfil the
obligation. The liability would not be settled with the counterparty or otherwise extinguished on the
measurement date; and

(b)

An entity’s own equity instrument would remain outstanding and the market participant transferee would
take on the rights and responsibilities associated with the instrument. The instrument would not be cancelled
or otherwise extinguished on the measurement date.
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENT TO FRSs
5.1

New FRSs adopted during the financial year
The Group and the Company adopted the following amendments and interpretations of the FRS Framework that
were issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (‘MASB’) during the financial year.
Title

Effective Date

Amendments to FRS 10

Consolidated Financial Statements: Investment Entities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 12

Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities: Investment Entities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 127

Separate Financial Statements (2011): Investment Entities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 132

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014

Amendments to FRS 136

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

1 January 2014

The adoption of the above amendments and interpretations of the FRS Framework had no material impact on the
financial statements of the Group and the Company.
5.2

New FRSs that have been issued, but only effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of the FRS Framework that have been
issued by the MASB but have not been early adopted by the Group and the Company.
Title

Effective Date

Amendments to FRS 119

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

1 July 2014

Amendments to FRSs

Annual Improvements to FRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle

1 July 2014

Amendments to FRSs

Annual Improvements to FRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

FRS 14

Regulatory Deferral Accounts

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 10
and FRS 128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 116
and FRS 138

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 127

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRSs

Annual Improvements to FRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

1 January 2016

1 July 2014

Amendments to FRS 101

Disclosure Initiative

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 10,
FRS 12 and FRS 128

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

1 January 2016

FRS 9

Financial Instruments (IFRS as issued by IASB in July 2014)

1 January 2018

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of implementing these accounting standards, amendments and
interpretations, since the effects would only be observable for future financial years.
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ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENT TO FRSs cont’d
5.3

New MFRSs that have been issued but have yet to be adopted during the current financial year
The Group and Company have yet to adopt the following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (‘MFRS’) Framework that were issued by the MASB during the financial
year.
Title
MFRS 1

First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards

MFRS 2

Share-based Payment

MFRS 3

Business Combinations

MFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to MFRS 7

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

MFRS 8

Operating Segments

MFRS 9

Financial Instruments

MFRS 10

Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 11
and MFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12
and MFRS 127

Investments Entities

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS
128

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associates or Joint
Venture

MFRS 11

Joint Arrangements

Amendments to MFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

MFRS 12

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

MFRS 13

Fair Value Measurement

MFRS 14

Regulatory Deferral Accounts

MFRS 101

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendments to MFRS 101

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

MFRS 102

Inventories

MFRS 107

Statement of Cash Flows

MFRS 108

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

MFRS 110

Events After the Reporting Period

MFRS 112

Income Taxes

MFRS 116

Property, Plant and Equipment
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENT TO FRSs cont’d
5.3

New MFRSs that have been issued but have yet to be adopted during the current financial year cont’d
The Group and Company have yet to adopt the following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations of
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (‘MFRS’) Framework that were issued by the MASB during the financial
year. cont’d
Title
Amendments to MFRS 116

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

MFRS 117

Leases

MFRS 119

Employee Benefits (revised)

Amendments to MFRS 119

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

MFRS 121

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

MFRS 123

Borrowing Costs

MFRS 124

Related Party Disclosures

MFRS 126

Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

MFRS 127

Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to MFRS 127

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

MFRS 128

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

MFRS 132

Financial Instruments: Presentation

Amendments to MFRS 132

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

MFRS 133

Earnings Per Share

MFRS 134

Interim Financial Reporting

MFRS 136

Impairment of Assets

Amendments to MFRS 136

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

MFRS 137

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

MFRS 138

Intangible Assets

Amendments to MFRS 138

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

MFRS 139

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

MFRS 140

Investment Property

Amendments to MFRSs

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2009 - 2011 Cycle

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle
Improvements to MFRSs (2008)
Improvements to MFRSs (2009)
Improvements to MFRSs (2010)
IC Interpretation 4

Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IC Interpretation 10

Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IC Interpretation 19

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The Group and the Company is in the process of assessing the impact of implementing these Standards since the
effects would only be observable for the financial year ending 31 December 2017.
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
6.1

Changes in estimates
Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Directors are of the opinion that there are no significant changes in estimates at the end of the reporting
period.

6.2

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
The following are judgements made by management in the process of applying the accounting policies of the
Group that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
(a)

Classification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment
The Group has developed certain criteria based on FRS 140 in making judgement whether a property qualifies
as an investment property. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group would
account for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.

(b)

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out as operating leases.

(c)

Contingent liabilities
The determination and treatment of contingent liabilities is based on management’s view of the expected
outcome of the contingencies for matters in the ordinary course of the business.

6.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of each reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
(a)

Property development
The Group recognises property development revenue and expenses in statements of comprehensive
income by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion
that property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property
development costs.
Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the property
development costs incurred, the estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the
recoverability of the development projects. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past
experience and by relying on the work of specialists.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS cont’d
6.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty cont’d
(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group estimates that the useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the time the assets are acquired
based on historical experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, and technical obsolescence
arising from changes in the market demands or service output of the assets. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to changes in factors mentioned above. Changes in these factors could impact the useful lives
and the residual values of the assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(c)

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits would be available against which the losses and capital
allowances could be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that could be recognised, based on the likely timing and extent of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies.

(d)

Impairment of non-current assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for its assets at the end of each reporting
period. Assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Such assessment requires management to make an estimate of the recoverable amounts and
where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying amounts of
assets. In assessing such impairment, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated using the latest
available fair value after taking into account the costs to sell or expected value in use of the relevant assets.

(e)

Fair value of investment properties
Fair values of investment properties are determined based on cost, investment and comparison methods. It is
performed by a registered independent valuer with appropriate recognised professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued.

(f )

Impairment of receivables
The Group makes impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment is applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Management specifically analyses historical bad debt, customer
concentration, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms
when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of impairment of receivables. Where expectations differ
from the original estimates, the differences would impact the carrying amount of receivables.

(g)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and associates and amounts owing by subsidiaries and associates
The Company reviews the investments in subsidiaries and associates for impairment when there is an
indication of impairment and assess the impairment of receivables on the amounts owing by subsidiaries and
associates when the receivables are long outstanding.
The recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiaries and associates and amounts owing by
subsidiaries and associates are assessed by reference to the value in use of the respective subsidiaries and
associates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS cont’d
6.3

Key sources of estimation uncertainty cont’d
(g)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and associates and amounts owing by subsidiaries and associates
cont’d
The value in use is the net present value of the projected future cash flows derived from the business
operations of the respective subsidiaries and associates discounted at an appropriate discount rate. For such
discounted cash flow method, it involves the use of estimated future results and a set of assumptions to
reflect their income and cash flows. Judgement had also been used to determine the discount rate for the
cash flows and the future growth of the businesses of the subsidiaries and associates.

(h)

Fair value measurement
The financial and non-financial assets and liabilities that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair
value are grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 based on the degree to which the fair value inputs are observable.
(i)

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

(ii)

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

(iii)

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used in the fair
value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in the period they occur.
The Group engages valuer and professional consultant to perform valuations on various assets as disclosed
separately in the respective notes to the financial statements. These valuation reports would be tabled
annually to the Audit Committee for approval, where applicable.
The Group measures these elements in the financial statements at fair value:
(i)

Investment properties, Note 8 to the financial statements; and

(ii)

Financial instruments, Note 36 to the financial statements.
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7.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group
2014

Balance
as at
1.1.2014

Additions

RM

RM

Reclassification

Translation
adjustments

Written
off

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

Balance
as at
31.12.2014

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

Carrying amount
Sales gallery

1,468,885

-

-

-

-

(442,680)

1,026,205

Hotel properties
- Freehold land

-

3,488,227

-

-

-

12,905,848

- Hotel building

-

-

26,800,106

-

-

-*

26,800,106

- Plant and equipment

-

-

1,625,898

-

-

-*

1,625,898

Office equipment,
furniture, fittings
and fixtures and
renovation

2,713,767

Motor vehicles

9,417,621

4,608,808

919,218

26

(339,130)

(1,860,735)

6,041,954

364,609

134,060

-

-

-

(144,125)

354,544

Plant and equipment

36,297,208

11,224,283

-

-

-

(10,659,202)

36,862,289

Hotel properties under
construction

14,063,671

17,850,560

(31,914,231)

-

-

-

Construction-inprogress

10,111,899

4,467,141

(919,218)

-

-

-

65,020,039

47,702,473

*

-

26

(339,130)

13,659,822

(13,106,742)

99,276,666

No depreciation charged for the current financial year as the hotel opened for business on 2 January 2015.

At 31.12.2014

Sales gallery

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Translation
adjustments

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

RM

2,213,402

(1,187,197)

-

1,026,205

Hotel properties
- Freehold land

12,905,848

-

-

12,905,848

- Hotel building

26,800,106

-

-

26,800,106

1,625,898

-

-

1,625,898

- Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures
and renovation
Motor vehicles

16,908,244

(10,866,316)

26

6,041,954

1,236,189

(881,645)

-

354,544

Plant and equipment

63,037,450

(26,175,161)

-

36,862,289

Construction-in-progress

13,659,822

-

13,659,822

138,386,959

(39,110,319)

26

99,276,666
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7.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT cont’d
Group

Additions

Transfer from
investment
properties
(Note 8)

RM

RM

Balance
as at
1.1.2013
RM

Sales gallery

1,808,887

98,602

Office equipment,
furniture, fittings
and fixtures and
renovation

1,750,231

2,108,789

-

222,552

350,620

-

36,790,061 12,695,218

-

2013

Disposals

Translation
adjustments

Written
off

Depreciation
charge for the
financial year

Balance
as at
31.12.2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

(438,604)

1,468,885

(1,121,810)

2,713,767

(134,913)

364,609

(11,281,690)

36,297,208

Carrying amount

Motor vehicles
Plant and
equipment
Hotel properties
under
construction

2,845,008

3,838,028

Construction-inprogress

8,817,794

1,294,105

52,234,533 20,385,362

-

7,380,635
7,380,635

-

-

-

-

15

(73,650)

-

(23,458)
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

14,063,671

-

-

-

-

10,111,899

(73,650)

(1,906,381)

15

(1,929,839)

(12,977,017)

65,020,039

At 31.12.2013

Sales gallery

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Translation
adjustments

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

RM

2,213,402

(744,517)

12,120,018

(9,406,266)

1,102,129

(737,520)

Plant and equipment

51,813,167

(15,515,959)

-

36,297,208

Hotel properties under construction

14,063,671

-

-

14,063,671

Construction-in-progress

10,111,899

-

-

10,111,899

Office equipment, furniture, fittings and fixtures
and renovation
Motor vehicles

91,424,286

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

(26,404,262)

-

1,468,885
15

-

2,713,767
364,609

15

65,020,039
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7.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT cont’d
Company

2014

Balance as at
1.1.2014

Depreciation
charge for
the financial
year

Balance as at
31.12.2014

RM

RM

RM

Carrying amount
Office equipment

1,616

(576)

1,040

At 31.12.2014

Office equipment

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

3,200

Company

2013

(2,160)

1,040

Balance as at
1.1.2013

Depreciation
charge for
the financial
year

Balance as at
31.12.2013

RM

RM

RM

2,192

(576)

1,616

Carrying amount
Office equipment

At 31.12.2013

Office equipment

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
amount

RM

RM

RM

3,200

(1,584)

1,616

(a)

Included in hotel properties of the Group is freehold land provided by a company pursuant to the Joint Venture
arrangement as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

(b)

During the financial year, the Group made the following cash payments to purchase property, plant and equipment:
Group

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Adjustment of purchase consideration of freehold land
Accrued development cost of property, plant and equipment

2014

2013

RM

RM

47,702,473

20,385,362

-

1,381,853

(828,085)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment via issuance of ICULS and RCULS

(9,417,621)

Unsettled and remained as other payables

(3,487,617)

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant and equipment

33,969,150

(2,271,005)
(700,783)
18,795,427
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8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

71,075,000

65,460,000

7,400,000

6,910,000

Note
At fair value
At 1 January
Transfer to property, plant and equipment

7

-

(7,380,635)

-

-

-

7,718,836

Net fair value gain recognised in statements
of comprehensive income

1,428,787

12,995,635

30,000

490,000

80,222,623

71,075,000

7,430,000

7,400,000

At 31 December

-

-

Additions due to JV Ratification

At cost
At 1 January

2,298,008

-

-

-

Investment properties under construction

191,396,937

2,298,008

-

-

At 31 December

193,694,945

2,298,008

-

-

Total investment properties

273,917,568

73,373,008

(a)

7,430,000

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties generating rental income during the financial year are
as follows:
Group

(b)

7,400,000

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

Repair and maintenance

262,936

451,160

25,810

49,858

Quit rent and assessment

174,661

108,697

59,683

54,697

437,597

559,857

85,493

104,555

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that did not generate rental income during the
financial year are as follows:
Group

Quit rent and assessment

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

2014

2013

RM

RM

53,082

-
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8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES cont’d
Title deeds
Title deeds pertaining to certain investment properties of RM262,367,568 shall be transferred to a subsidiary’s name upon
issuance of strata titles.
Freehold land
Freehold land in respect of the investment properties is provided by a company pursuant to the Joint Venture
arrangement as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
Investment properties under construction
Investment properties under construction represent car park lots, performing art and convention centre under
construction. The fair value of investment properties under construction cannot be reliably and separately determined
until the construction is completed or the fair value becomes reliably determinable, whichever is earlier.
Fair value
The fair value of investment properties of the Group and the Company are categorised as follows:
Group

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

-

52,122,623

28,100,000

80,222,623

Investment properties

-

43,875,000

27,200,000

71,075,000

Company

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

2014
Investment properties
2013

2014
Investment properties

-

7,430,000

-

7,430,000

-

7,400,000

-

7,400,000

2013
Investment properties

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the financial years ended 31
December 2014 and 31 December 2013.
Fair values of investment properties are based on valuation reports dated 15 January 2015 and 23 January 2015 by
registered independent valuers with appropriate recognised professional qualification and have recent experience in the
location and category of the investment properties being valued.
Fair value is determined based on cost, investment and comparison methods of valuations using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3 inputs) and observable inputs (Level 2 inputs) respectively. Changes in fair value are recognised in the
statements of comprehensive income during the period in which they are reviewed.
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8.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES cont’d
Fair value cont’d
The unobservable inputs include:
Term rental

-

the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve and is derived from
current rental, including revision upon renewal of tenancies during the year;

Outgoings

-

including quit rent and assessment, service charges, utilities costs, and repair and maintenance;

Reversionary rental

-

the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve upon expiring of
term rental;

Yield

-

based on actual location, size and condition of the investment properties and taking into
account market data at the valuation date;

Allowance for void

-

allowance provided for vacancy period

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December 2014 and
31 December 2013 are as follows:
Parameters
Valuation
technique

Fair value

Term rental

Out-going

Reversionary
rental

Yield

Allowance
for void

RM

RM psf

RM psf

RM psf

%

%

Investment
method

28,100,000

3.26 - 3.60

0.51

3.90

6.50

5.00

Investment
method

27,200,000

3.26 - 3.60

0.74

3.90

6.00

5.00

2014
Block M, Data
Centre
2013
Block M, Data
Centre

The following table shows a reconciliation of balances of investment properties whose fair values have been classified in
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
Group

At 1 January
Transfer into Level 3
Additions
Fair value adjustment recognised in statements of comprehensive income
At 31 December

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

2014

2013

RM

RM

27,200,000
1,626,213
(726,213)
28,100,000

26,000,000
1,200,000
27,200,000
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9.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2014

2013

RM

RM

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

8,350,662

7,850,662

Less: Impairment loss

(3,454,278)

(3,454,278)

Quasi-equity loan to subsidiaries

4,896,384

4,396,384

403,125,771

164,163,839

408,022,155

168,560,223

Quasi-equity loan to subsidiaries is in respect of advances and payments made on behalf, which are not expected to
be settled in the foreseeable future. These amounts are, in substance, part of the investments in the subsidiaries of the
Company.
The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:
Equity interest
Country of
incorporation

2014

2013

%

%

I-City Marketing Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Property developer, contractor for
construction work, land and property
owner, property and complex manager

I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Property developer, contractor for
construction work, land and property
owner, marketing and management of
events, leisure and other tourism related
activities

I-City (Selangor) Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Management and development of i-City,
Shah Alam as a MSC Malaysia Cybercentre
and Technopreneur Campus

City Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Property developers and contractors for
construction work, land and property
owners

World Citypoint Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Property developers and contractors for
construction work, land and property
owners

I-City (MM2H) Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

-

Property management and advisory
services in relation to the Malaysia My
Second Home Programme

Name of company

Principal activities
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9.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES cont’d
The details of the subsidiaries are as follows: cont’d
Equity interest
Country of
incorporation

2014

2013

%

%

Malaysia

100

100

Investment holding and property
development activities

Malaysia

100

100

Advertising agent, advertiser and
advertising contractor

Malaysia

100

100

Investment and property holdings

I-City Travel Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

-

Travel agents and transportation service
provider

I-Office2 Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

80

80

Management of network and telephony
services

I-Silicon Sdn. Bhd. and its
subsidiaries:

Malaysia

100

100

Investment holding, property management
and property investment

I-City Resorts Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100

100

Promotion, marketing and management of
events, leisure and other tourism related
activities

People’s
Republic of
China

100

100

Under member’s voluntary liquidation

Name of company
I-Marcom Sdn. Bhd. and its
subsidiary:
I-Think Sdn. Bhd.

I-R&D Sdn. Bhd. and its
subsidiaries:

I-Digital (Shanghai) Trading Co.
Ltd. *

*

Principal activities

Not audited by BDO or BDO member firms and audited financial statements of this subsidiary is not available as it is in the process of
members’ voluntary winding up.

On 11 March 2014, I-R & D Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has incorporated a new wholly owned
subsidiary namely I-City Travel Sdn. Bhd. with having an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000 ordinary
shares of RM1.00 each and a paid-up capital of RM200,000 divided into 200,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each. The
principal activities of the new subsidiary are engaged as travel agents and transportation service provider.
On 7 April 2014, the Company further subscribed 450,000 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each at par in I-Marcom Sdn.
Bhd. for a cash consideration of RM450,000.
On 17 June 2014, the Company has incorporated a new wholly owned subsidiary namely I-City (MM2H) Sdn. Bhd. with
having an authorised capital of RM400,000 divided into 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each and a paid-up capital of
RM50,000 divided into 50,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each. The principal activities of the new subsidiary are engaged
in providing property management and advisory services in relation to the Malaysia My Second Home Programme.
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10.

ASSOCIATES
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

40,004

40,004

130,181

93,473

170,185

133,477

408,000

440,000

578,185

573,477

170,185

133,477

At cost:
- Unquoted equity shares
- Share of post acquisition reserves, net of dividends received

Amount owing by an associate

Represented by:
The Group’s share of net assets
The Group’s share of assets and liabilities of an associate is as follows:
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

Non-current assets

391,485

490,583

Current assets

231,229

211,854

Assets and liabilities

Non-current liabilities

(17,800)

(17,800)

Current liabilities

(434,729)

(551,160)

Net assets

170,185

133,477

Revenue

513,770

528,101

Expenses including taxation

(477,062)

(469,932)

36,708

58,169

Net profit for the financial year

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

94

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

10.

ASSOCIATES cont’d
(a)

Amount owing by an associate represents advances for the associate’s working capital requirements, which are
interest-free, unsecured and settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.
The details of the associates are as follows:
Equity interest
Country of
incorporation

2014

2013

%

%

Principal activities

Malaysia

40

40

Hotel operator

CentralPlaza I-City Malls
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
and its subsidiary: *

Malaysia

40

40

Investment holding

CentralPlaza I-City Sdn. Bhd.
and its subsidiary: *

Malaysia

40

40

Property management

Central Plaza I-City Real
Estate Sdn. Bhd. *

Malaysia

40

40

Property developer and property
owner

Name of company
Held by I-R&D Sdn. Bhd.:
I-City Hotel Sdn. Bhd. *
Held by I-City Properties Sdn.
Bhd.:

*

11.

Not audited by BDO or BDO member firms.

OTHER INVESTMENTS
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

- Unquoted shares in Malaysia

191,000

191,000

-

-

Less: Impairment loss

(190,999)

(190,999)

-

-

-

-

Non-current
Available-for-sale financial assets

Total non-current other investments

1

1

- Quoted shares in Malaysia

38,556

38,556

38,556

38,556

Total other investments

38,557

38,557

38,556

38,556

Current
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Information on the fair value hierarchy is disclosed in Note 36(c) to the financial statements.
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12.

GOODWILL
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

Cost

4,333,279

4,333,279

Less: Accumulated impairment loss

(4,333,279)

(4,333,279)

Balance as at 31 December

13.

-

-

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

41,037,795

38,387,522

311,377,139

2,650,273

Freehold land, at cost
Opening balance
Additions during the financial year
Transfer to inventories
Closing balance

(74,765)

-

352,340,169

41,037,795

Opening balance

184,752,156

119,683,596

Additions during the financial year

170,740,835

65,068,560

Development costs

Transfer to inventories
Closing balance

(590,207)

-

354,902,724

184,752,156

707,242,953

225,789,951

Opening balance

(164,117,357)

(101,442,960)

Additions during the financial year

(132,322,909)

(62,674,397)

Closing balance

(296,440,266)

(164,117,357)

410,802,687

61,672,594

352,340,169

41,037,795

Total land and development costs
Less: Accumulated costs recognised as an expense in statements of
comprehensive income

Property development costs are analysed as follows:
Freehold land, at cost
Development costs

354,902,784

184,752,156

Accumulated costs recognised as an expense in statements of comprehensive income

(296,440,266)

(164,117,357)

410,802,687

61,672,594
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13.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS cont’d
Included in property development costs incurred as at 31 December 2014 of the Group is interest expense of
RM10,240,981 (2013: RM6,278,573).
Freehold land
The freehold land under development is provided by Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. (‘Sumurwang’), the immediate holding
company, pursuant to the Joint Venture (‘JV’) agreement dated 28 February 2006 to develop of a piece of freehold land
held under Geran No. 27449, Lot No. 4598, Mukim of Bukit Raja, District of Bukit Raja, District of Petaling, Selangor Darul
Ehsan, designated as the ‘i-City Project’.
As a Director of the Company has substantial interests in Sumurwang, the transaction arising from the JV agreement is
considered as a related party transaction. Hence, the transaction was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 24 May 2006 as well as by the relevant authorities.
On 4 June 2007, as part of a restructuring scheme, Sumurwang had disposed off the freehold land to The Peak @ KLCC
Sdn. Bhd. (‘The Peak @ KLCC’), which is a related party.
Pursuant to the above, on 10 February 2009, the Company entered into a new JV agreement with The Peak @ KLCC,
whereby the terms and conditions are similar to the original JV agreement entered into with Sumurwang on 28 February
2006 except for certain amendments made to the termination clauses.
In the current financial year, the Company entered into a ratification of the JV agreement dated 10 February 2009 with The
Peak @ KLCC in place of the JV agreement dated 28 February 2006 entered into between the Company and Sumurwang
Sdn. Bhd. for the development of the said project (‘JV Ratification’).
The JV Ratification will enable the Company and the Group to continue with its plan to engage in property development
activities on the freehold land as envisaged under the JV agreement dated 28 February 2006 with The Peak @ KLCC in
accordance with the terms of the JV agreement dated 10 February 2009 in the Group’s ordinary course of business, which
has been carrying on since 2006. As a result, the JV Ratification will also enable the Group to continue with the existing
projects currently in progress as well as potential future development projects within the freehold land.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had accrued an amount of RM14,790,341 (2013: RM35,564,791) for the
purchase consideration of the freehold land.
When the properties under construction are completed and sold, title deeds will be transferred directly from Sumuracres
Sdn. Bhd. and Sumurwang to the end purchasers.

14.

INVENTORIES
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

55,122,126

54,457,154

At cost
Completed properties held for sale
Consumables

55,122,126

14,373
54,471,527

When the completed properties are sold, title deeds will be transferred directly from Sumurwang to the end purchasers.
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

31,924,744

15,675,308

Note
Trade receivables

a

Less: Impairment losses

Company

2014

(637,472)
31,287,272

(599,841)
15,075,467

-

-

-

-

-

-

Amounts owing by:
Subsidiaries

b

-

-

340,725,493

14,670,146

Related companies

b

443,678

429,057

30,000

30,000

443,678

429,057

340,755,493

14,700,146

9,336,813

107,103

16,192

14,600

(3,000)

(3,000)

13,192

11,600

Other receivables

c

Less: Impairment losses

(3,000)

Deposits
Loans and receivables
Prepayments
Accrued billings in respect of property
development

c

(3,000)

9,333,813

104,103

6,503,733

4,667,345

47,568,496

20,275,972

340,768,685

1,866,639

5,799,386

6,000

57,396,193

35,819,399

59,262,832

41,618,785

6,000

106,831,328

61,894,757

340,774,685

-

-

-

14,711,746
14,711,746

(a)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted by the Group ranges from 1 to
60 days (2013: 1 to 60 days). They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values
on initial recognition.

(b)

Amounts owing by subsidiaries and related companies represent advances and payments made on behalf, which
are unsecured, interest-free and payable upon demand in cash and cash equivalents.

(c)

Included in other receivables and prepayments of the Group are advanced payments for property developments
during the financial year of RM8,993,446 (2013: RM5,072,323).

(d)

The currency exposure profile of receivables are as follows:
Group

Chinese Renminbi

2014

2013

RM

RM

6,135

5,809
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES cont’d
(e)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group are as follows:
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

15,333,265

14,185,993

1 to 30 days

3,745,284

192,066

31 to 60 days

2,845,002

140,090

61 to 90 days

459,824

72,042

8,903,897

485,276

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due, not impaired

More than 91 days

15,954,007

889,474

637,472

599,841

31,924,744

15,675,308

Past due and impaired

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially property purchasers.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk from its property development activities as its services and
products are predominantly rendered and sold to large number of property purchasers with financing facilities from
reputable financiers.
Trade receivables are monitored on an on-going basis via Group management reporting procedures. Credit risks
with respect to trade receivables are limited as the ownership and rights to the properties revert to the Group in the
event of default.
None of the trade receivables of the Group that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during
the financial year.
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired are substantially property purchasers.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk from its property development activities as its services and
products are predominantly rendered and sold to large number of property purchasers with financing facilities from
reputable financiers.
Trade receivables are monitored on an on-going basis via Group management reporting procedures. Credit risks
with respect to trade receivables are limited as the ownership and rights to the properties revert to the Group in the
event of default.
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES cont’d
(e)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group are as follows: cont’d
Receivables that are past due and impaired
Trade receivables of the Group that are past due and impaired at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Individually impaired
Group

2014

2013

RM

RM

Trade receivables, gross

637,472

599,841

Less: Impairment losses

(637,472)

(599,841)

-

-

Movements on the Group’s impairment losses of trade receivables are as follows:
Group

At 1 January

2014

2013

RM

RM

599,841

595,788

37,631

4,053

637,472

599,841

Charge for the financial year
At 31 December

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of each reporting period relate to
those receivables that exhibit significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are
not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

16.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Group
Note

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

47,484

54,813

Cash and bank balances

d

2,076,883

2,233,802

Cash at bank held under Housing
Development Accounts

a

1,940,196

1,340,441

Deposits with licensed banks

b

5,384,517

3,055,376

39,000

Deposits with licensed financial institutions

b

154,072,557

477,125

154,025,671

163,474,153

7,106,744

154,112,155

As reported in statements of financial position

-

2,048,789
2,103,602

Less:
Fixed deposit pledged with a licensed bank
(more than 90 days)
As reported in statements of cash flows

(4,279,000)
159,195,153

(39,000)
7,067,744

(39,000)
154,073,155

(39,000)
2,064,602
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16.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES cont’d
(a)

Bank balances held under the Housing Development Accounts represents receipts from purchasers of residential
properties less payments as withdrawals provided under Section 7A of the Housing Development (Control and
Licensing) Amendment Act 2002 and Housing Development (Housing Development Account) Regulation 1991 in
connection to the Group’s property development projects.

(b)

Included in deposits with licensed banks and licensed financial institutions of the Group are as follows:

(c)

(i)

an amount of RM154,016,000 (2013: Nil) being unutilised rights issue proceeds, which were restricted for
certain usage as prescribed by the relevant authorities, and

(ii)

amounts of RM4,279,000 (2013: RM39,000) pledged to a licensed bank as security bank guarantee.

The effective interest rates per annum as at the end of the financial year for the Group and the Company are as
follows:
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

%

%

%

%

Cash at bank held under Housing
Development Accounts

2.00%

1.75%

Deposits with licensed banks

3.46%

2.33%

2.80%

2.80%

Deposits with financial institutions

3.80%

2.79%

3.80%

2.79%

-

-

(d)

The bank balances are deposits held at call with banks and earn no interest.

(e)

Deposits with licensed banks and financial institutions have maturity periods ranges from 1 to 365 days (2013: 1 to
30 days).

(f )

Issuance of ICULS and RCULS of RM301,300,000 and RM201,000,000 respectively for acquisitions of SOHO land,
Towerland and Kia Peng land, which are non-cash items.

(g)

The currency exposure profile of cash and bank balances of the Group is as follows:
Group

Chinese Renminbi (‘RMB’)
United States Dollar (‘USD’)
Sterling Pound (‘GBP’)
Hong Kong Dollar (‘HKD’)

2014

2013

RM

RM

1,106,559

1,017,418

2,922

109

283

283

93

93

1,479

1,479

Taiwan Dollar (‘TWD’)

253

253

Korean Won (‘KRW’)

428

429

1,112,017

1,020,064

Brunei Dollar (‘BND’)
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17.

SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2014

2013

Number
of shares

RM

Number
of shares

RM

200,000,000

200,000,000

Authorised:
At 1 January (ordinary shares of RM1.00 each)

200,000,000

200,000,000

Created during the financial year

800,000,000

800,000,000

-

-

-

-

Share Split, into RM0.50 each

1,000,000,000

-

At 31 December

2,000,000,000

1,000,000,000

200,000,000

200,000,000

At 1 January (ordinary shares of RM1.00 each)

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

114,486,356

Share Split, into RM0.50 each

114,486,356

Issued and fully paid:
-

-

-

Issued pursuant to:
- Rights Issue

286,215,890

143,107,945

-

-

- Bonus Issue

103,037,720

51,518,860

-

-

- conversion of ICULS

111,785,165

55,892,582

-

-

730,011,487

365,005,743

At 31 December

114,486,356

114,486,356

Authorised share capital
On 22 July 2014, the authorised Share Capital of the Company was increased from RM200,000,000 comprising 200,000,000
ordinary shares of RM1.00 each to RM1,000,000,000 comprising 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each by way of
creation of additional capital of 800,000,000 ordinary share of RM1.00 each.
On 11 August 2014, the Company subdivided every one authorised ordinary share of RM1.00 each in the Company into
two ordinary shares (‘Subdivided Shares’) of RM0.50 each in the Company (‘Share Split’). Pursuant to the Share Split,
1,000,000,000 authorised ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company were subdivided into 2,000,000,000 authorised
ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the Company.
Issued and paid up share capital
During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased from RM114,486,356 to
RM365,005,743 by way of:
(a)

Share Split of 114,486,356 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company into 228,972,712 ordinary shares of
RM0.50 each in the Company;

(b)

issuance of 286,215,890 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each (‘Rights Shares’) at RM0.69 per ordinary share for cash
on the basis of five Rights Shares for every four existing ordinary shares and one Warrant for every five Rights Shares
subscribed for working capital purposes (‘Rights Issue with Warrants’);

(c)

issuance of 103,037,720 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at par on the basis of one bonus share for every five
ordinary shares held (‘Bonus Issue’); and

(d)

issuance of 111,785,165 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each pursuant to the conversion of RM76,013,944 nominal
value Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks converted at RM0.68 per ordinary share.
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17.

SHARE CAPITAL cont’d
Issued and paid up share capital cont’d
On 14 October 2014, the Company allotted 57,243,178 free detachable warrants on the basis of one warrant for every five
Rights Shares (‘Rights Issues with Warrants’) subscribed for by entitled shareholders at an issue price of RM0.69 per Rights
Shares. Pursuant to and as a consequence of the Bonus Issue, an additional 11,448,635 Warrants issued on a proportionate
basis to Warrant Holders on 15 October 2014 (‘The Adjustment’) and The Adjustment has resulted the exercise price of all
the Warrants from RM1.69 to RM1.41 (‘Exercise Price Adjustment’).
The Warrants have tenure of five years from and inclusive of the date of the issuance of the Warrant (‘Exercise Period’).
Each Warrant carries the entitlement to subscribe for one new ordinary share at the exercise price of RM1.41 at any time of
the Exercise Period, any Warrant not exercised during the Exercise Period will thereafter lapse and become void.
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company. There
were no other issues of shares or debentures during the financial year.

18.

EXCHANGE TRANSLATION RESERVE
The exchange translation reserve is used to record foreign currency exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the presentation
currency of the Group. It is also used to record the exchange differences arising from monetary items which form part of
the net investment of the Group in foreign operations, where the monetary item is denominated in either the functional
currency of the reporting entity or the foreign operation.

19.

TREASURY SHARES
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2006, the shareholders of the
Company renewed the authority given to the Directors to repurchase the Company’s own shares based on the following
terms:
(i)

The number of ordinary shares to be purchased and/or held shall not exceed 10% of its existing issued and paid up
ordinary share capital of the Company;

(ii)

The amount to be utilised for the repurchase of shares by the Company shall not exceed the total retained earnings
and share premium of the Company; and

(iii)

The Directors may retain the ordinary shares so purchased as treasury shares and may resell such treasury shares
in a manner they deem fit in accordance with the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable guidelines of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad.
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19.

TREASURY SHARES cont’d
On 20, 21, 22, 25, 26, 28 and 29 August 2014, a total of 971,890 treasury shares were sold in Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad (‘Bursa Malaysia’) with proceeds amounting to RM1,983,341. Details of repurchase of ordinary shares in the
previous financial years and balance as at the financial year end were as follows:
Average
purchase
price

Number of
shares
purchased

Total
consideration

RM
Balance as at 1 January 2006

5,997,900

5,717,918

January 2007

0.95

73,100

69,340

February 2007

1.04

43,200

45,020

March 2007

1.07

324,700

346,927

April 2007

1.39

1,646,100

2,291,390

8,085,000

8,470,595

(7,599,055)

(7,961,474)

Balance as at 31 December 2007
Less: Share dividend

1.05

As at 1 January 2014 (ordinary shares of RM1.00 each)

485,945

509,121

Share Split, into RM0.50 each

485,945

-

(971,890)

(1,983,341)

Less: Disposal of treasury shares
Contribution from members

20.

RM

2.04

-

(1,474,220)

IRREDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED LOAN STOCKS
On 14 October 2014 (‘ICULS Listing Date’), the Company completed the issuance of 602,600,000 five-year 2% to 3%
Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM301,300,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘ICULS’)
to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd.
The salient terms of the ICULS are as follows:
a)

Conversion rights and rates
The ICULS are convertible to new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the Company during the conversion period at
the conversion price of RM0.68 per ordinary share of the Company. However, the conversion price would be subject
to further price adjustments against certain dilutive events as stipulated in the document constituting the ICULS
executed between the Trustee and the Company dated 27 August 2014 (‘ICULS Trust Deed’).
Unless previously converted during the conversion period, all outstanding ICULS will be mandatorily converted into
new ordinary shares in the Company at the conversion price on 13 October 2019 (‘Maturity Date’).
The new ordinary shares to be allotted and issued upon conversion of the ICULS would rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

b)

Conversion period
Five years from the ICULS Issue Date up to and on the fifth anniversary of the ICULS Issue Date.
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20.

IRREDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED LOAN STOCKS cont’d
c)

Coupon rate
The ICULS bear a coupon interest rate of ranges from 2.0% to 3.0% per annum based on the nominal value of the
outstanding ICULS, as follows:
Years from Issue Date

Coupon rate per annum

1

Nil

2

2.0%

3

2.5%

4

3.0%

5

3.0%

The coupons are payable in arrears on a semi-annual basis.
d)

Redemption
There will not be any redemption of the ICULS. All outstanding ICULS will be mandatorily converted into new
ordinary shares in the Company at the conversion price on Maturity Date.

The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company are analysed as follows:
Group and Company
2014
RM
Face value of ICULS issued on 14 October 2014

301,300,000

Equity component, net of deferred tax assets

(281,508,585)

Deferred tax assets
Liability component on initial recognition on 14 October 2014

6,249,921
26,041,336

Liability component:
At date of issuance
Interest expense capitalised

26,041,336
286,014
26,327,350

Conversion:
Conversion to ordinary shares
As at 31 December

(6,599,487)
19,727,863

Equity component:
At date of issuance

281,508,585

Conversion to ordinary shares

(71,020,836)

As at 31 December
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21.

REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED LOAN STOCKS
On 27 August 2014 (‘RCULS Issue Date’), the Company issued 264,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible
Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM132,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-A’) to Sumuracres Sdn.
Bhd. as settlement for the acquisition on a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 26180, Lot No. 242, Seksyen 63,
Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (‘Kia Peng Land’).
On the even date, the Company issued 138,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
of RM69,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-B’) to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. as part settlement
for the acquisitions on a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah
Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘SOHO Land’) and a piece of freehold land held under Geran No.
311886, Lot No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Tower Land’).
The salient terms of the RCULS are as follows:
(a)

Conversion rights and rates
The RCULS are convertible to new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the Company during the conversion period.
The conversion price is fixed at RM0.84 for RCULS-A or RM0.71 for RCULS-B per ordinary share of the Company.
However, the conversion price would be subject to further price adjustments against certain dilutive events as
stipulated in the deed polls executed by the Company on 18 August 2014 (‘Deed Poll’).
The new ordinary shares to be allotted and issued upon conversion of the RCULS would rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)

Conversion period
The RCULS are convertible from the period commencing from and including the second anniversary of the RCULS
Issue Date up to and on the fifth anniversary of the RCULS Issue Date.

(c)

Coupon rate
The RCULS bear a coupon interest rate of ranges from 3.0% to 5.0% per annum based on the nominal value of the
outstanding RCULS, as follows:
Years from Issue Date

Coupon rate per annum

1

Nil

2

3.0%

3

4.0%

4

5.0%

5

5.0%

The coupons are payable in arrears on a semi-annual basis
(d)

Redemption
RCULS may at the option of the Company be redeemed, in whole or in part, at any time during the tenure of the
RCULS at 100% of their nominal amount plus accrued interest up to the redemption date with not less than 30 days
prior written notice to the RCULS holder prior to the redemption of RCULS. All RCULS which are redeemed by the
Company shall be cancelled immediately and cannot be resold or reissued.
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21.

REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED LOAN STOCKS cont’d
The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company are analysed as follows:
Group and Company
2014
RM
Face value of RCULS issued on 27 August 2014

201,000,000

Equity component, net of deferred tax liabilities

(14,547,329)

Deferred tax liabilities
Liability component on initial recognition on 27 August 2014

(4,593,894)
181,858,777

Liability component:
At date of issuance
Interest expense capitalised
As at 31 December

181,858,777
3,465,740
185,324,517

Equity component:
At date of issuance/As at 31 December
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22.

DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority.
(a)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statements of financial position:
Group

Deferred tax assets

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

202,157

-

182,494

-

Deferred tax liabilities

2,252,574

2,868,990

-

790,076

At 1 January

2,868,990

2,155,247

790,076

749,159

(Credited)/Charged to statements of
comprehensive income (Note 28)
- property, plant and equipment

106,129

(231,215)

-

- investment properties

171,183

809,611

-

(64)
40,981

- unwinding of discount on:
- ICULS

(68,643)

-

(68,643)

-

- RCULS

(831,778)

-

(831,778)

-

(123,315)

135,347

(746,424)

713,743

- unused tax losses

-

-

(900,421)

40,917

Issuance of ICULS

(6,249,921)

-

(6,249,921)

-

Conversion of ICULS

1,583,878

-

1,583,878

-

Issuance of RCULS

4,593,894

-

4,593,894

-

(72,149)
At 31 December

2,050,417

2,868,990

(72,149)
(182,494)

790,076

Subject to income tax
Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)
- unused tax losses

123,315

-

-

-

- property, plant and equipment

912,976

630,352

-

-

- ICULS

Offsetting
Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)

4,734,686

-

4,734,686

-

5,770,977

630,352

4,734,686

-

(5,568,820)

(630,352)

(4,552,192)

-

202,157

-

182,494

-
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22.

DEFERRED TAX cont’d
(a)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statements of financial position:
cont’d
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

- investment properties

2,684,892

2,513,709

790,073

790,073

- property, plant and equipment

1,374,386

985,633

3

3

- RCULS

3,762,116

-

Subject to income tax
Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)

7,821,394

(b)

Offsetting

(5,568,820)

Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)

2,252,574

3,499,342
(630,352)
2,868,990

3,762,116

-

4,552,192

790,076

(4,552,192)

-

-

790,076

The amounts of temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised in the statements of
financial position are as follows:
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

Unused tax losses

7,206,344

7,331,232

Unabsorbed capital allowances

6,560,153

6,681,756

13,766,497

14,012,988

Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries have not been recognised in respect of these items as it is not probable
that taxable profits of the subsidiaries would be available against which the deductible temporary differences could
be utilised.
The deductible temporary differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.
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23.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

29,862,512

12,276,569

-

-

14,145,607

6,344,373

-

-

44,008,119

18,620,942

-

-

Note
Third parties

a

Retention sum

Company

2014

Other payables

8,468,202

5,715,952

143

26,324

Deposits

8,321,403

5,360,543

92,743

92,743

b

75,239,244

69,260,952

260,704

434,912

- a related party

c

176,820

585,792

-

-

- immediate holding company

c

-

5,000,000

-

- subsidiaries

c

-

Accruals
Amounts owing to:

-

5,000,000

4,257,905

747,723

92,205,669

85,923,239

4,611,495

6,301,702

136,213,788

104,544,181

4,611,495

6,301,702

(a)

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group ranges from 1 to 90
days (2013: 1 to 90 days) from date of invoice.

(b)

Included in accruals of the Group are accruals for the purchase consideration of RM71,192,634 (2013: RM66,236,438)
in respect of the i-City project, which comprises of interest of RM932,588 (2013: RM5,779,816).

(c)

Amounts owing to a related party, immediate holding company and subsidiaries represent advances and payments
made on behalf, which are unsecured, interest-free and payable upon demand in cash and cash equivalents.

(d)

The currency exposure profile of payables of the Group are as follows:
Group

Chinese Renminbi

2014

2013

RM

RM

22,269

11,832
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24.

REVENUE
Group

Property development revenue

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

201,239,285

94,924,240

-

-

Rental income

8,847,543

7,995,214

-

-

Maintenance fee

1,120,382

1,059,698

-

-

47,781,476

46,889,995

-

-

Income from leisure activities
Services rendered
Others
Dividend income from subsidiaries

968,732

992,321

-

-

1,156,844

286,371

-

-

261,114,262

25.

Company

2014

152,147,839

25,000,000

9,000,000

25,000,000

9,000,000

COST OF SALES
Group

Property development costs

2014

2013

RM

RM

126,540,974

55,270,775

Lease rental

6,682,830

8,331,151

Maintenance costs

2,151,982

2,960,604

24,060,608

19,658,580

576,357

423,307

160,012,751

86,644,417

Leisure activities costs
Services rendered
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26.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

- current year

132,500

119,004

40,000

35,000

- under provision in prior year

-

Note
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration:
- statutory

1,000

-

-

- non-statutory
- current year

16,000

208,000

13,000

208,000

- under provision in prior year

67,000

13,000

60,000

13,000

7

13,106,742

12,977,017

576

576

27(a)

13,628,529

9,452,621

-

-

768,500

662,500

175,000

175,000

1,373,188

358,727

-

24,000

37,631

7,053

-

3,000

339,130

1,929,839

-

1,001,498

201,198

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit costs
Directors’ fees
Directors’ remuneration other than fees

27(b)

Impairment losses on trade and other
receivables
Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Rental expense

7

52,000

60,000

And crediting:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Interest income
Rental income

27.

-

48,940

-

-

1,725,485

296,855

1,682,568

72,146

287,624

415,252

286,724

265,252

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COSTS
(a)

Employee benefit costs
Group

Wages, salaries and bonuses
Other employee benefits

(b)

2014

2013

RM

RM

12,701,619

8,677,912

926,910

774,709

13,628,529

9,452,621

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind provided to the Directors of the Group by the way of usage of
the Group’s assets and the provision of other benefits during the financial year amounted to RM1,373,188 (2013:
RM358,727).

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

112

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

28.

TAX EXPENSE/(INCOME)
Group

Income tax expense based on taxable profit for the
financial year
Under-provision in prior year

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

16,207,008

8,090,401

140,561

544,419

209,588

20,395

88,293

16,751,427

8,299,989

160,956

88,293

(900,421)

40,917

-

Deferred tax (Note 22):
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Under/(Over)-provision in prior year

(776,572)

818,616

30,148

(104,873)

(746,424)

713,743

(900,421)

40,917

9,013,732

(739,465)

129,210

16,005,003

-

-

The subsidiary of the Company, I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd. has been awarded Pioneer Status by the Government
of Malaysia under the Promotion of Investments (Amendment) Act, 1986. Accordingly, there is 30% tax charge on the
business income of the subsidiary. The Pioneer Status was for the period from 15 November 2012 to 14 November 2017
for the subsidiary respectively.
The salient terms of the Pioneer Status are as follows:
(i)

70% tax exemption on business income;

(ii)

unabsorbed pioneer capital allowances can be carried forward to the post pioneer period; and

(iii)

unabsorbed pioneer losses can be carried forward to the post pioneer period.

Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) of the estimated taxable profits for the
fiscal year.
Tax expense of other taxation authorities, if any, are calculated at the rates prevailing in those respective jurisdictions.
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28.

TAX EXPENSE/(INCOME) cont’d
The numerical reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable
tax rates of the Group and of the Company are as follows:
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

Profit before tax

69,443,358

52,982,755

21,338,271

8,566,693

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate

17,360,840

13,245,689

5,334,568

2,141,673

Tax effects in respect of:
Non-allowable expenses

1,709,005

Non-taxable income
Tax exempt income under pioneer status
Utilisation of previously unused tax losses

1,210,234

477,714
(6,572,142)

247,310

(803,771)

(2,494,727)

(2,348,066)

(2,774,015)

(2,841,726)

-

-

(132,828)

(369,326)

-

-

Utilisation of previously unrecognised capital
allowances

(30,545)

(17,912)

-

-

Unused tax losses not recognised

101,606

85,952

-

-

144

90,833

-

-

15,430,436

8,909,017

574,567

104,715

16,005,003

9,013,732

Unabsorbed capital allowances not recognised

Under-provision in prior years

(759,860)

40,917

20,395

88,293

(739,465)

129,210

Tax savings of the Group are as follows:
Group

Arising from utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses
Arising from utilisation of previously unrecognised capital allowances

2014

2013

RM

RM

132,828

369,326

30,545

17,912

Subject to the agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, the Group and the Company had unutilised reinvestment
allowances amounting to approximately RM584,000 (2013: RM584,000), which are available to set off against future
taxable income.
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29.

COMMITMENTS - OPERATING LEASE
(a)

The Group and the Company as lessee
The Group sold its developed properties to third parties under sale and leaseback arrangements in prior years.
The developed properties were leased back by the Group for a period of two years. The future minimum lease
commitments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Group

Less than one year
Between one and five years

2014

2013

RM

RM

7,255,278

6,755,278

-

7,255,278

7,255,278

14,010,556

The Group and the Company had entered into non-cancellable operating lease arrangements for office lots under
operating leases for a term of one to three years, with an option to renew the leases. None of the leases include
contingent rentals. The future minimum lease commitments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Group and Company
2014

2013

RM

RM

Less than one year

36,000

18,000

Between one and five years

18,000
54,000

(b)

18,000

The Group and the Company as lessor
The Group and the Company had entered into non-cancellable lease arrangements on certain investment
properties for a term of one to two years. The future minimum lease receivables as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

Less than one year

5,608,005

6,903,706

158,537

254,724

Between one and five years

2,735,530

3,724,724

-

147,512

8,343,535

10,628,430

158,537

402,236
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30.

COMMITMENTS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

17,417,752

36,417,406

Capital expenditure in respect of purchase of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties:
- Contracted but not provided for

31.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Company

Bank guarantees given to third parties in respect of services rendered to subsidiaries

2014

2013

RM

RM

2,222,500

1,811,000

The Directors are of the view that the chances to call upon the corporate guarantees are not probable. The fair value of
such financial corporate guarantees is negligible as the probability of the Group defaulting on the payment is remote.

32.

EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
(a)

Basic
Basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year
attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the financial year, after taking into consideration of treasury shares held by the Company.
Group

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

2014

2013

RM

RM

53,411,108

43,968,494
Group

2014

2013
Restated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, net of treasury shares

114,486,356

114,000,411

- Share Split

114,486,356

114,000,411

- Rights Issue

183,752,361

149,597,852

- Bonus Issue

103,037,720

103,037,720

Effect of:

- Conversion of ICULS
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares applicable to basic
earnings per ordinary share
Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)

92,310,049

-

608,072,842

480,636,394

8.78

9.15
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32.

EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE cont’d
(b)

Diluted
Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year
attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
financial year adjusted for the effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares.
Group

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
After-tax effects of interest on RCULS

2014

2013

RM

RM

53,411,108

43,968,494

2,633,964

-

56,045,072

43,968,494
Group

2014

2013
Restated

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue, net of treasury shares

608,072,842

480,636,394

Effect of dilution:
- Assumed full conversion of RCULS

84,775,319

Adjusted weighted average number of shares applicable to basic earnings per
ordinary share

-

692,848,161

480,636,394

8.09

9.15

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)

The Warrants that could potentially dilute the earnings per shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per ordinary shares as it would have an anti-dilution effect thereon.

33.

DIVIDENDS
Group and Company
2014

Interim dividend paid
First and final dividend paid

2013

Single tier
dividend
per share

Amount of
single tier
dividend

Single tier
dividend
per share

Amount of
single tier
dividend

sen

RM

sen

RM

4.00

4,560,016

6.00

6,869,182

6.00

6,869,182

-

-

4.00

4,560,016

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2013, a final dividend of 6.00 sen per ordinary share, amounting
to RM6,869,182 has been approved by the Directors during the financial year and paid to entitled shareholders on 29
September 2014 or 3 sen per ordinary share pursuant to the Share Split.
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33.

DIVIDENDS cont’d
In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014, a final single tier dividend amounting to RM16,031,507 has
been proposed by the Directors for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The financial
statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. This dividend, if approved by shareholders,
would be accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2015.

34.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a)

Identities of related parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or
where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties
could be individuals or other parties.
The Company has controlling related party relationship with its holding companies and subsidiaries.
Related parties of the Group also include Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. (the immediate holding company) and its
subsidiaries, key management personnel and companies in which key management personnel or their close family
members have control or significant influence.

(b)

The Group and the Company had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

25,000,000

9,000,000

Subsidiaries:
Dividend received

-

-

Subsidiaries of the immediate holding company:
Acquisition of freehold land

132,000,000

Rental expense paid
Sale of development properties

-

52,000
2,117,100

60,000

-

52,000

60,000

-

-

Directors of the Company:
Sale of development properties

-

8,385,500

-

-

-

1,591,600

-

-

-

-

-

-

Key management personnel of a subsidiary:
Sale of development properties
Related parties:
Acquisitions of freehold land
Rental expense paid

378,018,836
1,392,378

1,849,197

The Group had also entered into a joint venture with the immediate holding company; the details are as disclosed
in Note 13 to the financial statements.
Balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Notes 15 and 23 to the financial
statements.
These transactions have been entered into the normal course of business and have been established under
negotiated commercial terms.
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34.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES cont’d
(c)

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel comprise the Executive Directors and key management personnel of the Group, having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group entities directly or
indirectly.
Group

Short term employee benefits
Contributions to defined contribution plan

35.

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

1,922,900

1,132,900

175,000

199,000

218,788

157,506

-

-

2,141,688

1,290,406

175,000

199,000

OPERATING SEGMENTS
I-Berhad and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property development, property investment, leisure and
Information and Communications Technology (‘ICT’) services.
I-Berhad has arrived at four reportable segments that are organised and managed separately according to the nature
of products and services, which requires different business and marketing strategies. The reportable segments are
summarised as follows:
(i)

Property development
Developing property and contracting for construction work.

(ii)

Property investment
Investment and property holdings.

(iii)

Leisure
Promotion, marketing and management of events, leisure and other tourism related activities.

(iv)

ICT services
Provision of managed network and telephony services.

Other operating segments include investment holding, advertising agent, advertiser and advertising contractor.
The accounting policies of operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies.
The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from operations before tax excluding share of profit of an
associate.
Inter-segment revenue is priced along the same lines as sales to external customers and is eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been applied consistently throughout the current and previous financial years.
Segment assets exclude tax assets and assets used primarily for corporate purposes.
Segment liabilities exclude tax liabilities. Details are provided in the reconciliations from segment assets and liabilities to
the position of the Group.
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35.

OPERATING SEGMENTS cont’d
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by
operating segments:
Property
development

Property
investment

Leisure

ICT
services

Others

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

205,250,202

11,495,872

48,908,879

1,114,361

26,433,176

293,202,490

(1,527,947)

(1,127,403)

2014
Revenue
Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Revenue from external
customers

(4,010,917)
201,239,285

9,967,925

29,473

7,053

Interest income
Depreciation
Segment profit/(loss)
Share of profit of an
associate, net of tax

(1,221,815)
58,663,595

-

(301,325)
1,375,445

-

47,781,476
(11,477,359)
12,881,470

36,708

(145,629) (25,276,332)

(32,088,228)

968,732

1,156,844

261,114,262

6,391

1,682,568

1,725,485

(47,569)

(58,674)

(27,665) (3,486,195)

-

-

(13,106,742)
69,406,650

36,708

Tax expense

(16,005,003)

Other material non-cash
items:
- Fair value gain on
investment properties

-

- Write-off of property,
plant and equipment

-

-

- Impairment losses in
trade receivables

-

29,370

Additions to non-current
assets other than financial
instruments and deferred
tax assets

2,268,131

1,398,787

200,581,847

339,130
-

38,359,098

-

30,000

-

-

339,130

8,261

-

37,631

21,357

62,600

1,428,787

241,293,033
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35.

OPERATING SEGMENTS cont’d
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by
operating segments: cont’d

2014
Segment assets

Property
development

Property
investment

Leisure

ICT
services

Others

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

529,945,668 341,816,799

72,432,608

260,825 165,007,185

1,109,463,085

Current tax assets

603,797

Deferred tax assets

202,157

Associates

578,185
1,110,847,224

Segment liabilities

121,762,274

10,474,177

885,971

249,196 207,894,550

341,266,168

Current tax liabilities

4,339,746

Deferred tax liabilities

2,252,574
347,858,488

2013
Revenue
Total revenue

96,264,118

Inter-segment revenue

(1,339,878)

Revenue from external
customers
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94,924,240

9,621,461
(566,549)
9,054,912

46,889,994

9,578,972

163,484,192

-

1,129,647
(137,325)

(9,292,601)

(11,336,353)

46,889,994

992,322

286,371

152,147,839
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35.

OPERATING SEGMENTS cont’d
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities and other information by
operating segments: cont’d
Property
development

Property
investment

Leisure

ICT
services

Others

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

34,491

9,915

152,504

13,642

86,303

296,855

(11,538,746)

(105,764)

(152,995)

(12,977,017)

14,794,021

(152,704)

(824,120)

52,924,586

2013
Interest income
Depreciation
Segment profit/(loss)
Share of profit of an
associate

(932,877)
30,090,562

-

(246,635)
9,016,827

-

58,169

-

-

58,169

Tax expense

(9,013,732)

Other material non-cash
items:
- Fair value gain on
investment properties

-

- Write-off of property,
plant and equipment

-

-

- Impairment losses
on trade and other
receivables

-

-

Additions to non-current
assets other than financial
instruments and deferred
tax assets
Segment assets

3,252,596

12,505,635

1,908,265

-

-

490,000

12,995,635

1,408

20,166

1,929,839

4,053

3,000

7,053

7,648,461

13,157,486

6,680

136,494,183 135,925,485

35,410,785

617,472

-

24,065,223

15,129,301 323,577,226

Current tax assets

834,227

Associates

573,477
324,984,930

Segment liabilities

86,698,661

8,664,680

2,144,391

236,039

6,800,410 104,544,181

Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

690,989
2,868,990
108,104,160

No segment information by geographical has been presented as the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia.
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments
Fair value
Loans and
through
receivables profit or loss
Group

Availablefor-sale

Total

RM

RM

RM

38,556

1

38,557

RM

31 December 2014
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments
and accrued billings in respect of property
development (including intercompany balances)
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand)

-

47,568,496

-

-

47,568,496

163,392,700

-

-

163,392,700

210,961,196

38,556

1

210,999,753

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

RM

RM

136,213,788

136,213,788

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities
(including intercompany balances)
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS cont’d
(a)

Financial instruments cont’d
Categories of financial instruments cont’d
Fair value
Loans and
through
receivables profit or loss
Group

Availablefor-sale

Total

RM

RM

RM

38,556

1

38,557

RM

31 December 2013
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments
and accrued billings in respect of property
development (including intercompany balances)
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand)

-

20,275,972

-

-

20,275,972

7,076,054

-

-

7,076,054

27,352,026

38,556

1

27,390,583

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

RM

RM

104,544,181

104,544,181

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities
(including intercompany balances)
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS cont’d
(a)

Financial instruments cont’d
Categories of financial instruments cont’d

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through
profit or loss

Total

RM

RM

RM

38,556

38,556

Company
31 December 2014
Financial assets
Other investments

-

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments and accrued
billings in respect of property development
(including intercompany balances)

340,768,685

-

340,768,685

Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand)

154,111,655

-

154,111,655

494,880,340

38,556

494,918,896

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

RM

RM

4,611,495

4,611,495

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory
liabilities (including intercompany balances)

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

125

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS cont’d
(a)

Financial instruments cont’d
Categories of financial instruments cont’d

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through
profit or loss

Total

RM

RM

RM

38,556

38,556

Company
31 December 2013
Financial assets
Other investments
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments and accrued
billings in respect of property development
(including intercompany balances)
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand)

-

14,711,746

-

14,711,746

2,103,102

-

2,103,102

16,814,848

38,556

16,853,404

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

RM

RM

6,301,702

6,301,702

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding statutory
liabilities (including intercompany balances)
(b)

Determination of fair value
Methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
(i)

Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are a reasonable
approximation of fair value.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, which are classified as current assets and current
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, are reasonable approximation of fair value due to their short term
nature.
The fair value for liability components of ICULS and RCULS are estimated by discounting cash flows at
weighted average cost of debts of the Company.

(ii)

Quoted shares
The fair value of quoted investments in Malaysia is determined by reference to the exchange quoted market
bid prices at the close of the business on the end of the reporting period.
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS cont’d
(c)

Fair value hierarchy
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
(i)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the liability component of convertible notes, the market rate of interest is determined by
reference to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.
The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value
measurement of Level 3 financial instruments as well as relationship between key unobservable inputs and
fair value, is detailed in the table below.

Financial instrument

ICULS - liability
component

RCULS - liability
component

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation
technique
used

Significant
unobservable
inputs

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs
and fair value

Level 3

Discounted
cash flows
method

Weighted average
cost of debts of 5.5%

The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value of the
ICULS would be.

Level 3

Discounted
cash flows
method

Weighted average
cost of debts of 5.5%

The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value of the
RCULS would be.

36.

(c)

-

-

- RCULS

-

38,556

-

-

-

1

RM

RM

- ICULS

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

- Unquoted shares

Available-for-sale financial
assets

- Quoted shares

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss

Financial assets

Group

2014

Level 2

Level 1

19,727,863

1

38,556

RM

Total

185,324,517 185,324,517

19,727,863

-

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value

-

-

-

-

RM

Level 1

-

-

-

-

RM

Level 2

-

-

-

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments not
carried at fair value

-

-

-

-

RM

Total

19,727,863

1

38,556

RM

amount

Carrying

185,324,517 185,324,517

19,727,863

1

38,556

RM

fair value

Total

The following tables set out the financial instruments carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, together with
their fair values and carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position.
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36.

(c)

-

-

- RCULS

38,556

-

-

-

RM

RM

- ICULS

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

- Quoted shares

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets

Company

2014

Level 2

Level 1

19,727,863

38,556

RM

Total

185,324,517 185,324,517

19,727,863

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value

-

-

-

RM

Level 1

-

-

-

RM

Level 2

-

-

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments not
carried at fair value

-

-

-

RM

Total

19,727,863

38,556

RM

amount

Carrying

185,324,517 185,324,517

19,727,863

38,556

RM

fair value

Total

The following tables set out the financial instruments carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, together with
their fair values and carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.
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36.

(c)

- Unquoted shares

Available-for-sale financial
assets

- Quoted shares

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets

Group

2013

-

-

1

RM

RM

38,556

Level 2

Level 1

-

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value

1

38,556

RM

Total

-

-

RM

Level 1

-

-

RM

Level 2

-

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments
not carried at fair value

-

-

RM

Total

1

38,556

RM

fair value

Total

1

38,556

RM

amount

Carrying

The following table set out the financial instruments carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, together with
their fair values and carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position.

Fair value hierarchy cont’d

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS cont’d

cont’d

31 December 2014

Notes to the Financial Statements

129

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

36.

(c)

38,556

-

RM

RM

-

RM

Level 3

38,556

RM

Total

-

RM

Level 1

-

RM

Level 2

-

RM

Level 3

Fair value of financial instruments
not carried at fair value

-

RM

Total

38,556

RM

fair value

Total

38,556

RM

amount

Carrying

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements during the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

- Quoted shares

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets

Company

2013

Level 2

Level 1

Fair value of financial instruments
carried at fair value

The following tables set out the financial instruments carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, together with
their fair values and carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The financial risk management objective of the Group is to optimise value creation for shareholders whilst minimising
the potential adverse impact arising from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates and the
unpredictability of the financial markets.
The Group operates within an established risk management framework and clearly defined guidelines that are regularly
reviewed by the Board of Directors and does not trade in derivative financial instruments. Financial risk management is
carried out through risk review programmes, internal control systems, insurance programmes and adherence to the Group
financial risk management policies. The Group is exposed mainly to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity and
cash flow risk, credit risk and market risk. Information on the management of the related exposures is detailed below.
(i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments of the Group and the
Company would fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The exposure of the Group and of the Company to interest rate risk arises primarily from short-term bank deposits
with financial institutions. The interest rates are monitored closely to ensure that they are maintained at favourable
rates. The Group considers the risk of significant changes to interest rates to be unlikely.

(ii)

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument would fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of its overseas investments.
The Group also hold cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes. At the
end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances amounted to RM1,112,017 (2013: RM1,020,064).
Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the operating entities
are not significant.
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the profit after tax of the Group to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB exchange rates against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with all
other variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only significant outstanding balances denominated
in foreign currencies, of which the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates would have an impact on statements of
comprehensive income.
Group
2014

2013

RM

RM

Profit after tax
RMB/RM

- strengthen by 6% (2013: 12%)

49,069

91,026

- weaken by 6% (2013: 12%)

(49,069)

(91,026)
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES cont’d
(iii)

Liquidity and cash flow risk
Liquidity risk arises from management of working capital of the Group and the Company. It is the risk that the
Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations when due.
The Group actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to
ensure that all operating, investing and financing needs are met. In liquidity risk management strategy, the Group
measures and forecasts its cash commitments and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
to finance the activities of the Group.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the liabilities of the Group and the Company at the end of the
reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
On demand
or within
one year

One to five
years

Over five
years

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

128,420,558

7,793,230

As at 31 December 2014
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

-

136,213,788

-

4,611,495

-

104,544,181

-

6,301,702

Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

4,611,495

-

As at 31 December 2013
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

100,867,539

3,676,642

Company
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
(iv)

6,301,702

-

Credit risk
Credit risk, which is the risk of counter parties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit approvals, credit
limits and monitoring procedures. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount and strictly limiting the associations of the Group to parties with high credit worthiness. Trade receivables
are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group is exposed to minimal credit risk.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES cont’d
(iv)

Credit risk cont’d
The primary exposure of the Group and of the Company to credit risk arises through trade and other receivables.
The exposure to credit risk is monitored by management on an ongoing basis and is minimised by strictly limiting
the association of the Group and the Company to business partners with high creditworthiness.
Other financial assets of the Group and the Company with exposure to credit risk include cash and fixed deposits,
which are placed with banks and financial institutions with good standing.
Exposure to credit risk
At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure of the Group and of the Company to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised on the statements of financial
position.
Credit risk concentration profile
At the end of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk for the Company other
than amounts owing by subsidiaries to the Company of RM340,725,493 (2013: RM14,670,146).
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 15 to
the financial statements. Cash and bank balances and deposits with banks and other financial institutions that are
neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions.
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 15 to the financial
statements.

(v)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the financial instruments of the Group would
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates).
The Group is not exposed to significant equity price risks arising from marketable securities held by the Group. The
Group does not actively trade these investments. However, to manage its price risk arising from these investments,
the Group closely monitors the effects of fluctuation in equity prices and manages its portfolio within the limit set
by the Board of Directors.
There has been no change to the exposure of the Group to market risks or the manner in which these risks are
managed and measured.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES cont’d
(vi)

Capital management
The primary objective of the capital management of the Group is to ensure that entities of the Group would be able
to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the capital
structure. The overall strategy of the Group remains unchanged from that in the previous financial year.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes during the financial years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.
Capital represented equity attributable to the owners of the parent.
Pursuant to the requirements of Practice Note No. 17/2005 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities, the Group is required
to maintain a consolidated shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than the twenty-five percent of the issued
and paid-up capital (excluding treasury shares) and such shareholders’ equity is not less than RM40.0 million. The
Company has complied with this requirement for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.
The Group is not subject to any other externally imposed capital requirements.

38.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

On 11 August 2014, the Company subdivided every one existing ordinary share of RM1.00 each in the Company into
two ordinary shares (‘Subdivided Shares’) of RM0.50 each in the Company (‘Share Split’). Pursuant to the Share Split,
114,486,356 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company were subdivided into 228,972,712 ordinary shares of
RM0.50 each in the Company.

(b)

On 27 August 2014 (‘RCULS Issue Date’), the Company issued 264,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable
Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM132,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-A’) to
Sumuracres Sdn. Bhd. as settlement for the acquisition of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 26180, Lot
No. 242, Seksyen 63, Town and District of Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur (‘Kia Peng Land’).
On the even date, the Company issued 138,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% Redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan
Stocks of RM69,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘RCULS-B’) to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. as part
settlement for the acquisitions of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7,
Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘SOHO Land’) and a piece of freehold land
held under Geran No. 311886, Lot No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor
Darul Ehsan (‘Tower Land’).

(c)

On 27 August 2014, 602,600,000 five-year 2% to 3% Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of
RM301,300,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (‘ICULS’) were provisionally allotted to Sumurwang Sdn.
Bhd. of which 289,132,870 ICULS were offered for sale by Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd. on the basis of five ICULS for every
one ordinary share held, at an offer price of RM0.50 per ICULS (‘OFS ICULS’) as part settlement for the acquisitions
of a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311884, Lot No. 16964, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of
Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘SOHO Land’) and a piece of freehold land held under Geran No. 311886, Lot
No. 16966, Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam, District of Petaling, State of Selangor Darul Ehsan (‘Tower Land’).
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38.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR cont’d
(d)

On 12 September 2014, the Renounceable Rights Issue of 286,215,890 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in the
Company (‘Rights Shares’) together with 57,243,178 free detachable warrants (‘Warrants’) on the basis of five Rights
Shares for every four existing ordinary shares held and one Warrant for every five Rights Shares (‘Rights Issues with
Warrants’) subscribed for by entitled shareholders at an issue price of RM0.69 per Rights Shares.
As at the close of acceptance, excess application and payment for the Rights Shares and the OFS ICULS on 30
September 2014 (‘Closing Date’), the Company had received valid acceptances and excess applications for a total of
309,039,755 Rights Shares and 326,002,870 OFS ICULS. This represents a subscription of 108% of the total number of
available Rights Shares and a subscription of 113% of the total number of available OFS ICULS.

(e)

On 14 October 2014 (‘ICULS Listing Date’), the Company completed the issuance of 602,600,000 five-year 2% to 3%
Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks of RM301,300,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each
(‘ICULS’) to Sumurwang Sdn. Bhd.
On the even date, 286,215,890 Rights Shares, 57,243,178 Warrants and 602,600,000 ICULS was admitted, listed and
quoted on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (‘Bursa Securities’).
On the even date, the Company issued 103,037,720 new ordinary shares on the basis of one bonus share for every
five existing shares held (‘Bonus Issue’) to the entitled shareholders of the Company and 11,448,635 additional
Warrants arising from adjustments made in accordance of the Bonus Issue was listed and quoted on the Main
Market of Bursa Securities on 15 October 2014.

(f )

39.

As at 31 December 2014, 152,027,889 ICULS has been converted at the value of RM0.68 per Share to 111,785,165
new ordinary shares of RM0.50.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Best Western i-City Shah Alam, a 214 room 3-stars hotel owned by I-R & D Sdn. Bhd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company and operated by Best Western International, Inc. was opened for business on 2 January 2015.

ANNUAL REPORT 2014

136

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2014
cont’d

40.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS
The retained earnings as at the end of the reporting period may be analysed as follows:
Group

Company

2014

2013

2014

2013

RM

RM

RM

RM

- Realised

67,448,735

21,465,205

23,323,427

9,117,443

- Unrealised

19,934,552

17,687,193

2,831,630

1,829,060

87,383,287

39,152,398

26,155,057

10,946,503

130,181

93,473

87,513,468

39,245,871

175,887

1,901,558

87,689,355

41,147,429

Total retained earnings of the Company and its
subsidiaries:

Total share of retained earnings from an associate:
- Realised

Add: Consolidation adjustments

Total group/company retained earnings as per
consolidated accounts

I-BERHAD (7029-H)
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List of
Properties Held

Location

Approximate Net Book
Age of the
Value as at
Buildings
31 Dec 2014

Description

Tenure

Size

Lot 4799 QT (R) L & M 2/69
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 11 July 2068
-Unexpired term is
54 years

4.08 acres

Between 45 to
46 years

3,200,000*

Lot 5813 QT (R) L & M 3/69
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 11 July 2068
-Unexpired term is
54 years

2.00 acres

39 years

1,200,000*

Lot 6675 HS (D) L & M 2/77
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 10 January 2076
-Unexpired term is
62 years

2.76 acres

Between 36 to
38 years

2,180,000*

Lot 11472 PN 67136
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Vacant
factory land

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 23 February 2080
-Unexpired term is
66 years

1.79 acres

N/A

850,000*

Lot 5658 PN 119473
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Factory
& warehouse

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 29 Jan 2072
-Unexpired term is
58 years

3.98 acres

41 years

2,400,000*

Lot 6704 PN 104498
Mukim of Asam Kumbang
Kamunting Industrial Estate
Taiping, Perak Darul Ridzuan

Vacant
factory land

Leasehold for a term
of 99 years expiring
on 4 Sep 2074
-Unexpired term is
60 years

3.75 acres

N/A

1,720,000*

Part of Geran 27449 Lot 4598
Mukim Bukit Raja
District of Petaling
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Surface
Car Park

Freehold

2.14 acres

5 years

5,040,000*

Data Centre

Freehold

0.98 acres

5 years

28,100,000*

I-Berhad

I-R & D Sdn Bhd

Block M
No. 6, Persiaran Multimedia
i-City, 40000 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
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Properties Held
cont’d

Location

Approximate Net Book
Age of the
Value as at
Buildings
31 Dec 2014

Description

Tenure

Size

Part of Geran 27449 Lot 4598
Mukim Bukit Raja
District of Petaling
Selangor Darul Ehsan

9-storey
Car Park

Freehold

0.79 acres

5 years

17,984,000*

Part of Geran 27449 Lot 4598
Mukim Bukit Raja
District of Petaling
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Basement
Car Park

Freehold

2.93 acres

5 years

11,456,000*

3-Stars Hotel

Freehold

0.56 acres

2 months

31,914,231

Residential and
commercial
development
in progress

Freehold

12.13 acres

N/A

241,300,000

Land for mixed
development

Freehold

7.45 acres

N/A

129,000,000

Residential
development
in progress

Freehold

1.05 acres

N/A

132,000,000

I-R & D Sdn Bhd

No. 6, Persiaran Multimedia
i-City, 40000 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
I-City Properties Sdn. Bhd.
Geran No. 311884
Lot No. 16964
(Formerly H.S. (D) 280268, PT23770)

City Centrepoint Sdn. Bhd.
H.S. (D) 298169, Pt 23957
Seksyen 7, Bandar Shah Alam
District of Petaling
State of Selangor Darul Ehsan
I-Marcom Sdn. Bhd.
Geran 26180, Lot 242
Seksyen 63, Town and
District of Kuala Lumpur
Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur
*

Based on valuation as at 31 December 2014

I-BERHAD (7029-H)

139

Analysis of Shareholdings
as at 16 April 2015

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL
ISSUED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL
CLASS OF SHARE
VOTING RIGHTS

:
:
:
:

RM1,000,000,000.00
971,901,258 (RM485,950,629.00)
Ordinary share of RM0.50 each
1 vote per shareholder on a show of hands
1 vote per ordinary share on a poll

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
No. of
Shareholders

% of
Shareholders

Less than 100

341

5.84

9,454

0.00

100 to 1,000

394

6.75

183,452

0.02

1,001 to 10,000

2,314

39.62

13,352,039

1.37

10,001 to 100,000

2,402

41.13

74,030,919

7.62

387

6.63

207,575,937

21.36

2

0.03

676,749,457

69.63

5,840

100.00

971,901,258

100.00

Size of Shareholdings

100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares
Total

No. of
% of
Shares held Issued Shares

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
No. of Ordinary Shares of RM0.50 each held
Name of Substantial Shareholders
1. Sumurwang Sdn Bhd
2. Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd
3. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

% of
Direct Issued Shares
591,159,409
85,590,048
2,470,500

% of
Indirect Issued Shares

60.83

11,571,427*

1.19

8.81

**

62.02

***

70.82

0.25

602,730,836
688,320,884

Notes:*

Deemed interest through its shareholding in Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965.

**

Deemed interest through its shareholding in Sumurwang Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies
Act, 1965.

***

Deemed interest through his shareholding in Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd, Sumurwang Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd by virtue of
Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965.
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Thirty Largest Shareholders
as at 16 April 2015

No. Name of Shareholders

No. of Shares Held

% of Issued Shares

591,159,409

60.83

1

Sumurwang Sdn Bhd

2

Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd

85,590,048

8.81

3

Lim Khuan Eng

12,630,000

1.30

4

Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd

11,571,427

1.19

5

Su Ming Yaw

9,255,040

0.95

6

HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Heng
Yong Kang @ Wang Yong Kang

8,456,000

0.87

7

Tan Yu Yeh

8,450,060

0.87

8

Maybank Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Chai
Huey Yng

5,750,000

0.59

9

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Leong Kam Chee (002)

4,370,000

0.45

10

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Liew Yam
Fee

3,863,280

0.40

11

Wong Lee Peng

3,371,500

0.35

12

Wong Wai Kuan

3,070,960

0.32

13

RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Ng
Geok Lan

2,662,120

0.27

14

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Vincent Wong Soon Choy

2,500,000

0.26

15

Lim Kim Hong

2,470,500

0.25

16

Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd CBNY for DFA Emerging Markets Small
Cap Series

2,226,500

0.23

17

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Lim Chye

2,164,736

0.22

18

Lee Teck Leong

2,025,000

0.21

19

Lim Chee Kon

1,800,000

0.18

20

Tey Siew Thuan

1,793,566

0.18

21

Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account
for Chek Wu Kong (8124574)

1,667,647

0.17

22

Lim Gaik Bway @ Lim Chiew Ah

1,631,360

0.17

23

JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Low
Hock See (Margin)

1,535,000

0.16

24

Toh Ean Hai

1,516,128

0.15

25

Lui Kim Kiok

1,440,480

0.15

26

Tokio Marine Life Insurance Malaysia Bhd as Beneficial Owner (TMEF)

1,344,000

0.14

27

Lim Siang Sang

1,319,934

0.14

28

Wong Hung Ngie

1,288,700

0.13

29

Cheow Chew Khoon @ Teoh Chew Khoon

1,260,000

0.13

30

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For Phillip Securities
Pte Ltd (Client Account)

1,167,100

0.12

779,350,495

80.19

Total
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Analysis of Warrant Holdings
as at 16 April 2015

NO. OF WARRANTS ISSUED
EXERCISE PRICE OF THE WARRANTS
EXERCISE RIGHTS

:
:
:

VOTING RIGHTS

:

68,691,813
RM1.41
Each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new share at the
warrants exercise price
1 vote per warrant holder on a show of hands
1 vote for each warrant held on a poll in respect of warrant holders’
meeting

ANALYSIS OF WARRANT HOLDINGS
Size of Warrant Holdings

No. of
Warrant
Holders

% of
Warrant
Holders

Less than 100

179

100 to 1,000

339

1,001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% of issued warrant
5% and above of issued warrant
Total

No. of
Warrants
Held

% of
Issued
Warrants

10.78

7,783

0.01

20.42

174,532

0.25

833

50.18

3,083,418

4.49

285

17.17

8,797,738

12.81

22

1.33

7,043,798

10.25

2

0.12

49,584,544

72.19

1,660

100.00

68,691,813

100.00
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Analysis of Warrant Holdings cont’d
Thirty Largest Warrant Holders
as at 16 April 2015

No. Name of Warrant Holders

No. of
Warrants Held

% of
Issued Warrants

40,074,540

58.34
13.84

1

Sumurwang Sdn Bhd

2

Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd

9,510,004

3

Sumurwng Capital Sdn Bhd

1,285,713

1.87

4

Lim Gaik Bway @ Lim Chiew Ah

985,392

1.43

5

Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Tan Beng San

776,100

1.13

6

Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Tan Beng San

470,000

0.68

7

HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Hong Leong Bank Bhd for Low Wai Sun

367,800

0.54

8

Kek Tek Huat Sendirian Berhad

359,000

0.52

9

Wong Wai Kuan

279,672

0.41

10

Lim Kim Hong

274,500

0.40

11

Lui Kim Kiok

240,096

0.35

12

Tokio Marine Life Insurance Malaysia Bhd As Beneficial Owner (TMEF)

228,000

0.33

13

UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For UOB Kay Hian
Pte Ltd (A/C Clients)

204,000

0.30

14

Tey Siew Thuan

199,285

0.29

15

Ong Bee Lian

195,516

0.28

16

Chia Ngan Ngah

183,000

0.27

17

Tokio Marine Life Insurance Malaysia Bhd As Beneficial Owner (NPF)

150,000

0.22

18

Cheow Chew Khoon @ Teoh Chew Khoon

144,000

0.21

19

HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Hong Leong Bank Bhd for Ng Kim Chou

137,500

0.20

20

Che Zainal Abidin Bin Che Daud

123,000

0.18

21

Fong Kwai Keong

120,000

0.17

22

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Koh Boon Poh (008)

120,000

0.17

23

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Lim Chye

100,712

0.15

24

How Say Keong

100,512

0.15

25

Chan Fong Yau

100,000

0.15

26

Sivalingam A/L Veluppillai

100,000

0.15

27

Loi Sam

96,000

0.14

28

Ong Chu Meng

95,997

0.14

29

TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Wan
Azuan Bin Awang

93,500

0.14

30

Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Ong Aik Lin (ONG1097M)

92,000

0.13

57,205,839

83.28

Total
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Analysis of ICULS Holdings
as at 16 April 2015

ICULS 2014/2019
NO. OF ICULS ISSUED
CONVERSION PRICE OF THE ICULS
CONVERSION RIGHTS

:
:
:
:

VOTING RIGHTS

:

5-year 2% to 3% Irredeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
602,600,000 ICULS of nominal value of RM 0.50 each
RM0.68
Each ICULS entitles the Holder to convert the ICULS into new
shares at the ICULS conversion price
1 vote per ICULS holder on a show of hands
1 vote per RM0.50 nominal value of ICULS held on a poll in respect of
ICULS Holders’ meeting

Note:
A total of 480,997,994 ICULS has been converted to 353,674,936 new shares as at 16 April 2015.

ANALYSIS OF ICULS HOLDINGS

Size of ICULS Holdings

No. of
% of
ICULS Holders ICULS Holders

No. of
ICULS Held

% of
Issued ICULS

Less than 100

14

1.30

358

0.00

100 to 1,000

69

6.40

36,096

0.03

1,001 to 10,000

218

20.20

1,412,209

1.16

10,001 to 100,000

581

53.85

23,158,127

19.05

100,001 to less than 5% of issued ICULS

196

18.16

86,995,216

71.54

1

0.09

10,000,000

8.22

1,079

100.00

121,602,006

100

5% and above of issued ICULS
Total
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Analysis of ICULS Holdings cont’d
Thirty Largest ICULS Holders
as at 16 April 2015
No. Name of ICULS Holders

No. of ICULS Held

% of Issued ICULS

10,000,000

8.22

1

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Heng Yong Kang @ Wang Yong Kang (08HE101Q1-008)

2

Ong Bee Lian

5,498,600

4.52

3

Lee Teck Leong

4,237,000

3.48

4

Onn Ping Lan

3,671,060

3.02

5

Lim Kian Wat

3,615,600

2.97

6

Teng Swee Lan @ Fong Swee Lan

3,300,000

2.71

7

Dan Yoke Pyng

2,278,500

1.87

8

Cheow Chew Khoon @ Teoh Chew Khoon

2,250,000

1.85

9

Chai Huey Yng

2,057,000

1.69

10

Tan Yu Yeh

1,987,000

1.63

11

Lim Khuan Eng

1,931,200

1.59

12

Ong Bee Lian

1,196,780

0.98

13

Eng Bee San Sdn Bhd

1,100,000

0.91

14

HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd Exempt An For Credit Suisse (SG BR-TSTASING)

1,100,000

0.91

15

Ong Chu Meng

1,100,000

0.91

16

Ng Ho Fatt

1,080,000

0.89

17

CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd CIMB Bank for Azizan Bin Jaafar
(PBCL-0G0093)

1,065,800

0.88

18

Chong Yean Fong

1,000,000

0.82

19

Eu Lee Chuan Enterprise Sdn Berhad

900,000

0.74

20

Lim Gaik Bway @ Lim Chiew Ah

855,400

0.70

21

Lee Kung Chew

837,650

0.69

22

HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for Kong
Tiam (CCTS)

830,000

0.68

23

Ho Foo You

800,000

0.66

24

Lee Chin Hwa

750,100

0.62

25

RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd Pledged Securities Account for
Geh Choh Hun

740,000

0.61

26

Lim Jit Hai

710,000

0.58

27

Chua Syer Cin

700,000

0.58

28

Ng Ching Yun

700,000

0.58

29

Siu Yoke Loon

660,000

0.54

30

Khoo Saw Sim

630,360

0.52

57,582,050

47.35

Total
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Statement of Directors’ Interest
In the Company and its related Corporations
As at 16 April 2015

Other than as disclosed below, none of the other Directors of the Company has any interest in the shares, warrants and
convertible securities of the Company or its related corporations as at 16 April 2015:No. of Shares held

Direct

% of
Issued
Shares

Indirect

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

2,470,500

0.25

688,320,884*

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

1,793,566

0.18

Name

-

% of
Issued
Shares
70.82
-

No. of Warrants held

Direct

% of
Issued
Warrants

Indirect

% of
Issued
Warrants

Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

274,500

0.40

50,870,257*

74.06

Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

199,285

0.29

Name

-

-

Notes:
*
Deemed interest through Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd, Sumurwang Sdn Bhd and Sumurwang Capital Sdn Bhd.

By virtue of his interest in Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd, Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong is deemed interested in the shares of the
Company and all its subsidiaries to the extent Sumur Ventures Sdn Bhd has an interest.
Tan Sri Lim is also deemed interested in the 264,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% redeemable convertible unsecured loan stocks of
RM132,000,000 at 100% of its nominal value of RM0.50 each (“RCULS-A”) by virtue of his interest in Sumuracres Sdn Bhd and
in the 138,000,000 five-year 3% to 5% redeemable convertible unsecured loan stocks of RM69,000,000 at 100% of its nominal
value of RM0.50 each (“RCULS-B”) by virtue of his interest in Sumurwang Sdn Bhd.
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(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of I-Berhad will be held at the View Meeting Room,
Level 6, Best Western i-City, No. 6, Persiaran Multimedia, 40000 i-City, Malaysia on Monday, 29 June 2015 at 10.00 a.m. for the
following purposes:AGENDA
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive the audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 together with
the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

Note A

2.

To approve a final single tier dividend of 1.51 sen per ordinary share for the financial year ended
31 December 2014.
(Resolution 1)

3.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM175,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

4.

To re-elect Mr Ooi Chin Guan, who retires pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association
and being eligible, offer himself for re-election.
(Resolution 3)

5.

To re-elect Y. Bhg Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong, who retires pursuant to Article 109 of the Company’s Articles of
(Resolution 4)
Association and being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

(Resolution 2)

Madam Ong Poh Ling, who retires in accordance with Article 109 of the Company’s Articles of Association
has expressed her intention not to seek re-election. Hence, she will retain office until the conclusion of
the 48th Annual General Meeting.
6.

To appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring Auditors,
Messrs BDO for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.
(Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
7.

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution:AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965
“That pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, the Directors be and are hereby authorised
to issue shares in the Company at any time until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their discretion, deem fit
provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being, subject always to the approvals of all the
relevant regulatory authorities.”
(Resolution 6)

8.

To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been received.

By Order of the Board

TOO YET LAN (MAICSA No. 0817992)
Company Secretary
Shah Alam
25 May 2015
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Notice of
Annual General Meeting
cont’d

Notes:Proxy
(i)

In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 22 June 2015 [General Meeting Record of
Depositors] shall be entitled to attend and vote at this 48th AGM.

(ii)

A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

(iii)

Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in
respect of each omnibus account it holds.

(iv)

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by
each proxy.

(v)

The Form of Proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such appointer is a
corporation, under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

(vi)

All proxy forms duly executed should be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ, CityPark, i-City, 40000
Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

EXPLANATORY NOTES
NOTE A
This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as under the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965, the audited financial statements do
not require a formal approval of the shareholders. Hence, this resolution will not be put forward for voting.
RESOLUTION 5
The Notice of Nomination from a member pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, a copy of which is annexed hereto, has been
received by the Company for the nomination of Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers, who have given their consent to act, for appointment as Auditors of
the Company.
RESOLUTION 6
The Company has not issued any new shares to-date pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act 1965 under the general authority which was
approved at the 47th Annual General Meeting held on 30 June 2014 and which will lapse upon the conclusion of the forthcoming 48th Annual General
Meeting to be held on 29 June 2015. A renewal of this authority is being sought at the 48th Annual General Meeting under proposed Resolution 6.
Resolution 6 proposed under Agenda 7, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company authority to issue and allot shares as the Directors in their
discretion consider to be in the best interest of the Company, without having to convene a general meeting in the event of any strategic opportunities
to broaden the operating base and earnings potential of the Company which may involve the issuance of new shares. Any delay and cost involved in
convening a general meeting to approve such issuance of shares would thus be avoided. This authority will expire at the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company.
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Annexure

Tan Seok Hui
No. 814, Jalan Cenggal
Pandamaran
42000 Pelabuhan Klang
Selangor Darul Ehsan

5 May 2015

The Board of Directors
I-Berhad
D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ
CityPark, i-City
40000 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Dear Sirs,
Notice of Nomination of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers for Appointment as Auditors
Being a member of I-Berhad, I hereby give notice, pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, of my
nomination of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers for appointment as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring
Auditors and of my intention to propose the following resolution as an ordinary resolution at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company:“That Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers be appointed as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring Auditors,
Messrs. BDO for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 and that the Directors be authorised to fix their
remuneration.”

Yours faithfully

TAN SEOK HUI
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Statement Accompanying
Notice of Annual General Meeting
1.

DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION AT THE 48TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY
The following Directors are standing for re-election pursuant to Articles 96 and 109 respectively of the Company’s Articles
of Association:t
t

2.

.S0PJ$IJO(VBO
:#IH5BO4SJ-JN,JN)POH

DETAILS OF ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT BOARD MEETINGS
There were four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2014. Details of attendance of
Directors at the said Board meetings are as follows:Name of Directors

No. of Meetings Attended

Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong

4/4

Y. Bhg. Dato’ Eu Hong Chew

4/4

Y. Bhg. Puan Sri Tey Siew Thuan

4/4

Madam Ong Poh Ling

4/4

Madam Goh Yeang Kheng

4/4

Mr. Liang Yew Ming
(Resigned on 31.03.2015)

4/4
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(Incorporated in Malaysia)

No. of Shares Held

CDS Account No.

FORM OF PROXY
I/We
I.C. No./Passport No./Company No.

of

being a member of I-BERHAD hereby appoint
I.C. No./Passport No.

of

or failing him
I.C. No./Passport No.

of

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held
at the View Meeting Room, Level 6, Best Western i-City, No. 6, Persiaran Multimedia, 40000 i-City, Malaysia on Monday, 29 June
2015 at 10.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof in the manner indicated below:No.

Resolutions

For

1.

Approval of final single tier dividend of 1.51 sen per ordinary share for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014.

2.

Approval of Directors’ fees of RM175,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

3.

Re-election of Mr. Ooi Chin Guan pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of
Association.

4.

Re-election of Y. Bhg. Tan Sri Lim Kim Hong pursuant to Article 109 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.

5.

Appointment of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditors of the Company in place of the
retiring Auditors, Messrs BDO for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 and to authorise
the Directors to fix their remuneration.

6.

Authority for the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act,
1965.

Against

Please indicate with a cross (“X”) in the spaces provided how you wish your vote to be cast. In the absence of specific directions, your proxy may
vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.
Where a member appoints 2 proxies, please specify the proportions of the member’s holdings to be represented by each proxy:-

Dated this

day of

2015

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of shareholdings to be
represented by the proxies:
No of shares

Percentage

Proxy 1

%

Proxy 2

%
100%

Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

Notes:
i.

In respect of deposited securities, only Members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 22 June 2015 [General Meeting Record of
Depositors] shall be entitled to attend and vote at this 48th AGM.

ii.

A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at the general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his stead. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

iii.

Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in
respect of each omnibus account it holds.

iv.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by
each proxy.

v.

The Form of Proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such appointer is a
corporation, under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

vi.

All proxy forms duly executed should be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at D-1-4, Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ, CityPark, i-City, 40000
Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Fold This Flap For Sealing

Then Fold Here

STAMP

The Company Secretary

I-BERHAD
D-1-4 Jalan Multimedia 7/AJ,
CityPark, i-City,
40000 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

1st Fold Here

